Metabolic Health with Obesity: A Novel Role for Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein

By

David Andrew Cappel

Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of the

Graduate School of Vanderbilt University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

### DOCTOR of PHILOSOPHY

In

Molecular Physiology and Biophysics

May, 2014

Nashville, Tennessee

Approved:

Richard O'Brien, Ph.D.

Alan Cherrington, Ph.D.

Owen McGuinness, Ph.D.

Larry Swift, Ph.D.

John Stafford, M.D., Ph.D.

#### Abstract

Obesity is an increasingly prevalent condition that increases risk factors for type-2 diabetes and heart disease. Weight loss reverses the complications of obesity. Longterm maintenance of weight loss, however, is difficult. Mechanisms that improve metabolic health in obese people are therefore attractive targets for study. In my dissertation work, I have identified a novel role for Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein (CETP) to protect female mice against insulin resistance and exercise intolerance caused by obesity. CETP is a lipid transfer protein that shuttles lipids between lipoproteins, culminating in delivery of cholesterol esters to the liver for secretion as bile. Bile acids are known to have insulin-sensitizing effects. Mice naturally lack CETP expression. I discovered that female mice transgenic for CETP were protected from high fat diet-induced insulin resistance. This effect was modest in males. In female mice I found activation of bile acid signaling pathways in liver and muscle as well as increased glucose rate of disappearance and increased muscle glycolysis. These results suggest that CETP can ameliorate insulin resistance associated with obesity in female mice by promoting muscle glucose utilization.

Based on the observations of improved muscle function in the CETP mice, I hypothesized that CETP could improve exercise capacity by increasing muscle oxidative metabolism. While there is no difference in exercise capacity between lean, chow fed CETP-expressing mice and their non-transgenic littermates, CETP-expressing female mice are protected against the decline in exercise capacity caused by obesity.

ii

This improvement in exercise capacity corresponded with increased mitochondrial oxidative capacity.

My dissertation work has demonstrated a novel role for CETP to promote metabolic health in obese animals potentially through its effect on bile acid signaling to muscle. I propose that targeting bile acid signaling pathways could promote metabolic health in obese people. The sexual dimorphism observed adds to the growing body of evidence that CETP likely has a positive impact on metabolism in females. Further understanding the role of CETP and bile acid signaling will help to provide new strategies for promoting metabolic health in obese people. To Mom and Dad

You have always emphasized the value of education.

Your love and support have helped to make me who I am today.

#### Acknowledgements

I have immensely appreciated working under my dissertation advisor John Stafford. He has taught me about what it takes to be a successful scientist and the work and dedication required to run a lab. John has been an excellent mentor and role model to me, and I aspire to one day achieve his level of success.

I also wish to extend my sincere thanks to my excellent committee members: Professors Richard O'Brien, Alan Cherrington, Owen McGuinness, and Larry Swift. Their guidance and feedback have helped to shape my dissertation project over the course of my graduate education. Each of them has brought a unique expertise and perspective to my training, and I have greatly benefited from my interactions with them. I sincerely appreciate the time and energy that they have dedicated to the support of my training.

I also acknowledge the support of the world-class experts at the Vanderbilt Mouse Metabolic Phenotyping center for their excellent work on the mouse surgeries. This project would not have been possible without their contributions. I also acknowledge the Vanderbilt Hormone Assay and Analytical Services core for their assistance.

Additionally, I wish to thank all of the members of the Stafford lab with whom I have worked, especially Melissa Martinez, Brian Palmisano, and Chris Emfinger. We have all contributed to the advancements of each other's projects through assisting with experiments and exchanging ideas. They have made the lab an enjoyable and productive place to work.

A very special acknowledgement goes to my wonderful girlfriend Megan Bennett, whose love and thoughtfulness have sustained me through a very busy time of my life.

Above all, I am so grateful for the love and support of my parents, Dori and Phil Cappel. From my youngest days, they have loved, encouraged, and supported me, and they have instilled in me the values of working hard and being passionate about my work that have guided my graduate studies. I also am grateful for my brother John, who

is both a sibling and a close friend. He contributed to this work by copy editing and suggesting revisions.

My dissertation project was supported by the Department of Veterans Affairs Career Development Award and Merit Award (BX002223), the American Heart Association (10GRNT3650024), the Vanderbilt Diabetes Research and Training Center Pilot and Feasibility Program (DK20593), and the Vanderbilt Digestive Diseases Research Center Pilot and Feasibility Program (DK058404). Most importantly, my training was supported by the Vanderbilt Molecular Endocrinology Training Program (DK07563-21).

## **Table of Contents**

	Page
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF TABLES	x
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xi

# Chapter

I: BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE	1
Overview	1
Obesity significantly increases risk of chronic metabolic disease	4
Insulin signaling	8
Insulin resistance	10
Lipoprotein biochemistry and function	13
Cholesteryl ester transfer protein	17
Insights from clinical studies of CETP	22
Beneficial role of CETP on reverse cholesterol transport: Insights from model	
organisms	30
Bile acid signaling improves glucose metabolism	32
Obesity decreases exercise capacity	37
Summary	39

II: MATERIALS AND METHODS	41
Animals and diets	41
Surgical catheterization	41
Hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp studies	
Tracer analysis	44
Western blots	45
Serum analysis	
Gene expression	
Metabolite analysis	47
Gut bile acid analysis	47
Indirect calorimetry	47
Exercise studies	
Statistics	

III: CHOLESTERYL ESTER TRANSFER PROTEIN PROTECTS AGAINST INSULIN	
RESISTANCE IN OBESE FEMALE MICE	51
Introduction	51
Results	53
Discussion	71

# IV: CETP EXPRESSION PROTECTS FEMALE MICE FROM OBESITY-INDUCED DECLINE IN EXERCISE CAPACITY.....

ECLINE IN EXERCISE CAPACITY	77
Introduction	77
Results	
Discussion	84

V: SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	87
Promoting metabolic heath in the context of obesity	87
A novel role for CETP expression to promote healthy obesity in mice	88
Clinical Relevance: CETP expression increases bile acid signaling	88
Clinical Relevance: Sexual dimorphism in the effect of CETP on metabolism	91
Clinical Relevance: Future of CETP inhibition	95
Conclusions	97

VI: FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
Insulin sensitivity in CETP mice	
Exercise capacity in CETP mice	
Conclusions	

# List of Figures

Figure	Page
Figure 1.1: Schematic of CETP Function	18
Figure 1.2: Structure of CETP	21
Figure 1.3: CETP promotes reverse cholesterol transport by increasing LDL- mediated delivery of CE to the liver	31
Figure 1.4: Bile acids signal to alter metabolism in liver, adipose tissue, and muscle	33
Figure 3.1: CETP expression alters serum cholesterol and ileal bile acids in obese mice	54
Figure 3.2: CETP expression decreases fasting plasma insulin in female mice	57
Figure 3.3: CETP expression protects female mice against diet-induced insulin resistance	61
Figure 3.4: CETP expression alters hepatic insulin signaling and bile acid signal related gene expression	62
Figure 3.5: CETP has a modest effect on insulin signaling in male mice on a high fat diet	64
Figure 3.6: CETP expression does not alter hepatic or muscle levels of ER $\alpha$	66
Figure 3.7: CETP-expressing mice on a high fat diet display improved muscle insulin signaling and altered glucose metabolism	67
Figure 3.8: CETP expression does not alter food intake or energy expenditure in HFD-fed female mice	70
Figure 4.1: CETP expression protects against HFD-induced decline in exercise	82
Figure 4.2: CETP expression increases mitochondrial oxidation	83
Figure 5.1 Overall model for the effect of CETP activity on bile acid signaling and hepatic and muscle metabolism	94

## List of Tables

Table	Page
Table 2.1: RT-PCR Primer Sequences	50
Table 3.1 Additional physiological parameters	55
Table 3.2 Liver and serum bile acid species	58

# List of Abbreviations

ERK1/2Extracellular related kinaseFxrFarnesoid X ReceptorShpSmall Heterodimer PartnerAktProtein Kinase BDio2Type 2 Thyroid DeiodinaseCECholesterol EsterTGTriglycerideHDLHigh Density LipoproteinLDLLow Density LipoproteinVLDLVery Low Density LipoproteinApoA1Apolipoprotein A1SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
FxrFarnesoid X ReceptorShpSmall Heterodimer PartnerAktProtein Kinase BDio2Type 2 Thyroid DeiodinaseCECholesterol EsterTGTriglycerideHDLHigh Density LipoproteinLDLLow Density LipoproteinVLDLVery Low Density LipoproteinApoA1Apolipoprotein A1SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
ShpSmall Heterodimer PartnerAktProtein Kinase BDio2Type 2 Thyroid DeiodinaseCECholesterol EsterTGTriglycerideHDLHigh Density LipoproteinLDLLow Density LipoproteinVLDLVery Low Density LipoproteinApoA1Apolipoprotein A1SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
AktProtein Kinase BDio2Type 2 Thyroid DeiodinaseCECholesterol EsterTGTriglycerideHDLHigh Density LipoproteinLDLLow Density LipoproteinVLDLVery Low Density LipoproteinApoA1Apolipoprotein A1SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
Dio2Type 2 Thyroid DeiodinaseCECholesterol EsterTGTriglycerideHDLHigh Density LipoproteinLDLLow Density LipoproteinVLDLVery Low Density LipoproteinApoA1Apolipoprotein A1SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
CECholesterol EsterTGTriglycerideHDLHigh Density LipoproteinLDLLow Density LipoproteinVLDLVery Low Density LipoproteinApoA1Apolipoprotein A1SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
TGTriglycerideHDLHigh Density LipoproteinLDLLow Density LipoproteinVLDLVery Low Density LipoproteinApoA1Apolipoprotein A1SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
HDLHigh Density LipoproteinLDLLow Density LipoproteinVLDLVery Low Density LipoproteinApoA1Apolipoprotein A1SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
LDLLow Density LipoproteinVLDLVery Low Density LipoproteinApoA1Apolipoprotein A1SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
VLDLVery Low Density LipoproteinApoA1Apolipoprotein A1SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
ApoA1Apolipoprotein A1SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
SR-B1Scavenger Receptor B1Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
Fgf15Fibroblast Growth Factor 15Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
Gpbar1G-Protein Coupled Bile Acid ReceptorBMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
BMIBody Mass IndexCHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
CHDCoronary Heart DiseaseMIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
MIMyocardial InfarctionPGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
PGC1alphaPeroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alphaFGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
FGFR4Fibroblast growth factor receptor 4G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
G6paseGlucose 6 phosphatasePck1Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinaseGlp1Glucagon like peptide 1
Pck1 Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase   Glp1 Glucagon like peptide 1
Glp1 Glucagon like peptide 1
LUDCA Laurosodeoxycholic Acid
TCA Cycle Tricarboxylic acid cycle
ATP Adenosine Triphosphate
HFD High Fat Diet
EndoRa Endogenous Rate of Glucose Appearance
Rd Rate of Glucose Disappearance
DPM Disintegrations per minute
CSE Chemical Standard Evaporated
SA Specific Activity
CRS Chemical Recovery Standard
BCA Bicinchoninic acid
IL-6 Interleukin 6
RT-PCR Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction
LC/MS Liquid Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry
GC/MS Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry
MMPC Mouse Metabolic Phenotyping Center
VO <sub>2</sub> Volume of Oxygen Consumption
VCO <sub>2</sub> Volume of Carbon Dioxide Production
SEM Standard Error of Measurement
ANOVA Analysis of Variance
LDLR Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor

VLDLR	Very Low Density Lipoprotein Receptor
VVI	wild Type
SI	Insulin Sensitivity Index
Hnf4alpha	Hepatic nuclear receptor 4 alpha
Lrh-1	Liver receptor homolog 1
GIR	Glucose Infusion Rate
G6P	Glucose 6 Phosphate
F6P	Fructose 6 Phosphate
F1,6BP	Fructose 1,6 Bisphosphate
G1P	Glucose 1 Phosphate
Cpt1b	Carnitine Palmityltransferase 1b
Hk2	Hexokinase 2
AUC	Area Under the Curve
ERalpha	Estrogen Receptor Alpha
RCT	Reverse Cholesterol Transport
LCAT	Lecithin—cholesterol acyltransferase
Cyp7a1	Cytochrome P450 7 subfamily A, polypeptide 1

#### CHAPTER I

#### **BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE**

#### Overview

Obesity leads to insulin resistance, diabetes, and heart disease. Weight loss resolves the morbidities of obesity. Most people who lose weight, however, have great difficulty maintaining their level of weight loss [1, 2]. Additionally, obesity causes a reduction in exercise capacity, making weight loss through exercise more difficult and creating a vicious cycle of increasing weight and insulin resistance [3, 4]. Understanding factors that improve metabolic health in obese individuals could lead to improved treatment of obesity. Additionally, mechanisms that improve exercise capacity with obesity could help obese people to lose weight through exercise. Overall, my dissertation work has demonstrated that Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein (CETP) protects against the negative effects of obesity on insulin sensitivity and exercise capacity.

CETP is a lipid transfer protein that facilitates the transfer of lipids between lipoproteins. Specifically, it allows for the exchange of Cholesteryl Esters (CE) and triglycerides (TG) between serum High Density Lipoprotein (HDL) and either Low Density Lipoprotein (LDL) or Very Low Density Lipoprotein (VLDL) [5]. CETP-mediated flux of TG to HDL destabilizes the scaffold of the HDL Apolipoprotein A1 (ApoA1) particle, resulting in decreased HDL cholesterol [6]. Animals that naturally lack CETP, such as mice, carry a much higher percentage of their total cholesterol in HDL. Since

CETP activity leads to reduced HDL, current models of HDL function suggest that CETP would increase risk of cardiovascular disease. Therefore, CETP inhibitor drugs were developed to increase HDL cholesterol and thereby protect against heart disease [7]. While CETP inhibitors potently increase HDL in humans, none to date has demonstrated clinical efficacy in reducing the incidence of heart attack [8, 9]. This lack of clinical efficacy despite robust increases in HDL suggests that CETP does not have a simple direct relationship with risk of cardiovascular disease and invites further study to better understand the specific role of CETP in metabolism.

In contrast to its perceived negative effect on cardiovascular risk, CETP has a beneficial role in promoting reverse cholesterol transport, the removal of cholesterol from peripheral tissues and its delivery to the liver for secretion as bile. CETP expression improves hepatic uptake of cholesterol in a mouse model that is otherwise unable to clear HDL due to deficiency of Scavenger Receptor B1 (SR-B1) [10, 11]. In women, higher serum CETP activity correlated with increased radiolabeled cholesterol uptake from macrophages to serum in an *ex vivo* study. This effect was not observed in men [12]. Additionally, clinical studies have suggested that CETP has a beneficial effect on glucose homeostasis, especially in females. For example, a study of obese women who had undergone gastric bypass surgery showed that higher CETP mass correlated with improved glycemia 12 months post-op, an effect not observed in males [13]. Overall, studies in both mice and humans have shown that CETP can promote reverse cholesterol transport and potentially improve insulin sensitivity. These studies also suggest an important sexual dimorphism in the metabolic effects of CETP.

The increase in reverse cholesterol transport mediated by CETP likely leads to increased gut bile acids [11]. In the liver, CE are converted into bile acids and secreted into the gut. Beyond their role in digestion, bile acids activate three major signaling pathways that improve glucose metabolism: 1) Fibroblast Growth Factor 15 (Fgf15) signaling to the liver, 2) Farnesoid X Receptor (Fxr) signaling in the liver and gut, and 3) g-protein coupled bile acid receptor (Gpbar1 also known as Tgr5) signaling in muscle [14, 15]. Gpbar1 upregulates type-2 thyroid deiodinase (*Dio2*), causing increased energy expenditure and glucose oxidation by mitochondria [16-18]. Since Gpbar1 is associated with increased muscle glucose disposal, I hypothesize that bile acid signaling induced by CETP activity leads to improved insulin sensitivity

I propose that CETP also has a role in increasing exercise capacity, which is known to decline with obesity [4]. Mechanisms that help improve exercise capacity could help to improve metabolic health and quality of life for obese people. Exercise capacity relies heavily on glucose oxidative capacity as a fuel source for muscle, especially at higher levels of exercise intensity [19]. Since I discovered that CETP expression alters pathways that lead to improved glucose oxidative capacity, I hypothesized that CETP expression might increase exercise capacity by allowing for increased muscle glucose oxidation.

Overall, recent studies of CETP suggest that it may have a beneficial role in metabolic health. My dissertation project demonstrates that CETP expression improves both insulin sensitivity and exercise capacity in obese female mice. Thus, CETP expression improves major complications of obesity such as insulin resistance and impaired exercise capacity.

#### Obesity significantly increases risk of chronic metabolic disease

Obesity, defined as the accumulation of excess body fat, is the greatest public health challenge of the 21<sup>st</sup> century. It is linked to the metabolic syndrome, a condition characterized by increased fasting blood glucose, reduced HDL cholesterol, increased serum triglycerides, and hypertension. These factors combine to create an increased risk of cardiovascular disease [20]. Body mass index (BMI), defined as an individual's weight in kilograms divided by the square of their height in meters, provides a metric definition of obesity. An individual is classified as obese with a BMI of over 30 and overweight with a BMI of 25-30. Increasing BMI correlates with increased risk of developing diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Compared to people with a BMI of 25 and adjusted for age, a man with a BMI of over 35 has a 42-fold greater relative risk of diabetes [21], and a woman with a BMI of over 35 has a staggering 93-fold greater relative risk of diabetes [22]. This large increase in relative risk of diabetes reflects not only the low prevalence of diabetes in lean individuals but also illustrates that obesity dramatically increases the risk of diabetes. Similarly, obesity increases the risk of coronary heart disease (CHD) by 2.0-fold in men and 2.4-fold in women [23]. Understanding risk factors that contribute to the development of metabolic disease with obesity will improve outcomes for patients who are affected by the increasingly prevalent condition of obesity.

Obesity is a quickly increasing problem throughout the world. Once thought to be a problem limited to the developed world, obesity has increased worldwide to the point that it was declared a global epidemic in 1997 [24]. In 2011, the World Health Organization estimated that approximately 500 million people worldwide, or nearly 10%

of the world population, were obese [25]. As of 2012, 35% of the population of the United States, over 100 million people, was reported as obese [26]. Since obese people make up a large portion of the patient population, the costs of treating the metabolic complications of obesity have been estimated to be 20.6% of the total healthcare expenditure in the Unites States, representing a significant financial burden [27]. Yearly spending on health care for obesity-related complications in the United States is estimated to increase by as much as 66 billion dollars by 2030 [28]. Preventing the metabolic complications of obesity could therefore help to alleviate the great financial burden that obesity presents to governments and health care systems as well as improve quality of life for people with obesity.

Weight loss reverses the deleterious effects of obesity. For example, a study in obese patients who reduced caloric intake and increased physical activity showed that for every kg of weight lost the risk of diabetes dropped by 16% [28]. Weight loss of between 5% and 10% of body weight correlates with improvements in glycemia, serum HDL and triglyceride levels, and blood pressure [29]. Maintaining weight loss over time, however, is difficult; people often regain weight and reach their former body weight. A 2005 study showed that only 20% of people who lost more than 10% of their body weight maintained this level of weight loss for at least one year [2]. Individuals who successfully maintained weight loss were more likely to adhere to diet and exercise plans and were less likely to suffer from depression than those who regained weight. Since the rate of successful maintenance of weight loss is so low, factors that improve metabolic health in the context of obesity are attractive targets for study.

A known factor that improves metabolic health in the context of obesity is female sex. Estrogen, a major female sex hormone, has been proposed to promote insulin sensitivity. Premenopausal women, who have high levels of estrogen compared to postmenopausal women or men, show improved glucose tolerance, reduced risk of developing insulin resistance, and higher levels of Glut4 in adipose tissue [30, 31]. Estrogen signaling is important to insulin sensitivity even in men, as men with aromatase deficiency that completely lack estrogen are insulin resistant [32]. After menopause, when estrogen levels drop, women are prone to develop increased body weight, hyperinsulinemia, and insulin resistance [33, 34]. Estrogen signals through two major receptors, Estrogen receptor alpha (ER $\alpha$ ) and Estrogen receptor beta (ER $\beta$ ). The major form of estrogen receptor in the liver is ER $\alpha$  [35]. Estrogen receptors are nuclear receptors that dimerize in response to ligand binding. Once activated, they bind to estrogen response elements (ERE) in the promoter of target genes to activate transcription. Knockout of estrogen receptor alpha in mice results in impaired glucose tolerance and insulin resistance [36]. Overall, female sex and specifically estrogen signaling are factors that promote healthy glucose metabolism.

Additionally, women are protected against the effects of obesity on increased risk of CHD, a condition caused by blockages of blood vessels that supply blood to the heart that can manifest as an acute event known as a myocardial infarction (MI), also known as a heart attack. One of the major complications of obesity is increased risk of CHD [22, 23, 37]. CHD is a subset of cardiovascular disease, which includes a number of different disorders of the heart and blood vessels including coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral artery disease, congenital heart disease, deep vein

thrombosis, and pulmonary embolism. Women have a lower risk of heart attack compared to men of a similar age, with risk of death from MI in women being that of a man ten years younger [38]. Women are also relatively protected against the increase in CHD risk with weight gain, as increasing body weight correlates with a much larger increase in CHD incidence in men compared to women [23]. CHD, however, remains a major cause of death in women, and incidence of CHD increases sharply in postmenopausal women [39]. Since CHD is a major cause of death, medical science has focused on understanding and treating this disease

Cardiovascular risk factors were defined in a seminal research study performed between the 1940s and 1960s called the Framingham Heart Study. The study followed a population of 5400 individuals from the town of Framingham, Massachusetts and identified risk factors for the development of cardiovascular disease. Over the course of the Framingham Heart study, the following classical risk factors for cardiovascular disease were identified: 1) hypertension [40], 2) increased LDL cholesterol [41], 3) decreased HDL cholesterol [41], 4) male sex [42], and 5) smoking [40].

Based on these findings, clinical guidelines were developed that have helped to improve the treatment and prevention of cardiovascular disease. These improvements in treatment have been largely effective, and the rates of cardiovascular disease within the United States have declined sharply since the 1970s. In the 1970s nearly 1,000,000 people died each year from cardiovascular disease. By 2007 the number of deaths from cardiovascular disease had been reduced by 20% to 800,000 [43]. Our understanding of cardiovascular risk factors, however, is still largely based on the Framingham study, which was performed in a patient population that was mainly lean. By contrast, in the

2010s, the general population is approximately 30% obese and nearly 50% overweight. Obesity presents a challenge to the treatment of CHD, as it causes insulin resistance and diabetes, which are linked to increased risk of cardiovascular disease [22, 23, 37].

#### Insulin signaling

Insulin signaling is crucial to regulation of metabolic processes in tissues throughout the body. Insulin is a 51-amino acid (5.8 kd) peptide hormone that is produced in pancreatic beta cells and secreted into the serum in response to elevated blood glucose. Insulin signals to the liver to reduce glucose production, promote storage of nutrients as glycogen and fatty acid, and inhibit the release of triglyceride from the liver in the form of VLDL [44-49]. Insulin also promotes the uptake of glucose by muscle and adipose tissue [50, 51]. Insulin achieves these effects by activating a complex signaling network that has three major nodes: the insulin receptor, phosphoinositide 3kinase (PI3K), and protein kinase b (AKT). The insulin signal is initiated when insulin binds to the insulin receptor, which is a transmembrane protein with tyrosine kinase activity. Activation of the insulin receptor causes tyrosine autophosphorylation of the insulin receptor [52]. Phosphorylation of the insulin receptor leads to tyrosine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrates (IRS) by the insulin receptor [53]. Phosphorylated IRS, in turn, phosphorylates PI3K, which catalyzes the production of the lipid second messenger phosphatidylinositol trisphosphate (PIP3) from phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP2). PIP3 binds AKT to the cellular membrane and allows for AKT phosphorylation at threonine 308 by Phosphoinositide-dependent kinase-1 and at serine 473 by mTORc2 [54-58].

AKT serves as a signaling nexus that is a master regulator of metabolic processes. AKT downregulates gluconeogenesis by deactivating the transcription factor Forkhead Box Protein O1 (FoxO1), which transcriptionally upregulates genes whose products control gluconeogenesis, including phosphoenylpyruvate carboxykinase (*Pck*), and glucose-6 phosphatase (*G6pc*) [59]. FoxO1 also transcriptionally upregulates microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (*Mttp*), which functions to promote the lipidation of VLDL and has the net effect of increasing TG release from the liver [60]. Therefore, insulin signaling to AKT suppresses release of TG from the liver in the form of VLDL. In addition to its regulation of FoxO1, AKT activates glycogen synthesis by phosphorylating glycogen synthase kinase 3 (Gsk3), leading to activation of glycogen synthesis and muscle hypertrophy[62]. Both AKT and IRS signaling can activate the growth factor signal ERK1/2, AKT through activation of Raf and IRS through activation of Ras [63-65].

Insulin signaling also activates *de-novo* lipogenesis in the liver through activation of the transcription factor sterol regulatory element binding partner 1c (SREBP-1c), which transcriptionally upregulates genes whose products control fatty acid synthesis such as fatty acid synthase (*Fas*) and acetyl coA carboxylase (*Acc*). Insulin signaling both increases the transcription of SREBP-1c and promotes its cleavage to its mature, transcriptionally active form [66, 67].

Insulin signaling has an important role in muscle and adipose tissue to promote glucose uptake by these tissues. Insulin treatment of these tissues results in increased glucose uptake through translocation of glucose transporter 4 (Glut4) from intracellular vesicles to the plasma membrane [68, 69]. Insulin signaling to AKT is crucial to the

membrane translocation of Glut4, as constitutively active AKT causes increased Glut4 translocation and glucose uptake [70], and dominant negative AKT impairs the ability of insulin to promote Glut4 translocation [71, 72]. AKT phosphorylates AS160 at multiple sites, and mutation of these phosphorylation sites blunts the ability of insulin signaling to promote Glut4 translocation [73]. AS160 has rabGTPase activity that suppresses Rab proteins that are required for translocation of Glut4 [73]. AKT signaling inhibits the GTPase activity allowing for activation of Glut4 translocation [74]. Uptake of glucose by muscle and adipose tissue is crucial for storage of energy as glycogen in muscle and fatty acid in adipose tissue.

#### Insulin resistance

Unfortunately, cells and tissues can fail to properly respond to an insulin signal, a condition known as insulin resistance. Insulin resistance is marked by the failure of tissues such as liver and muscle to properly respond to an insulin signal, resulting in impaired glucose tolerance, increased blood glucose, and increased serum triglycerides [75]. The progression from insulin resistance to type-2 diabetes occurs as the pancreas secretes increasing levels of insulin in an attempt to compensate for the insulin resistance [76, 77]. Eventually the pancreas cannot produce enough insulin to keep pace with the level of insulin resistance, and the pancreatic beta cells can fail to continue producing sufficient insulin, resulting in type-2 diabetes [78]. Insulin resistance is associated with obesity and physical inactivity [79, 80].

At the molecular level, insulin resistance is associated with accumulation of excess lipid in liver and muscle, particularly diacylglycerols and fatty acyl coAs. In

muscle, diacylglycerols activate PKC $\beta$ , which causes serine phosphorylation of IRS1, interfering with normal insulin signaling to promote glucose uptake and glycogen storage [81, 82]. In the liver, a similar process occurs. Diacylglycerols activate PKC $\epsilon$ , which causes serine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor, disrupting its ability to phosphorylate IRS, leading to reduced glycogen synthesis and increased gluconeogenesis, as the downstream signals to AKT and GSK3 are disrupted [83]. These changes in signaling have the net effect of altering whole-body metabolism.

At the systemic level, insulin resistance results in reduced muscle glucose uptake, failure to suppress hepatic glucose production, and increased plasma free fatty acids (FFA) [75, 84, 85]. Moderate levels of insulin resistance cause a compensatory increase in insulin secretion from the pancreas, and an individual with modest insulin resistance may have normal blood glucose but chronically elevated insulin and expansion of beta cells in the pancreas [86]. Over time, increasing levels of plasma glucose interfere with the normal process of glucose stimulated insulin resistance, as it is hypothesized that beta cells are attuned to specific levels of glucose above which they do not function properly [86]. Further progression of insulin resistance causes decompensation, the process by which beta cells fail to keep pace with the insulin demand produced by the levels of circulating glucose. This decompensation is thought to be caused by glucotoxicity interfering with the ability of beta cells to produce normal levels of insulin [87, 88]. The progression to insulin-dependent diabetes is caused by deficiency of beta cells. The reduction in beta cells is caused either by increased beta cell apoptosis or reduced beta cell proliferation; however, studies in humans have suggested that increased apoptosis is a greater factor than impaired proliferation [89, 90].

A proposed mechanism that could promote insulin secretion even in the context of type-2 diabetes is glucagon-like peptide 1 (Glp1). Glp1 is an incretin hormone released from the gut in response to a mixed meal [91]. Glp1 promotes glucosestimulated insulin secretion, and its effects on insulin secretion are seen even in individuals with type-2 diabetes [92, 93]. Additionally, Glp1 has been implicated in beta cell proliferation, as it has been shown to increase beta cell proliferation in mice and upregulate the transcription factor pancreatic duodenal homeobox 1 (Pdx1), which signals to promote beta cell survival and maturation [94, 95]. In a rodent model of diabetes, Glp1 administration resulted in increased insulin secretion, decreased glycemia, and increased beta cell mass [96]. Since Glp1 is secreted from the gut, it suggests an interplay between gut signaling and insulin secretion and sensitivity.

Patients with diabetes have an increased risk of cardiovascular disease. While the treatment of cardiovascular disease has improved, diabetes still correlates with a two to three fold increased risk of death from cardiovascular disease. In a study of the Framingham and Framingham Offspring cohorts, rate of death from cardiovascular disease decreased from 12.8 to 7.7 deaths per 1000 person-years between 1975 and 2001 in people without diabetes. In patients with diabetes, the rate of death dropped from 33.1 to 15.8. While this reflects a significant reduction in both groups, having diabetes still correlates with the same two to three fold higher risk of death from cardiovascular disease in 2001 as it did in 1975 [97]. The fact that diabetes still increases risk of CHD despite improved treatment suggests that additional risk factors in people with diabetes have not been targeted. Understanding these risk factors will help to decrease incidence of CHD in people with diabetes.

#### Lipoprotein biochemistry and function

Obesity and insulin resistance contribute to dysregulation and dysfunction of lipoproteins, which contributes to increased risk of CHD. Lipoproteins are critical to transport of lipids throughout the circulation, as lipids are not soluble in the aqueous blood. Three major classes of lipoproteins, VLDL, LDL, and HDL, contribute to the circulation of lipids, primarily cholesterol and triglycerides, between cells and tissues.

Both Low Density Lipoprotein (LDL) and Very Low Density Lipoprotein (VLDL) are associated with the apolipoprotein ApoB100. Each VLDL or LDL particle includes one ApoB100 molecule [98]. ApoB100 is a very large protein containing 4536 amino acids (550 kd). ApoB100 is produced in the liver and begins to be lipidated in the rough ER while still being translated. If not lipidated, ApoB100 does not fold properly and is broken down by proteasomal degradation. Lipidation of ApoB100 occurs through the action of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP) to form a VLDL precursor [99, 100]. Additional lipidation of the VLDL precursor results in the formation of a lipid-poor mature VLDL particle known as VLDL<sub>2</sub> [101]. Further lipidation creates a triglyceride-rich VLDL particle known as VLDL<sub>1</sub> [101]. In the serum, VLDL can be de-lipidated through the action of lipoprotein lipase (LPL), resulting in a smaller and less lipid-rich intermediate density lipoprotein (IDL) [102]. IDL can then be further de-lipidated through the action of hepatic lipase to form LDL, which contains mainly cholesterol [103].

Insulin regulates the production of VLDL, and insulin resistance significantly increases the levels of circulating TG contained in VLDL. Assembly of VLDL is regulated by MTP, which is transcriptionally upregulated by FoxO1 [60]. Since insulin signals to inactivate FoxO1, VLDL assembly is downregulated in response to an insulin

signal. Insulin resistance therefore causes increased activation of FoxO1, increased levels of MTP, and increased VLDL-TG in plasma [104]. Additionally, insulin resistance appears to be "pathway selective," as in the insulin-resistant state insulin fails to suppress hepatic gluconeogenesis, but insulin still promotes *de novo* lipogenesis through SREBP-1c activation [105]. Therefore, in the insulin-resistant state there is both a higher level of lipid to load onto nascent VLDL and increased levels of MTP, which performs the lipidation of nascent VLDL. These factors combine to increase circulating VLDL triglyceride in insulin resistance.

LDL is also an apoB100 containing lipoprotein and has just one molecule of ApoB100 per LDL particle. LDL particles are about half the size of the larger VLDL particles, with the average circulating human LDL particle being about 250 angstroms in diameter [106]. LDL is primarily a carrier of cholesterol, with over 60% of the LDL particle consisting of CE or FC [107]. The primary function of LDL is to provide cholesterol to cells and tissues, which is critical for normal membrane function. LDL is cleared from the circulation by the activity of LDL receptor (LDLR). LDLR binds to LDL and internalizes it through receptor-mediated endocytosis [108]. Once internalized, the protein structure of LDL is broken down to amino acids, and the cholesterol ester cargo is hydrolyzed to free cholesterol [109, 110]. Through this mechanism, LDL and its cargo are completely removed from the circulation. Normal function of LDL receptor is critical to clearance of LDL from the circulation, as both LDL receptor knockout mice and people with dysfunctional LDL receptor exhibit drastically increased levels of circulating LDL cholesterol [111, 112].

In population studies, LDL cholesterol has been associated with risk of CHD [41]. The modification of LDL contributes to its pro-atherogenic reputation. Triglyceride enrichment of LDL, which is caused by the hypertriglyceridemia associated with obesity and insulin resistance, contributes to formation of small, dense LDL particles, which are associated with increased risk of CHD [113]. Small dense LDL has reduced affinity for the LDL receptor and increased interaction with artery wall proteoglycans. This combination of factors increases the risk of LDL contributing to formation of atherosclerotic lesions that contribute to CHD.

In contrast to LDL and VLDL, Apolipoprotein A-1 (ApoA-1) is central to the structure of HDL. ApoA-1 is a 243 amino acid protein (28 kd) that has 10 alpha helix domains [114, 115]. The c-terminal region of human apoA-1 is highly hydrophobic and is critical for lipid binding [114, 116]. Apo-A1 is produced in the liver and secreted into the circulation. As Apo-a1 binds lipids, a conformational shift occurs that allows for additional lipid binding [117]. As Apo-A1 collects lipids, a nascent HDL particle forms that has a discoidal shape. Two molecules of Apo-A1 wrap around the discoidal HDL particle in a "double-belt" conformation [118]. Mature HDL particles consist of a neutral lipid core mainly composed of CE and TG enveloped by a phospholipid monolayer. Spherical HDL is bounded by three ApoA1 particles that are arranged in a trefoil conformation [119]. The activity of lecithin—cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) is crucial to the formation of spherical HDL, as it converts free cholesterol (FC) to CE, which is poorly soluble in the phospholipid bilayer [120]. Mature HDL is cleared of cholesterol in the liver through the activity of SR-B1, which is crucial to HDL function.

HDL's major function is to reverse cholesterol transport (RCT), the movement of cholesterol from peripheral cells to the liver for excretion from the body. The first step in RCT is the uptake of cholesterol from macrophages to nascent HDL involving the loading of FC onto lipid-free/poor apoA1 [121]. ATP binding cassette A1 (ABCA1) plays an important role in this process by actively transporting lipids from macrophages to nascent HDL. Deficiency of ABCA1 is associated with Tangier disease, a condition marked by extremely low levels of HDL and accumulation of cholesterol in peripheral tissues [122]. FC is esterified by LCAT in HDL, and the CEs are then transported to the liver. In the liver, HDL docks to SR-B1, which facilitates the flux of CE into the liver [123]. SR-B1 facilitates movement of CE along its concentration gradient into liver cells; therefore, more CE rich HDL will have a higher rate of CE transfer to the liver [124]. Additionally, CE can be transferred from HDL to LDL, which can then be cleared by LDLR in the liver, contributing to the transport of cholesterol to the liver. Overall, the process of reverse cholesterol transport is important to health, as excess cholesterol in macrophages contributes to atherosclerosis, a significant risk factor for CHD [125].

Obesity and insulin resistance contribute to dysfunction of HDL. Particularly, the hypertriglyceridemia associated with obesity and insulin resistance correlates with decreased levels of HDL [126]. The cause of this relationship is likely TG enrichment of HDL in the context of hypertriglyceridemia. Elevated levels of TG in VLDL result in increased transfer of TG to HDL through the activity of CETP [127]. TG enrichment of HDL makes it a better substrate for modification by hepatic lipase [128]. This modification results in increased uptake of Apo-A1 by the kidney, resulting in decreased HDL levels [129]. TG enrichment of HDL has also been associated with increased

clearance of HDL in humans [130]. Since population studies have shown that reduced levels of HDL correlate with increased risk of CHD, it would suggest that CETP activity contributes to CHD risk.

#### Cholesteryl ester transfer protein

CETP is involved in both lipoprotein biology and whole-body glucose metabolism and has been studied as a factor that might alter the risk of CHD. CETP is a 78kd glycoprotein that is produced mainly in the liver and adipose tissue and secreted into the serum. In the serum, CETP has lipid transfer activity to shuttle TG and CE between HDL and LDL/VLDL, resulting in TG enrichment of HDL (Figure 1.1) [5]. In the context of obesity and elevated serum TG, CETP activity has the net effect of reducing HDL by transferring TG to HDL, destabilizing the ApoA1 scaffold of HDL and increasing its clearance [6]. Since reduced HDL is an established risk factor for CHD, inhibition of CETP became a drug target with the goal of increasing HDL and reducing CHD. Studies of genetic variants that correlate with varying degrees of CETP activity have shown conflicting results on the relationship between CETP activity and human health. Additionally, CETP inhibitor drugs have not proven effective at reducing the risk of CHD. Recent research has shown that CETP has the ability to promote reverse cholesterol transport and increase bile acid secretion, which may contribute to improved glucose metabolism [10, 11]. Clinical studies of CETP have suggested a sexually dimorphic role for CETP, with CETP having a positive effect on reverse cholesterol transport and glucose metabolism in women [12, 13, 131]. Overall, I propose that CETP has a role to improve reverse cholesterol transport and glucose metabolism in women.



**Figure 1.1: Schematic of CETP function.** CETP facilitates the movement of lipids between lipoproteins. Specifically, CETP promotes the flux of CE from HDL to ApoB containing lipoproteins LDL/VLDL and TG from LDL/VLDL to HDL.

#### The structure of CETP defines its function

The function of CETP is tightly linked to its protein structure. CETP facilitates the exchange of lipids between lipoproteins by forming a connection between two lipoproteins, typically HDL and either LDL or VLDL. Structurally, CETP consists of three distinct regions: an N-terminal beta-barrel domain that interacts with HDL, a C-terminal domain that interacts with LDL/VLDL, and an internal structure that creates a hydrophobic pocket (Fig. 1.2) [132, 133]. The N and C terminal ends of CETP attach to lipoproteins and create pores through which lipids can move into the hydrophobic tunnel created by the internal structure of CETP. The terminal ends of CETP serve to specifically recognize HDL and LDL. Both the N and C terminal domains are highly conserved across species, and mutation studies have identified locations in the terminals of CETP that are required for lipoprotein binding activity [134, 135]. Once attached to the lipoprotein, the ends of CETP penetrate the lipoprotein and form a pore through which lipids can move into the central hydrophobic pocket. CETP completely penetrates the phospholipid bilayer of HDL, reaching the core of the lipoprotein, while it incompletely penetrates the phospholipid bilayer of LDL [136]. CETP activity usually is a heteroexchange of lipids, resulting in a one-for-one exchange of TG and CE [137]. In what became known as the shuttle hypothesis, CETP was initially thought to function by accepting lipids from one lipoprotein, detaching, and then binding to a second lipoprotein where it released the bound lipids [138]. More recently, however, a growing body of evidence supports the CETP tunnel hypothesis, which proposes that CETP docks two lipoproteins together and allows for movement of lipid through the hydrophobic core [139]. CETP's selectivity for specific lipoproteins and its ability to

penetrate the lipoprotein surface support the tunnel hypothesis. Regardless of which hypothesis reflects the true nature of CETP function, CETP has a physical structure that allows for it to selectively target lipoproteins and promote exchange of lipids between them.

#### Intracellular role of CETP

In addition to its role in serum, CETP has intracellular roles in the trafficking and storage of lipids, especially in adipocytes. Expression of CETP in cultured cells resulted in an increase in cholesterol uptake that was not affected by the inhibition of extracellular CETP using an anti-CETP antibody, suggesting that intracellular CETP expression is sufficient to alter cholesterol uptake [140]. Knockdown of CETP in adipocytes, which normally express CETP resulted in a 4-fold increase in CE content and a 50% reduction in TG content. The knockdown of CETP appeared to alter intracellular trafficking of CE and TG, with a large decrease in newly synthesized CE and TG in lipid storage droplets and a corresponding increase in these lipids in the endoplasmic reticulum [141]. A separate study in cultured hepatocytes showed that CETP overexpression or inhibition did not have a significant effect on uptake of CE [142]. Overall, these studies suggest that intracellular CETP has a significant effect on intracellular lipid trafficking but a non-significant effect on CE uptake from outside the cell. The intracellular effect of CETP in the liver is not known. I propose that the major effects of CETP on metabolism are related to serum transfer of lipids between HDL and LDL and their delivery to the liver.



**Figure 1.2: Structure of CETP** A) Diagram of CETP protein structure highlighting the N-terminal (green), C-terminal (yellow), and linker (red) domains of the protein. Two cholesteryl esters are shown in the interior hydrophobic pocket (magenta and cyan). B) 90 degree rotation of the protein providing an alternate view of the protein. Diagram from [133].

#### Insights from clinical studies of CETP

Because of its important role in lipoprotein metabolism, CETP has received a significant amount of focus from clinical and basic research. Since CETP reduces HDL and increases LDL cholesterol, it was thought that CETP activity would clearly have deleterious effects on cardiovascular health. Exploration of the effect of CETP on human health, however, has revealed a more complex role for CETP. Human genetic studies have explored the relationships between polymorphisms in the CETP gene and various indicators of human health. These studies, however, appear to have raised more questions than they have answered. Additionally, the failure of CETP inhibitor drugs to reduce risk of CHD has suggested that CETP has additional roles in metabolism beyond affecting HDL level. Finally, studies of CETP in humans have shown a sexual dimorphism in the role of CETP in metabolism and suggest a beneficial effect on reverse cholesterol transport and glucose homeostasis in women. The questions raised about CETP through human studies have provided an important basis for my dissertation work.

#### Studies of genetic polymorphisms in the CETP gene

Studies of human genetics have identified interactions among genetic variants that affect CETP activity and insulin sensitivity and cardiovascular risk. Unfortunately, these studies have raised more questions than they have answered about the role of CETP in health and disease, as the correlations between CETP polymorphisms and disease have not been consistent across studies in different populations, suggesting a more complex role for CETP than simply negatively impacting health.

The CETP gene has an important single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) at the Taq1B site in intron 1. A substitution from guanine to adenine at the Taq1b site is known as the B2 variant, whereas the presence of guanine is indicated by the B1 variant. Approximately 65% of humans possess at least one copy of the B2 allele. In a study of Taq1B polymorphisms in diabetic patients, patients homozygous for B1 showed the highest levels of CETP and lowest levels of HDL, whereas those homozygous for the B2 polymorphism showed reduced CETP mass and higher levels of HDL. Overall, the B2 polymorphism is associated with lower levels of CETP and higher levels of HDL in serum [143]. The Taq1b B1 and B2 polymorphisms of CETP, therefore, have been of interest to human genetics researchers as a way to study the effects of variable CETP levels on human health. Based on these studies, it appears that the sex and ethnicity of the study population have a significant effect on whether CETP activity has a beneficial, deleterious, or insignificant effect on human health.

Several genetic studies have identified a correlation between the CETP Taq1b B1 polymorphism and increased risk of disease. Across multiple genetic studies ,the B1 polymorphism was consistently associated with lower levels of circulating HDL. A study from the Framingham Offspring population showed that the B1 polymorphism was correlated with reduced HDL [144]. Additionally, studies performed in people from Chinese, Iranian, and Tunisian populations have shown a correlation between the B1 genotype and reduced HDL as well as increased risk of CHD [145-147]. A study in an Iranian population also identified a correlation between the B1 allele and increased risk of CHD that was independent of plasma HDL level [148]. Interestingly, a study of an American population with pre-existing coronary artery disease showed that while the

presence of the B1 allele correlated with reduced serum HDL, it did not have a significant correlation with heart attack events. The study showed, however, that people with the B2 allele benefited more from statin therapy, with a larger reduction in heart attacks seen in the B2 group than the B1 group when they were both put on statin therapy [149]. Finally, a study in a French population showed that the B1 allele was correlated with higher incidence of CHD. Additionally, the study showed that people homozygous for the B1 allele had an elevated risk of sudden death from cardiovascular causes not related to fatal stroke or myocardial infarction (MI) [150]. Overall, a significant body of evidence suggests that the B1 allele correlates with higher CETP activity and reduced serum HDL. These changes in serum HDL do not correlate with increased CHD risk in all studies.

The Taq1b B1 polymorphism does not always correlate with increased risk of disease compared to the B2 polymorphism, and the correlation of the B1 polymorphism with increased risk does not appear to be uniform across study populations of differing ethnicities, particularly in Asian populations. A study in a Singaporean population consisting of people from Chinese, Malaysian, and Indian ethnic backgrounds showed that the Taq1b B2 had a protective effect against CHD in the Chinese population [151]. The same study, however, did not observe an effect of the B2 polymorphism on risk of CHD in the people of Malaysian and Indian ethnicity [151]. A different study in an Indian population, however, showed a correlation between increased risk of CHD and the B1 polymorphism [152]. Overall, genetic studies of CETP have shown that CETP has a significant effect on serum lipoproteins, with increased CETP activity correlating with reduced HDL. While reduced HDL is a classic risk factor for increased risk of CHD,
genetic variation in CETP that is correlated with reduced HDL does not always correlate with increased risk of CHD. Further study of CETP is therefore required to determine its role in whole-body metabolism.

#### **CETP** inhibitor drugs

Since CETP correlates with decreased HDL, CETP inhibition became a popular target of drug development efforts that aimed to increase HDL levels and reduce risk of CHD. The studies performed on the development and testing of these drugs have provided further insight into the role of CETP in CHD but have also raised additional questions about the linkage between HDL levels and risk of CHD. Although CETP inhibitors have proven effective at inhibiting CETP activity and elevating serum HDL level, none of the inhibitor drugs tested to date, specifically Torcetrapib and Dalcetrapib, have demonstrated clinically meaningful efficacy in reducing CHD risk. Two other CETP inhibitors, Anacetrapib and Evacetrapib, are currently in phase III clinical trials. The lack of demonstrated clinical efficacy by this class of drugs suggests that CETP may have underappreciated effects on cardiovascular health that are independent of its effect on HDL levels.

Torcetrapib is the most famous CETP inhibitor and the first to enter phase III clinical trials. The drug was considered a failure after the phase III trial was halted due to an increase in myocardial infarction events in the treatment group compared to placebo [153]. Torcetrapib binds CETP in a 1:1 ratio and increases the affinity of CETO for HDL, forming a nonproductive complex that inhibits all of the lipid transfer functions of CETP [154]. While treatment with Torcetrapib reduced LDL cholesterol by 25% and

raised HDL cholesterol by 70%, the hazard ratio for cardiovascular events was 1.25 in the Torcetrapib treated patients compared to the placebo control group. This lack of efficacy suggests that there is a role for CETP that may be independent of its effects on HDL amount. The failure of Torcetrapib was attributed to off-target effects of the drug to increase blood pressure that was associated with increases in aldosterone and corticosterone [155]. The effects of Torcetrapib on CETP activity, however, have not been ruled out as a potential deleterious effect on cardiovascular health. Since CETP inhibition significantly increased HDL, it was expected that it would correlate with reduced risk of CHD. Surprisingly, inhibition of CETP increased risk of death from CHD.

Other drugs that do not have effects on the aldosterone system, such as Dalcetrapib, have also been investigated in clinical trials. Dalcetrapib was the first small molecule inhibitor of CETP to be developed, although it entered phase III clinical trials several years after Torcetrapib. Dalcetrapib is a less potent inhibitor of CETP that covalently binds CETP. Both Torcetrapib and Dalcetrapib increase affinity of CETP for HDL, and they compete with each other for binding CETP, suggesting that they target similar domains of CETP [156]. Dalcetrapib treatment of hamsters resulted in a net increase in reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) as indicated by tracer efflux from radiolabeled cholesterol-laden macrophages to feces in the form of both neutral sterols and bile acids [157]. In contrast, clinical studies of Torcetrapib did not show an increase in fecal sterol secretion in a study of human subjects [158]. When bound to CETP, Dalcetrapib induces a conformational change in the CETP protein that interferes with its ability to bind LDL/VLDL but maintains it ability to bind HDL [157]. In this model, Dalcetrapib allows for CETP-mediated exchange of lipids between HDL particles and

promotes the lipidation of nascent HDL, increasing HDL levels and promoting reverse cholesterol transport[157].

In contrast to Torcetrapib, Dalcetrapib does not alter the aldosterone system and has no effect on blood pressure [159]. Similar to Torcetrapib, Dalcetrapib treatment significantly increases HDL levels by about 30%. Clinical trials of Dalcetrapib, however, did not show a clinically meaningful reduction in CHD risk [9]. Since Dalcetrapib does not alter blood pressure, its failure to protect against CHD risk suggests that the CETP inhibitors as a class of drugs may not be effective clinically despite their ability to increase HDL cholesterol levels. The failure of CETP inhibitors to protect against CHD despite increasing HDL concentration illustrates a need to better understand the role of CETP in metabolism. CETP has effects on metabolism beyond its role in HDL concentration that have recently been identified in human and animal studies.

#### Sex-specific role for CETP activity in humans

Studies of CETP in humans suggest that CETP has differential effects in men and women, specifically with regards to glucose metabolism. In men, studies suggest a neutral or harmful effect of CETP on glucose homeostasis. An association study in men showed a correlation between high levels of CETP activity and markers of insulin resistance [160]. Additionally, an insulin clamp study performed in men showed no correlation between CETP activity and insulin sensitivity [161]. A *post-hoc* analysis of the ILLUMINATE CETP inhibitor trial showed that diabetic patients treated with the Torcetrapib had a modest reduction in hemoglobin A1c [161]. This study involved 70% men and only examined individuals with diabetes and CHD.

Reciprocally, studies in females suggest beneficial effects of CETP on cholesterol efflux and glucose metabolism. Higher CETP activity is associated with increased transfer of CE from macrophages to HDL in women but not men [12, 131]. This improved RCT capacity with increased CETP was independent of HDL cholesterol [12]. In women, CETP polymorphisms that increase CETP activity correlated with reduced risk of ischemic heart disease [162]. Higher CETP activity is associated with improved glucose metabolism after roux-en-Y gastric bypass in women only [13, 163].

Overall, studies of CETP in humans have revealed a much more complex role for CETP with regards to CHD than a simple effect on circulating HDL levels. The effect of CETP on risk of CHD appears to be influenced by ethnicity based on polymorphism studies. Additionally, the failure of CETP inhibition to reduce heart attack despite increasing HDL suggests that CETP's lipid transfer activity may not directly result in increased CHD risk. Finally, studies in humans have suggested a sex-specific role for CETP, with CETP activity actually correlating with improved health outcomes in women. CETP requires further study to fully understand its effects on human health.

#### **Regulation of CETP in humans**

CETP levels are highly variable in humans [164]. Serum CETP levels are known to be increased by obesity [165] and estrogen [166], and CETP expression is acutely suppressed by insulin [167]. Human CETP is highly regulated at the transcriptional level [168, 169]. The human CETP promoter is regulated by SREBP1a [170], LXR [171], LRH-1 [172], and RXR [173]. Overall, CETP expression appears to be linked to intracellular cholesterol content, which activates SREBP1a and LXR, both of which have

response elements in the CETP promoter [170, 171]. The observation that expression of the CETP gene is induced by dietary cholesterol is consistent with this model [174]. Estrogen has been shown to interact with SREBP1a signaling [175], which could be the mechanism by which estrogen upregulates CETP levels.

Because of the variability associated with the CETP gene under control of the human promoter, I chose to use a transgenic mouse model that expresses CETP under control of a constitutive promoter. Mice do not naturally express CETP, so transgenic expression of CETP is required to study CETP in mice. The particular mouse strain that I used expresses a simian CETP gene under control of the metallothionein promoter known as UCTP-20. This mouse line was generated in the early 1990s with the goal of understanding the contribution of CETP to the primate/human lipoprotein profile [176]. The transgenic mouse model expresses CETP in all tissues except lung and spleen, but the levels of CETP RNA are by far the highest in the liver, followed by the brain and heart [176]. The CETP transgenic mice show a more human-like lipid profile, with increased cholesterol in ApoB containing lipoproteins and decreased cholesterol in ApoA containing lipoproteins compared to WT mice [176]. When fed a high-fat/highcholesterol diet, the CETP-expressing mice showed an increase in total cholesterol [176]. A second study of the same transgenic mice showed increased atherosclerotic lesions in aortas of the CETP-expressing mice when fed a high-fat/high-cholesterol diet [177]. I assert that these mice are an appropriate model to test the contribution of a constant level of CETP on whole-body metabolism. Since human CETP is regulated by diet, insulin, and estrogen, I wanted to use a model that would have consistent CETP activity during high-fat feeding, hyperinsulinemic clamps, and between sexes.

# Beneficial role of CETP on reverse cholesterol transport: Insights from model organisms

Recent work in both model organisms and humans has suggested that CETP has a beneficial role to promote RCT and thereby promote bile acid secretion. Bile acids have recently been shown to have beneficial effects on glucose metabolism; therefore, CETP may be a factor that promotes metabolic health.

The study of CETP in mice has required development of transgenic mice or viral expression of CETP. Expression of CETP in mice has demonstrated that CETP promotes RCT in a manner that is SR-B1 independent but LDLR dependent. Expression of CETP in an SR-B1 knockout mouse model almost completely reversed the hypercholesterolemia associated with SR-B1 deficiency [10], suggesting that CETP is able to promote RCT independently of SR-B1, which is the primary method of HDL uptake by the liver. In another study, viral expression of CETP in mice increased efflux of radiolabeled cholesterol from macrophages to feces in SR-B1 knockout mice but not LDLR knockout mice, indicating that CETP promotes RCT in an LDL receptordependent manner [11]. The activity of CETP to promote movement of cholesterol from HDL to LDL likely increases the RCT through hepatic cholesterol uptake from LDL through LDLR. The increase in radiolabeled cholesterol to feces in the CETPexpressing animals suggests that CETP may increase gut bile acid content, as cholesterol that is taken up by the liver is largely excreted in the form of bile acids (Fig. 1.3). Recent studies have suggested that bile acids can be signaling molecules that improve glucose metabolism. Therefore, the ability of CETP to promote RCT and increase bile acid content may improve whole-body glucose homeostasis.



**Figure 1.3: CETP promotes reverse cholesterol transport by increasing LDLmediated delivery of CE to the liver.** CETP expression mediates flux of CE from HDL to LDL. CETP promotes reverse cholesterol transport by increasing delivery of CE to the liver through LDL receptor. This process causes increased secretion of bile into the gut, as cholesterol is converted to bile in the liver and secreted into the gut.

#### Bile acid signaling improves glucose metabolism

In addition to their role in digestion, bile acids are signaling agents that regulate pathways important for glucose metabolism in tissues including liver, adipose tissue, and muscle. Bile acids improve glucose metabolism by inhibiting hepatic gluconeogenesis, promoting hepatic glycogen storage, and promoting energy expenditure in brown adipose tissue and skeletal muscle. Because CETP has been shown to increase RCT and bile acid production, I propose that CETP may potentially have a protective effect against the development of metabolic syndrome with obesity.

Bile acids signal through three major pathways to alter glucose metabolism in liver, adipose tissue, and muscle (Fig. 1.4). 1) Bile acids promote the secretion of the enterokine fibroblast growth factor 15 (Fgf15), which signals to the liver to suppress hepatic glucose production. 2) Bile acids themselves act as ligands of Fxr in the liver. 3) Bile acids activate the g-protein coupled bile acid receptor (GPBAR1 also known as TGR5) in brown adipose tissue and muscle. These pathways combine to promote healthy glucose metabolism by suppressing hepatic gluconeogenesis and promoting muscle glucose uptake.





## Bile acids signal through Fgf15 to alter hepatic glycogen storage and gluconeogenesis

The effect of bile acids on hepatic insulin sensitivity is in part mediated by Fgf15. Fgf15 is produced in ileal enterocytes in response to bile acid signaling through farnesoid X receptor (Fxr) [178]. Fgf15 signals to the liver through the fibroblast growth factor 4 receptor (Fgf4r) to activate ERK1/2 (Fig. 1.4) [179]. Fgf15 signaling in the liver has been shown to promote glycogen storage and reduce gluconeogenesis [14, 15]. Fgf15 knockout mice exhibit glucose intolerance and have reduced liver glycogen content compared to control mice [14]. Treatment of mice with Fgf15 resulted in increased hepatic glycogen synthase and increased phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase  $3\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . Administration of Fgf15 to mice with streptozotocin-induced diabetes normalized hepatic glycogen content to levels of control mice [14].

In addition to its ability to promote hepatic glycogen storage, bile acid signaling through Fgf15 suppresses hepatic gluconeogenesis. Treatment of lean mice with Fgf15 results in downregulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC1α), which is a transcription factor central to activating genes the products of which control gluconeogenesis [15]. Consistent with this result, *G6pc* and *Pck* gene expression was decreased in mice treated with Fgf15. Adenoviral overexpression of Fgf15 similarly reduced gene expression for factors that control gluconeogenesis, TCA cycle flux, and fatty acid oxidation [15]. In contrast, Fgf15 knockout mice exhibit hyperglycemia, increased gene expression for *G6pc* and *Pck*, and increased levels of gluconeogenesis during the fed state compared to control mice [15]. Overall, Fgf15 has emerged as an important

new enterokine factor that allows for bile acids to signal to the liver to promote storage of glucose as glycogen and suppress hepatic gluconeogenesis. Fgf15 acts independently of insulin through the ERK signaling pathway and may be a factor that can improve insulin sensitivity in insulin resistant people.

#### Bile acids signal through hepatic Fxr to suppress gluconeogenesis

Bile acids are ligands for the nuclear transcription factor Fxr, which induces expression of small heterodimer partner (Shp) (Fig. 1.4) [180, 181]. Fxr is required for normal glucose metabolism in the liver, and Fxr knockout mice exhibit a number of metabolic irregularities including fatty liver, elevated serum free fatty acids, elevated serum glucose, and insulin resistance. Feeding mice a 1% cholic acid diet, which is an agonist for Fxr caused a significant decrease in RNA levels for *Pck*, *Ppargc1a*, and *G6pc*, genes the products of which promote hepatic gluconeogenesis. These effects were not observed in Fxr knockout mice, indicating that Fxr is required for the suppressive effects of bile acids on gluconeogenesis [182]. The effect of the cholic acid treatment on metabolism is likely due to a combination of direct Fxr signaling in the liver and indirect signaling through Fgf15, as production of Fgf15 is activated through Fxr signaling in the gut.

## Bile acids signal through Gpbar1 to increase energy expenditure and glucose oxidation

Bile acids signal through a third pathway to muscle and adipose tissue through the G-protein coupled bile acid receptor Gpbar1 (Fig 1.4). Addition of the bile acid cholic acid to a high-fat diet resulted in decreased adiposity compared to high fat diet (HFD) without added cholic acid [17]. The authors of this study reported that signaling through Gpbar1 activates type-2 thyroid deiodinase (*Dio2*), which leads to increased energy expenditure in brown adipose tissue [17]. Further study of Gpbar1 has shown it to have a role in regulation of glucose homeostasis. Treatment of diet-induced obese mice with a Gpbar1 agonist resulted in increased energy expenditure, reduced levels of hepatic fat, and decreased adiposity. Additionally, treatment of both diet-induced obese mice and *db/db* mice with a Gpbar1 agonist improved glucose tolerance as measured by oral glucose tolerance tests. Hyperinsulinemic clamps in diet-induced obese mice treated with a Gpbar1 agonist showed that activation of Gpbar1 improves insulin sensitivity. Studies of isolated brown adjocytes treated with the Gpbar1 agonist showed that mitochondrial oxygen consumption was increased by Gpbar1 activation [16]. Additionally, bile acid signaling to Gpbar1 in intestinal L-cells caused increased secretion of Glp1, which is known to promote glucose stimulated insulin secretion [16]. Activation of Gpbar1 by bile acids is protective against HFD-induced glucose intolerance and insulin resistance likely due to its ability to promote glucose disposal. Based on these studies, I propose that factors that increase bile acid production or secretion, such as CETP, might be protective against the effect of obesity on glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity.

#### Bile acid treatment improves insulin sensitivity in obese humans

Bile acids also appear to have a significant effect on glucose metabolism in humans. Obese humans treated with a four- week oral course of the bile acid tauroursodeoxycholic acid (TUDCA) showed improved hepatic insulin sensitivity as defined by glucose production during a hyperinsulinemic clamp. Additionally, the TUDCA-treated subjects showed an increase in clamp glucose rate of disappearance, suggesting improved muscle insulin sensitivity [183]. The TUDCA-treated subjects also showed improvement in muscle insulin signaling, with higher levels of insulin receptor substrate tyrosine phosphorylation and increased levels of Akt serine phosphorylation. This study demonstrates that bile acid treatment improves insulin sensitivity in obese humans and that the benefits of bile acid signaling are not restricted to the mouse.

#### Obesity decreases exercise capacity

Weight loss is the best method to reverse the effects of obesity. One method that can help people lose weight is increased physical activity. Unfortunately, exercise capacity is known to decline with obesity, and therefore losing weight through exercise becomes more difficult, creating a vicious cycle. Exercise capacity is defined as the maximal amount of physical exertion that a person can sustain, and it is frequently defined clinically using a treadmill test. A study of people with pre-existing diabetes showed that BMI and waist circumference negatively correlate with exercise capacity, demonstrating the link between obesity and impaired exercise capacity [4]. Mechanisms that might help improve exercise capacity could help to treat obesity and improve quality of life for obese people.

Exercise capacity is extremely important to overall health, as a study of patients referred for clinical exercise testing showed that level of physical fitness inversely correlated with death from all causes. In fact, exercise capacity was a stronger predictor of death than established cardiovascular risk factors such as hypertension, smoking, and diabetes [184]. A second study of exercise capacity in diabetic men showed that reduced exercise capacity was predictive of mortality in a manner that was independent of BMI [185]. These results suggest that fitness in the form of exercise capacity may be more important in preventing deaths than previously identified factors such as hypertension, smoking, obesity, and diabetes. Mechanisms that might improve exercise capacity even in the context of obesity are therefore important to study.

#### Exercise capacity depends on muscle substrate oxidation

Exercise capacity depends on multiple different factors throughout the body, but all are related to the ability of muscle mitochondria to efficiently oxidize substrate to produce ATP. Exercise capacity depends both on central factors such as the ability of the lungs to extract oxygen and the ability of the heart to pump oxygenated blood to muscle tissue [186, 187]. Additionally, peripheral factors such as the ability of oxygen to diffuse from blood vessels to muscle, the density of capillaries in the muscle, and the ability of mitochondria to effectively perform oxidative phosphorylation all contribute to exercise capacity [188, 189]. In addition to delivery of oxygen, exercise capacity also depends on oxidation of substrate. At lower levels of exercise intensity (less than 50% of maximal capacity), the majority of substrate used for exercise is lipid. At higher levels of exercise intensity, carbohydrate becomes the preferred substrate. A study of men

running on a treadmill at a fast versus slow pace showed that nearly 100% of the energy expenditure was from carbohydrate in the fast group compared to 80% in the slower-paced group[190]. Therefore, mechanisms that improve muscle glucose oxidative capacity might help to improve exercise capacity, as improved ability to utilize glucose in muscle might lead to increased tolerance for higher intensity exercise.

Studies have suggested that bile acid signaling through Gpbar1 increases muscle glucose utilization by improving mitochondrial oxidative capacity. Since CETP is known to promote RCT and bile acid production, I propose that CETP expression might increase exercise capacity by improving muscle mitochondrial oxidative capacity.

#### Summary

Obesity is a serious health challenge, as it correlates with risk of CHD and diabetes. Mechanisms that improve metabolic health in obese people might help to delay or prevent the development of these diseases. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein may be a previously underappreciated factor that could promote healthy metabolism in obesity. CETP was previously thought to be harmful due to its effects on lipid profile, but inhibition of CETP has not proven to be an effective strategy to prevent CHD. Further study of CETP is therefore required to fully understand its role in metabolism. Studies in humans have suggested a sexual dimorphism related to CETP and have shown that CETP might be a neutral factor in men but have a positive effect on RCT and glucose homeostasis in women. Recent research in animal models has demonstrated that CETP can promote RCT and secretion of cholesterol into the gut in the form of bile acids. Bile acids have been shown to activate signaling pathways in gut, liver, adipose

tissue, and muscle that lead to improved glucose homeostasis (Fig. 1.4). Bile acid signaling also leads to improved mitochondrial function in muscle, which is an important factor in exercise capacity. Therefore, I propose that CETP is a positive factor that might protect against the development of insulin sensitivity and exercise intolerance with obesity.

#### **CHAPTER II**

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Animals and diets

CETP transgenic mice on a C57BL/6 background were purchased from Jackson Laboratories (C57BL/6-Tg(CETP)1Pnu/J, Stock Number: 001929). This strain expresses a simian CETP gene under control of the metallothionine promoter [15, 16]. All mice were maintained on a standard chow diet until placed on a sucrose-free high fat diet (HFD) with carbohydrate content comprised of cornstarch (60% fat, 20% carbohydrate, 20% protein, Research Diets D08060104). Mice were 12-14 weeks old at onset of diet and were fed HFD for 4 weeks. Body composition was determined on the day of study using an mq10 NMR analyzer (Bruker Optics). All procedures were performed in accordance with National Institutes of Health Guidelines for the Care and Use of Animals and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Vanderbilt University.

#### Surgical catheterization

Five to seven days prior to the clamp study, mice received catheters in the jugular vein and carotid artery at the Vanderbilt Mouse Metabolic Phenotyping Center. Surgeries were performed using aseptic technique, and all surgical instruments and other materials were sterilized prior to use. Mice were anesthetized with isoflurane using a vaporization system. To catheterize the carotid artery, a small vertical midline incision was made 5mm cephalic to the sternum. The left sternomastoid muscle was exposed using forceps, and the carotid artery was separated from connective tissue. Once isolated, the cephalic end of the artery was ligated with silk suture, and a second piece of suture was loosely knotted on the caudal end of the exposed artery. The blood vessel was clamped with micro-serrefine hemostats, and a small incision was made in the blood vessel just below the ligated end. Six cm pieces of silastic flexible plastic tubing (0.012" ID) were prepared for use as catheters. The catheter was inserted into the carotid artery, and both ligatures were tied to secure the catheter. A second incision was made 5 mm to the right of the midline and 2 mm caudal to the first incision. The jugular vein was exposed, and a catheter was inserted using a similar procedure to the arterial catheterization. Once the two catheters were implanted, free catheter ends were tunneled under the skin to the back of the neck, externalized, and sealed with steel plugs. All incisions were closed with silk suture. Mice were monitored for health during surgical recovery and treated with antibiotics (ceftriaxone) and analgesics (ketofen). Mice were maintained on HFD and were allowed 5-7 days for recovery after surgery. Only mice returning to within 10% of pre-surgical body weight were studied. Overall, these methods permit arterial sampling and are less stressful than cut-tail sampling.

#### Hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp studies

To assess insulin sensitivity, a 2-hour hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp study was performed on mice fasted for 5 hours. Mice were weighed and then fasted starting

between 0800 and 0900h. During the fast, glucose, donor blood, insulin, and radiolabeled glucose were prepared. Fifty percent dextrose solution was drawn into a 3mL syringe for glucose infusion. Donor blood was prepared by collecting 1mL of blood from a donor mouse. Blood was then centrifuged, and red blood cells were isolated. Red blood cells were washed with heparinized saline, centrifuged, and then resuspended in an equal volume of heparinized saline. Donor blood was infused at a rate of 2.5 µL/min during the clamp. Insulin was prepared by diluting U-100 insulin tenfold in a 3% saline-donor plasma mixture. Insulin was then diluted based on the weight of the mouse to achieve an infusion rate of 4 mU/kg/min at a constant infusion rate of 3 µL/min. Fifty µCi of radiolabeled [3-3H] glucose per mouse was dried and resuspended in 1 mL of saline. Twenty µL of this solution was saved to determine the exact dose of tracer given to each mouse. Glucose, insulin, donor blood, and radiolabeled glucose were each attached to a separate infusion pump (Harvard apparatus), and all infusions were into the jugular vein. The arterial catheter was flushed with heparinized saline prior to the clamp study and used to draw blood for all samples.

To trace whole-body glucose turnover, a 1.5-µCi bolus of [3-<sup>3</sup>H] glucose was given at t = -90 min (90 mins prior to insulin/glucose infusion) followed by a 0.05 µCi/min infusion until t=0. The clamp was begun at t = 0 min with a continuous infusion of insulin (4 mU  $\cdot$  kg<sup>-1</sup>  $\cdot$  min<sup>-1</sup>). The [3-<sup>3</sup>H] glucose infusion was increased to 0.1 µCi/min for the remainder of the experiment to prevent changes in specific activity. More recent developments in tracer technique suggest mixing the tracer with the non-labeled glucose 50/to Euglycemia (100-150 mg/dl) was maintained by measuring blood glucose every 10 min by glucometer starting at t = 0 min and infusing 50% dextrose by variable

infusion. Hematocrit was measured at t = 0 and t = 90 to determine that there was no fall in red blood cell count. Arterial samples to measure plasma hormones and glucose turnover were taken at t=60, and during the steady-state period at 80, 90, and 100 min. The steady state period is defined by a constant state of glucose infusion, indicating that the rate of glucose production equals the rate of glucose removal. At 120 min, mice were sacrificed and tissues were collected and frozen in liquid nitrogen. Insulin sensitivity index (SI) was calculated by dividing the steady-state glucose infusion rate in mg/kg\*min by the steady state insulin concentration in mU/mL to yield SI in (mg\*mL)/(kg\*min\*mU) [191].

#### Tracer analysis

[3-<sup>3</sup>H] glucose was infused to measure glucose rate of appearance (EndoRa) and glucose rate of disappearance (Rd). Levels of radioactivity were determined by scintillation counting on a Perkin-Elmer TriCarb 2390 scintillation counter and expressed in disintegrations per minute (DPM). Glucose turnover is calculated using the body weight of the mouse, the glucose infusion rate, the tracer infusion rate, and the specific activity of plasma glucose at each time point. The tracer infusion rate is determined by scintillation counting of the tracer infusate and the rate of tracer infusion. A 10  $\mu$ L of a 1:200 dilution of the tracer infusate was dried down and counted to obtain the Chemical Standard Evaporated (CSE). The tracer infusion rate in dpm/kg/min is therefore equal to:

$$Tracer infusion rate (dpm/kg/min) = \frac{(Pump rate \cdot CSE \cdot 20)}{(Body Weight / 1000)}$$

Specific activity (SA) is defined as the ratio of tracer to tracee and is measured in

dpm/mg. To calculate plasma SA, the plasma glucose concentration and the plasma [ $3^{3}$ H] glucose concentration are required. Plasma samples are treated with Ba(OH<sub>2</sub>) and Zn<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> to de-proteinate the sample. Samples are then evaporated and counted on a scintillation counter. A sample of the infusate is treated and counted in the same manner to provide the Chemical Recovery Standard (CRS). Plasma specific activity is therefore:

$$specific \ activity \ (dpm/mg) \ = \ \frac{\frac{Plasma \ dpm}{10} \cdot \frac{CSE}{CRS} \cdot 1000}{plasma \ glucose/100}$$

Glucose turnover in mg/kg/min can therefore be represented by:

The endogenous glucose rate of appearance (Endo Ra) is equal to the glucose turnover rate minus the exogenous glucose infusion rate

#### Western blots

Whole cell protein extracts were performed on frozen liver and muscle tissue using a T-PER protein extraction kit (Pierce bioscience). Protein concentration in extracted samples was measured using a Pierce BCA protein assay kit. Western blotting was performed using precast 4-12% bis-tris gels (Life Technologies) in an Invitrogen Novex mini-cell chamber. Twenty µg of protein was loaded per sample. Protein was transferred from the gel onto nitrocellulose membrane and then blocked using Odyssey blocking buffer. Following blocking, membranes were treated with primary antibody, washed with tris buffered saline, treated with secondary antibody, washed, and then imaged. Primary antibodies for Akt, P-Akt (Ser473), Erk1/2, and P- Erk1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204) were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology. Antibodies for actin and ERα were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology. IR-Dye 800 anti-rabbit secondary antibody (LI-COR Biotechnology) was used for band visualization on an Odyssey imaging system.

#### Serum analysis

Serum insulin values were determined using a commercial ELISA kit (Millipore). CETP activity was measured using a commercially available kit (Roar Biochemical RB-CETP). Serum TG and cholesterol levels were measured using commercially available kits (Raichem). Serum estradiol was quantified using a commercially available kit (Calbiotech). Serum leptin, adiponectin, and IL-6 were quantified by luminex assay at the Vanderbilt Hormone Assay & Analytical Services Core.

#### Gene expression

RT-PCR was used to measure gene expression. RNA was extracted from tissues (RNeasy Mini, Qiagen) and cDNAs were synthesized using 1 µg RNA template (iScript cDNA synthesis kit, BioRad). qPCR was conducted using SYBR Green JumpStart Taq ReadyMix (Sigma) in a 20 µl reaction with 400nM final primer concentration. Reactions were carried out for 30 cycles of 95°C for 10s, 58°C for 45s, and 72°C for 60s (MyIQ, Bio Rad). Ct values were analyzed using the efficiency corrected Pfaffl method and were normalized to cyclophilin A. Fold change was determined relative to fasted WT littermates. Primer sequences are provided in Table 2.1.

#### Metabolite analysis

Metabolite analysis was performed by Metabolon Inc. (Durham NC). Briefly, aqueous and organic metabolites were methanol extracted and then analyzed both by LC/MS and GC/MS. Metabolites were identified by comparison to a library of known compounds and normalized to internal standards. Welch's two-sample *t*-test and an estimate of the false discovery rate (*q*-value) were used to take into account the multiple comparisons that normally occur in metabolomic-based studies. One animal was excluded as an outlier for hepatic bile acid data, as the gallbladder was ruptured during tissue collection.

#### Gut bile acid analysis

Bile acids were extracted from ileum tissue by ethanol extraction using a dounce homogenizer. Bile acids were quantified using a commercially available enzymatic assay (Crystal Chem).

#### Indirect calorimetry

Indirect calorimetry was performed on HFD-fed female CETP and WT littermates using a Promethion system in the Vanderbilt MMPC (Sable Systems International). The system allows for measurement of VO2, VCO2, food intake, feeding behavior, heat generation and activity level. Mice were individually housed in the system for a period of 4 days during which measurements were taken. The facility uses a standard 12 h light/dark cycle, and measurements for light and dark phases are reported separately.

#### **Exercise studies**

Exercise studies were performed in 12-week old female CETP transgenic mice and their non-transgenic littermates. Mice were fed a standard chow diet until the date of the first exercise study, after which they were fed a sucrose-free HFD with carbohydrate content comprised of cornstarch (60% fat, 20% carbohydrate, 20% protein, Research Diets D08060104). Animals were subjected to an exercise tolerance test every 2 weeks after the beginning of HFD. One week before the first exercise study, animals were acclimated to treadmill running. In the exercise tolerance test, mice were individually placed on an enclosed treadmill attached to an oxymax oxygen analyzer and run at an initial speed of 10 m/min at a 0% grade. Every 3 minutes, speed was increased by 4 m/min. The study was continued until the animal was exhausted, as indicated by remaining on the shock pad at the rear of the treadmill. A total of 4 exercise tolerance tests were performed at 0, 2, 4, and 6 weeks of HFD.

After 10 total weeks on HFD, mice were subjected to a single bout exercise test. Mice were run at a constant speed of 10 m/min for 15 minutes. Immediately before the study, a bolus of 2-deoxyglucose was administered to trace glucose uptake by muscle tissue. Following the exercise study, animals were sacrificed and tissues were collected and flash frozen.

#### Statistics

Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Data were analyzed by student's t-test, 1way ANOVA using Tukey's post-test, or 2-way ANOVA using Bonferoni post-test as appropriate. p < 0.05 is considered statistically significant.

Sample sizes were chosen to be able to reject the null hypothesis that the population means of the experimental and control groups are equal with probability (power) 0.8. The Type I error probability associated with this test of this null hypothesis is 0.05. Power calculations were performed using PS Power and Sample Size Calculations, Version 2.1.30

Primer	Sequence
cpt1b_F	TCTAGGCAATGCCGTTCAC
cpt1b_R	GAGCACATGGGCACCATAC
dio2_F	CTTCCTCCTAGATGCCTACAAAC
dio2_R	GGCATAATTGTTACCTGATTCAGG
fxr_F	TCCGGACATTCAACCATCAC
fxr_R	TCACTGCACATCCCAGATCTC
g6pc_F	CTGCAAGGGAGAACTCAGCAA
g6pc_R	GAGGACCAAGGAAGCCACAAT
hk2_F	GGAACCCAGCTGTTTGACCA
hk2_R	CAGGGGAACGAGAAGGTGAAA
hnf4a_F	ACCAAGAGGTCCATGGTGTTT
hnf4a_R	GTGCCGAGGGACGATGTAG
lrh1_F	TGGGAAGGAAGGGACAATCTT
lrh1_R	CGAGACTCAGGAGGTTGTTGAA
ppia_F	CGATGACGAGCCCTTGG
ppia_R	TCTGCTGTCTTTGGAACTTTGTC
shp_F	CGATCCTCTTCAACCCAGATG
shp_R	AGGGCTCCAAGACTTCACACA

Table 2.1: RT-PCR Primer sequences

#### CHAPTER III

### CHOLESTERYL ESTER TRANSFER PROTEIN PROTECTS AGAINST INSULIN RESISTANCE IN OBESE FEMALE MICE

#### Introduction

Insulin resistance associated with obesity leads to metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and increased risk of developing CHD. These risk factors are reduced by weight loss; however, weight reduction regimens rarely result in long-term maintenance of reduced body weight [1, 2]. Activation of pathways that improve insulin sensitivity would be an attractive alternative to weight loss as a way to prevent complications of obesity. One important pathway that has recently been linked to insulin sensitivity is bile acid signaling to liver and muscle [15, 16, 183]. Activation of pathways that promote bile production and secretion may improve insulin sensitivity in the setting of obesity. CETP is a lipid transfer protein that allows for the exchange of lipids between lipoproteins, ultimately resulting in delivery of cholesterol esters to the liver, where they are converted into bile acid [192, 193]. Activation of CETP, therefore, may contribute to improve insulin sensitivity with obesity.

In addition to their role in digestion, bile acids are signaling agents that regulate pathways important for glucose metabolism. Treatment of obese humans with the bile acid tauroursodeoxycholic acid improves liver and muscle insulin sensitivity [183]. Bile acids signal through three pathways to alter metabolism in multiple tissues. The effect of bile acids on hepatic insulin sensitivity is in part mediated by Fgf15, which signals

through Fgf4r in the liver to promote glycogen storage and reduce gluconeogenesis [14, 15]. Bile acids are ligands for the nuclear transcription factor Fxr, which induces expression of Shp [180, 181]. Fxr and Shp regulate multiple genes involved in liver glucose metabolism [182, 194]. Additionally, bile acids signal to muscle through Gpbar1 to activate type-2 thyroid deiodinase (Dio2), which leads to an increase in muscle glucose oxidation by mitochondria [16]. Since bile acids are produced from cholesterol in the liver, mechanisms that increase cholesterol delivery to the liver might promote insulin sensitivity.

CETP has been shown to increase RCT in mice [10, 11]. Since mice do not naturally express CETP, transgenic mice expressing CETP have been studied [176, 177]. Because of its lipid transfer capacity, CETP alters lipid uptake and metabolism by tissues. CETP has the net effect of increasing delivery of CE to the liver by promoting the movement of CE from HDL to VLDL or LDL, which can be taken up by the liver through LDLR and VLDLR [10, 192, 193, 195]. CETP also facilitates uptake of CE from serum macrophages into HDL, which is then delivered to the liver by scavenger receptor B1 (SR-B1)[11, 196]. CE delivered to the liver is converted into bile acids, which are stored in the gallbladder and then secreted into the intestine to facilitate absorption of lipophilic nutrients. Taken together, these results suggest that increased cholesterol delivery to the liver mediated by CETP increases bile acids in the gut and their related signaling to promote insulin sensitivity in liver and muscle. To test this hypothesis, we assessed insulin sensitivity in HFD fed male and female CETP transgenic mice and their non-transgenic littermates. We observed increased gut bile acids in female but not male CETP-expressing mice. This increase in bile acid levels

corresponded with improved insulin sensitivity and increased bile acid related signaling in liver and muscle in CETP-expressing female mice. Overall, we show that CETP expression protects female mice from the metabolic complications of obesity.

#### Results

# CETP expression does not alter high fat diet-induced weight or adiposity gain in males or females

Age- and weight-matched male and female CETP transgenic mice and their wildtype littermates (WT) lacking CETP expression were placed on HFD for 4 weeks to test their metabolic adaptation to obesity. As expected, CETP activity was significantly higher in CETP mice compared to WT in both males and females (Males Fig. 3.1A, Females Fig. 3.1E). There was no difference in CETP activity between transgenic males and females. Both male and female WT and CETP mice gained similar weight and had similar adiposity on HFD (Males Fig. 3.1B, Females Fig. 3.1F Body weight: Table 3.1).



Figure 3.1: CETP expression alters serum cholesterol and ileal bile acids in obese mice. A) CETP activity in WT littermates and CETP-transgenic males. B) Adiposity before (-) and after (+) HFD in male mice. C) Serum cholesterol in HFD-fed male mice. D) Total fasted ileal bile acids in HFD-fed male mice. E) CETP activity in WT littermates and CETP-transgenic females. F) Adiposity before (-) and after (+) HFD in female mice. G) Serum cholesterol in HFD-fed female mice. H) Total fasting ileal bile acids in HFD female mice. Total fasting ileal bile acids in HFD female mice. H) Total fasting ileal bile acids in HFD female mice. Total fasting ileal bile acids in HFD

	WT Female	CETP Female	WT Male	CETP Male
Initial Body Weight (g)	20.5 ± 2.3	21.0. ± 1.8	24.0 ± 2.1	25.4 ± 3.6
Post-HFD body weight (g)	26.5 ± 5.1†	24.1 ± 3.6†	28.4 ± 3.2†	32.1 ± 5.0*†
HFD Fasting Blood Glucose (mg/dL)	152 ± 35.8	134 ± 19.6	148 ± 24.1	151 ± 38.1
HFD Clamp Insulin (ng/mL)	4.8 ± 1.6	2.6 ± 1.1	2.8 ± 0.6	3.7 ± 1.0
Chow Clamp Insulin (ng/mL)	1.7 ± 0.4	2.1 ± 0.3	ND	ND
HFD Plasma Free Fatty Acid (mmol/L)	1.44 ± 0.96	1.62 ± 0.50	1.57 ± 0.77	1.44 ± 0.96
HFD Plasma LDL (mg/dL pooled)	33.8	14.6	39.1	21.7
HFD Plasma HDL (mg/dL pooled)	110.3	50.0	79.5	52.1
HFD Basal Glucose EndoRa (mg·kg <sup>-1</sup> ·min <sup>-1</sup> )	17.3 ± 7.4	19.6 ± 5.6	10.3 ± 4.4	14.6 ± 10.1
HFD Clamp Glucose EndoRa (mg·kg <sup>-1</sup> ·min <sup>-1</sup> )	2.2 ± 2.1‡	3.9 ± 2.8‡	3.7 ± 4.8	2.9 ± 5.7‡
HFD Clamp Glucose Rd (mg·kg <sup>-1</sup> ·min <sup>-1</sup> )	17.1 ± 3.4	45.0 ± 6.1*	16.9 ± 4.4	17.19 ± 4.8
HFD Clamp AUC GIR/Glucose (mg <sup>2</sup> ·min·kg <sup>-1</sup> ·dL <sup>-1</sup> )	0.10 ±.03	0.25 ± .05*	0.09 ±.03	0.11 ± .02
HFD Fasting Plasma Triglyceride (mg/dL)	73.8 ± 22.6	53.5± 21.0	46.5 ± 13.0	65.0 ± 15.0
HFD Clamp Plasma Triglyceride (mg/dl)	51.7 ± 23.1	36.6 ± 5.9 ‡	43.8 ± 18.6	50.0 ± 11.3
HFD Liver Cholesterol (mg/g tissue)	2.75 ± 1.5	4.27 ± 2.1	2.47 ± 0.8	3.86 ± 1.6
HFD Liver Triglyceride (mg/g tissue)	54.8 ± 21.7	75.1 ± 9.4	79.2 ± 20.5	53.8 ± 14.2
HFD Liver Diacylglycerol (mg/g tissue)	2.67 ± 0.63	2.67 ± 0.61	3.61 ± 1.53	2.53 1.02
HFD Plasma Interleukin 6 (pg/mL)	77.6 ± 65.7	76.1 ± 31.9	54.3 ± 23.5	113.1 ± 64.2
HFD Plasma Leptin (ng/mL)	12.9 ± 5.2	10.6 ± 5.8	12.7 ± 0.1	18.6 ± 5.0
HFD Plasma Adiponectin (µg/mL)	13.1 ± 1.8	15.7 ± 1.8	15.1 ± 1.6	17.6 ± 3.6
HFD Serum Estradiol (pg/mL)	6.8 ± 3.1	6.9 ± 2.0	ND	ND

**Table 3.1: Additional physiological parameters**. Values represent mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. \*p < 0.05 *versus* WT, † p < 0.05 versus pre-HFD, ‡ p <0.05 versus clamp baseline. n = 4-8 animals per group

### CETP expression reduces serum cholesterol in males and females and increases gut bile acid content in females only

To determine the effect of CETP expression on lipid and bile metabolism, we measured fasted serum lipids and ileal bile acids. We observed that CETP expression reduced serum cholesterol in both male and female mice (Males Fig. 3.1C, Females Fig. 3.1G). CETP-expressing males showed no difference in ileal bile acid content compared to WT males (Fig. 3.1D). CETP-expressing females, however, showed a significant increase in gut bile acid content compared to WT (Fig. 3.1H). We saw a trend towards increased bile acid species in the serum of CETP females (Table 3.2). Additionally we observed an increased hepatic bile acid species in the CETP females (Table 3.2, p<0.05 for genotype effect by 2-way ANOVA). We did not observe a difference in plasma free fatty acid, triglyceride, or estradiol (Table 3.1). We saw a trend toward increased hepatic cholesterol content in both male and female CETP-expressing mice, but this difference was not significant (Table 3.1). Overall, we observed a reduction in serum cholesterol in both male and female CETP mice and an increase in gut bile acids in female CETP mice only.



Figure 3.2: CETP expression decreases fasting plasma insulin in female mice. A) Fasting blood glucose in HFD-fed male mice. B) Fasting plasma insulin in HFD-fed male mice. C) Fasting blood glucose in HFD-fed female mice. D) Fasting plasma insulin in HFD-fed female mice. All animals were fasted for 5 hours. Data represent mean  $\pm$  SEM from n = 6-8 animals per group. \*p < 0.05.

	WT Male	CETP Male	WT Female	CETP Female
Liver Bile Acid (nmol/g)	109.5 ± 25.6	81.5 ± 47.6	99.9 ± 20.2	74.9 ± 37.2
Liver Cholate (AU)	ND	ND	0.74 ± 0.36	1.27 ± 0.39 †
Liver Taurocholate (AU)	ND	ND	0.88 ± 0.27	1.08 ± 0.44 †
Liver Glycocholate (AU)	ND	ND	0.84 ± 0.17	1.41 ± 1.10 †
Liver Taurochenodeoxycholate (AU)	ND	ND	0.85 ± 0.32	1.15 ± 0.46 †
Liver Beta-Muricholate (AU)	ND	ND	1.00 ± 0.04	1.07 ± 0.37 †
Liver Tauro-Beta-Muricholate (AU)	ND	ND	1.23 ± 0.36	1.11 ± 0.69 †
Liver Taurosodeoxycholate (AU)	ND	ND	1.03 ± 0.14	1.32 ± 0.85 †
Serum Bile acid (nmol/mL)	10.72 ± 5.80	21.9 ± 25.3	12.6 ± 12.2	37.7 ± 48.6
Serum Cholate (AU)	ND	ND	1.26 ± 1.08	2.37 ± 2.49
Serum 1,2 Dehydrocholate (AU)	ND	ND	0.68 ± 0.41	1.48 ± 1.41
Serum Beta-Muricholate (AU)	ND	ND	1.21 ± 0.87	2.01 ± 1.91

**Table 3.2: Liver and serum bile acid species.** Values represent mean ± standard. † indicates significance as a group versus WT by 2-way anova for all marked species. n = 4 animals per group

#### **CETP** expression reduces fasting insulin in female mice

Since bile acids are known to affect insulin sensitivity, we measured fasting glucose and insulin levels in the CETP mice and WT littermates. After 4 weeks of HFD-feeding, there was no difference in fasting blood glucose between CETP and WT mice (Males Fig. 3.2A, Females Fig. 3.2C). While there was a small but not significant reduction in fasting insulin in CETP males compared to WT (Fig. 3.2B), CETP female mice had significantly lower fasting insulin levels than WT (Fig. 3.2D). Thus, despite weight and adiposity gain on HFD, female CETP mice had lower fasting insulin levels than WT, suggesting that they may be protected from HFD-induced insulin resistance.

## Expression of CETP protects against diet-induced insulin resistance in female mice

Since the changes in fasting insulin suggested improved insulin sensitivity in the CETP female mice, we measured insulin sensitivity using a hyperinsulinemiceuglycemic clamp in mice fed HFD for 4 weeks (Fig. 3.3A). The hyperinsulinemiceuglycemic clamp technique assesses insulin sensitivity by determining the glucose infusion rate (GIR) required to maintain euglycemia in response to a physiologic increase in serum insulin; increased GIR corresponds to greater insulin sensitivity. There was modest but non-significant increase in GIR between the CETP and WT males during the clamp (Fig. 3.3B-C). Male CETP mice showed no change in insulin sensitivity index (SI) compared to WT (Fig 3.3D), which is defined by the GIR divided by the average insulin level in the steady-state clamp period.

In contrast, CETP females showed a markedly increased GIR compared to WT (Fig. 3.3E-F). Additionally, SI was increased by approximately 3-fold in the CETP females compared to WT (Fig. 3.3G). Insulin suppressed endogenous glucose production (EndoRa) in all groups. The dose of insulin used in the clamp study, however, was optimized to study muscle metabolism by maintaining insulin at a concentration similar to post-prandial levels (Table 3.1). Glucose rate of disappearance (Rd), an index of muscle insulin action, was significantly increased in CETP females compared to WT. (Table 3.1). Rd in CETP-expressing females was significantly higher than both WT females and CETP-expressing males. Overall, the clamp results show that CETP expression significantly improves insulin sensitivity in obese female mice fed HFD.

To determine if CETP-mediated effects on insulin sensitivity are dependent on diet composition, we performed a parallel hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp study on CETP and WT females fed a standard chow diet (Fig. 3.3A). We focused on the female mice because of the large phenotype observed in the HFD-fed females. In contrast to the HFD-fed group, there was no difference in GIR or SI between the chow-fed CETP and WT mice, suggesting that the improvement in insulin sensitivity observed with CETP expression depends on HFD-feeding (Fig. 3.3H-J). Thus, CETP protects against the effect of HFD on insulin sensitivity in females; it has no effect on insulin sensitivity in lean chow-fed females. This interaction between CETP and diet in females is consistent with a mechanism mediated by bile acid signaling, which would be increased on HFD.






Figure 3.3: CETP expression protects female mice against diet-induced insulin resistance. A) Hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp study design. B) Clamp blood glucose in HFD-fed males. C) Glucose infusion rate (GIR) required to maintain euglycemia during hyperinsulinemic clamp in HFD-fed males. D) Insulin sensitivity index based on steady-state GIR/insulin for HFD-fed males. E) Clamp blood glucose in HFD-fed females F) GIR for HFD-fed females. G) Insulin sensitivity index for HFD-fed females. H) Blood glucose during clamp in chow-fed females. I) GIR for chow-fed females. J) Insulin sensitivity index for chow-fed females. J) Insulin sensitivity index for chow-fed females. J Insulin sensitivity index for chow-fed females. Data represent mean  $\pm$  SEM from n = 6-8 animals per group. \*p < 0.05.



Figure 3.4: CETP expression alters hepatic insulin signaling and bile acid signal related gene expression. A) Immunoblot analysis of Akt, P-Akt (S-473), Erk1/2, P-Erk1/2, and Actin in liver whole-cell extract from fasted and clamped CETP and WT female mice on a HFD. B) Quantification of P-Akt to Akt ratio C) Quantification of P-Erk1/2 to Erk1/2 ratio D) Gene expression for genes the products of which control glucose metabolism, bile acid metabolism, and gene transcription determined by qRT-PCR from hepatic RNA Data represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=4 animals per group. \*p < 0.05 versus fasted, brackets (a) indicate statistical significance for genotype effect by 2-way ANOVA.

# CETP expression increases insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of hepatic Akt and Erk1/2 in HFD-fed mice

To define changes in insulin signaling compared to the fasted state, we added an additional non-insulin treated cohort of CETP and WT female mice that were HFD-fed for 4 weeks and then fasted for 5 hours with no insulin treatment prior to sacrifice. Insulin-stimulated Akt phosphorylation was greater in clamped female CETP mice compared to WT (Fig. 3.4A-B). We did see a trend towards increased hepatic AKT phosphorylation in the CETP males, although this result was not statistically significant (Fig. 3.5).

We performed western blot analysis for phosphorylation of liver Erk1/2, which occurs via multiple pathways including the hepatic estrogen, bile acid, and insulin signaling pathways [14, 15, 197]. Erk1/2 phosphorylation was increased in the insulinclamped CETP females compared to clamped WT females (Fig. 3.4A, C). Fasting Erk1/2 phosphorylation was similar between fasted CETP and WT females, suggesting that insulin is required for increased Erk1/2 phosphorylation in CETP female mice (Fig. 3.4A, C). Erk1/2 phosphorylation was not increased in CETP males (Fig. 3.5). To further investigate the sex difference, we performed western blots for estrogen receptor alpha (ER $\alpha$ ) in liver and muscle of female CETP and WT mice. We did not observe a difference in ER $\alpha$  expression between CETP and WT in either liver or muscle (Fig. 3.6). Overall, we observed that CETP expression improves the insulin signal to Akt in the context of HFD-feeding. Female CETP mice had an additional robust signal to increase signaling to Erk1/2, likely contributing to the marked sex-difference seen in our clamp study.



Figure 3.5: CETP has a modest effect on insulin signaling in male mice on a high fat diet. A) Immunoblot analysis of Akt and P-Akt (S-473) from livers of insulin-clamped males. B) Quantification of P-Akt to Akt ratio. C) Immunoblot analysis of Erk1/2 and p-Erk1/2 from liver of insulin clamped males. D) Quantification of P-Erk1/2 to Erk1/2 ratio. E) Relative gene expression of *G6pc* in fasted and clamped males. F) Immunoblot analysis of Akt and P-Akt (S-473) from gastrocnemius muscle of insulin-clamped males G) Quantification of P-Akt/Akt ratio. Data represent mean  $\pm$  SEM from n = 6-8 animals per group.

### CETP expression alters expression of genes involved in liver glucose metabolism

As bile acids were only altered in the female CETP mice, we focused our further mechanistic studies of bile acid signaling on female CETP mice versus female WT. To determine the effect of CETP expression on hepatic gene expression, we performed qRT-PCR on hepatic mRNA from fasted and insulin-clamped CETP and WT female mice. We determined mRNA levels for genes the products of which are involved in glucose and lipid metabolism and regulate gene transcription (Fig. 3.4D). After HFDfeeding, insulin failed to suppress glucose-6-phosphatase (G6pc) and phosphoenol pyruvate carboxylase (*Pck1*) expression in the WT mice. These genes products are central to control of hepatic gluconeogenesis. Female CETP mice showed improved insulin-suppression of mRNA for G6pc and Pck1 compared to WT (Fig. 3.4D). Male CETP mice also showed improved insulin suppression of mRNA for G6pc compared to WT (Fig. 3.5E) Additionally, insulin-mediated suppression of RNA for sterol CoA desaturase expression, a gene the product of which is involved in *de-novo* lipogenesis, was improved in the female CETP mice compared to WT. Female CETP mice had increased expression of  $Hnf4\alpha$ , Fxr, and Lrh-1, as well as increased Shp under insulin treatment. These transcription factors regulate genes the products of which control bile, glucose, and lipid metabolism. Based on our observed changes in ileal bile acids, liver protein, and mRNA, CETP expression may improve insulin action on control points of hepatic glucose metabolism, potentially through bile acid signaling.



**Figure 3.6: CETP expression does not alter hepatic or muscle levels of ERa**. A) Immunoblot analysis of ERa in liver of WT and CETP female mice. B) Quantification of hepatic ERa protein normalized to actin. C) Immunoblot analysis of ERa in gastrocnemius muscle of WT and CETP female mice. D) Quantification of muscle ERa protein normalized to actin. Data represent mean  $\pm$  SEM from n = 4 animals per group.



Figure 3.7: CETP-expressing mice on a high fat diet display improved muscle insulin signaling and altered glucose metabolism A) Immunoblot analysis of Akt, P-Akt (S-473), and Actin in muscle whole-cell extract from fasted and clamped CETP and WT female mice. B) Quantification of P-Akt to Akt ratio. C) Metabolite analysis of glycolytic and TCA cycle intermediates in muscle of fasted CETP and WT female mice. D) Schematic representation of changes in glycolytic and TCA cycle intermediates E) Gene expression for *Dio2*, *Cpt1b*, and *Hk2* determined by qRT-PCR from muscle RNA extracts. F) Respiratory quotient determined by indirect calorimetry for HFD fed CETP and WT female mice Data represent mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=4 animals per group except for (F) which is n=3 animals per group. \*p < 0.05.

# CETP expression increases insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of muscle Akt in HFD-fed mice

The large increase in GIR and Rd in CETP females was likely due to increases in muscle insulin sensitivity, since muscle is the largest depot for insulin-stimulated glucose uptake. We measured phosphorylated Akt in gastrocnemius muscle from fasted and insulin-clamped CETP and WT females. We observed an increase in Akt phosphorylation in response to the insulin in CETP but not WT females (Fig. 3.7 A-B). We saw a trend toward increased Akt phosphorylation in muscle of CETP males, but this result was not significant (Fig. 3.5 F-G). Western blotting for ERK1/2 phosphorylation was attempted in muscle tissue from these mice, but the results showed significant variability from animal to animal. This result suggests that CETP expression ameliorates the HFD-induced decrease in muscle insulin signaling to Akt in female mice.

# **CETP expression reduces muscle glycolytic intermediates**

Having observed improved muscle insulin signaling and increased glucose disposal, we measured glycolytic intermediates in muscle tissue from fasted CETP and WT females (Fig. 3.7C). CETP animals had significantly decreased levels of glucose-6phosphate (G6P) and fructose-6-phosphate (F6P). We also saw a trend towards decreased fructose 1,6 bisphosphate (F1,6BP) in the CETP females (p=0.11). Glycogen-derived glucose-1-phosphate (G1P) was also significantly decreased. Muscle glucose was not altered. Levels of citrate were increased in the CETP mice, an indicator of increased glucose and/or lipid oxidation. The reduced glycolytic intermediates despite

increased citrate (an inhibitor of glycolysis) suggest that CETP expression promotes muscle TCA cycle flux in the fasting state. We examined soleus muscle mRNA for genes the products of which promote TCA cycling, and found significantly increased gene expression for *Dio2*, carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1b (*Cpt1b*), and a trend towards increased hexokinase 2 (*Hk2*) gene expression in CETP mice (Fig. 3.7E: p=0.058 for *Hk2*). Taken together, the reduction in muscle glycolytic intermediates along with increased gene expression for *Dio2* and *Cpt1b* suggests that CETP expression causes increased muscle substrate oxidation. These changes likely contribute to improved insulin sensitivity in CETP females

Having observed a significant difference in insulin sensitivity in HFD-fed CETP females as well as altered muscle glucose metabolism, we performed indirect calorimetry on HFD-fed CETP and WT females to measure energy expenditure. Food intake and energy expenditure were similar between CETP and WT, although CETP females ate more frequently than WT (Fig. 3.8). Additionally, the increase in respiratory quotient showed that CETP females had increased carbohydrate oxidation compared to WT (Fig. 3.7F). The finding that CETP expression increases the relative utilization of carbohydrate compared to lipid is consistent with our observation that CETP alters muscle glucose oxidation. Activation of glycolysis and *Dio2* are known effects of bile acid signaling in muscle, and these observations are consistent with our model that bile signaling is responsible for improved insulin sensitivity in the CETP females



Figure 3.8: CETP expression does not alter food intake or energy expenditure in HFD-fed female mice. A) Food intake over 12 hour periods. B) Feeding behavior based on frequency of feeding events. C) Rate of oxygen consumption. D) Rate of carbon dioxide production. E) Heat generation. F) activity level measured by beam breaks. Animals were housed in a facility with 12 hour light-dark cycles. The light or dark period is indicated below the graph. Data represent the mean  $\pm$  SEM from n = 3 animals per group.

#### Discussion

Our studies demonstrate a novel role for CETP expression to ameliorate insulin resistance in obese female mice. We propose that the increase in bile acids in the CETP females improves insulin sensitivity. Our data is consistent with the growing body of evidence that bile acids can promote insulin sensitivity [15, 16, 183]. CETP expression did not alter bile acid levels in male mice, and, correspondingly, there was no alteration in insulin sensitivity in the male CETP mice. Additionally, we did not observe a difference in insulin sensitivity between female CETP mice and female WT littermates fed chow, suggesting that CETP may have metabolic benefits that promote insulin sensitivity only in the context of a lipid-rich diet.

We propose that the metabolic effect of CETP in female mice is due to enhancement of insulin signaling due to the effects of bile acids. We observed induction of the bile-sensitive Fxr and Fgf15 signaling pathways in the liver that corresponded with alterations of gene expression of *Shp*, *G6pc*, and *Pck1*. We also observed increased Erk1/2 phosphorylation in the livers of the CETP female mice, which is a known effect of Fgf15 signaling. We also observed effects consistent with activation of bile-sensitive pathways in muscle, which likely had a large effect on the phenotype. We saw a large increase in the rate of glucose disappearance during our clamp studies, an index of muscle glucose disposal. The increase in Rd corresponded with decreased glycolytic intermediate metabolites and an increase in the TCA cycle intermediate citrate. These effects are consistent with bile acid signaling through Gpbar1 to induce *Dio2*, which was upregulated in the CETP female animals. Impairments in muscle glucose disposal are believed to be the first major defect in metabolism that leads to

development of diabetes [198]. Therefore, mechanisms that promote muscle glucose disposal such as activation of Gpbar1 signaling can protect against development of insulin resistance. I propose that the observed increase in muscle glucose disposal in the CETP mice is the major mechanism by which they are protected from HFD-induced insulin resistance. Collectively, our results show a strong correlation between CETP expression in females and increased bile acid signaling in liver and muscle that likely results in increased glucose disposal and improved insulin sensitivity. Further study is required to determine if bile acid signaling has a truly causative role in this improvement.

There was no change in insulin sensitivity in the chow-fed CETP-expressing mice compared to WT. This result suggests either that HFD feeding is required to induce bile acid production or that the chow-fed mice are already insulin sensitive and that CETP does not have an additive effect on insulin sensitivity in an already insulin sensitive animal. Bile acids are known to be increased by HFD and particularly diets that contain high levels of saturated fat such as our 60% lard HFD [199, 200]. We did not measure gut bile acids in chow-fed animals and can therefore only speculate that they would have lower bile acid levels than the HFD mice. Determining the levels of bile acids in these animals will be performed in a future study.

The role of CETP in human health has been a topic of considerable controversy, and there are significant unresolved questions about its effects on lipid and glucose homeostasis. CETP promotes the movement of cholesterol esters and triglycerides between lipoproteins, resulting in a net flux of cholesterol from HDL to LDL. Since reduced HDL is a well-known risk factor for CHD, CETP inhibitor drugs were developed with the goal of increasing HDL and reducing CHD. While the inhibitors successfully

raised HDL in humans, the clinical benefit of these drugs on CHD has not yet been established [9, 153]. These findings, along with our data, suggest that CETP may have important additional effects on metabolism.

Studies in humans have also suggested that CETP may have sex-specific roles in glucose metabolism [13, 163, 201]. We observed a pronounced sexual dimorphism in insulin sensitivity between the male and female CETP mice, which is consistent with differences observed between men and women in human studies. In our studies, CETP expression did not significantly improve insulin sensitivity in males. Although the GIR was higher in CETP males in our clamp study, mice in the CETP group also had higher blood glucose levels in the clamp period. Two measures of insulin sensitivity, SI and the AUC of the GIR/glucose, were not different in male CETP *vs.* WT.

Reciprocally, studies in females suggest beneficial effects of CETP on cholesterol efflux and glucose metabolism. Higher CETP activity is associated with increased transfer of CE from macrophages to HDL in women but not men [12, 131]. This improved cholesterol transport capacity with increased CETP was independent of HDL cholesterol [12]. In women, CETP polymorphisms that increase CETP activity correlated with reduced risk of ischemic heart disease [162]. Higher CETP activity is associated with improved glucose metabolism after roux-en-Y gastric bypass in women but not men [13, 163]. In our studies, we found that female CETP mice had 3-fold improvement in insulin sensitivity with HFD-feeding compared to WT, showing a strong protection of female CETP mice against diet-induced insulin resistance.

The observed sexual dimorphism in insulin sensitivity in our study may be due to sex-differences in bile acid signaling. CETP female mice showed a significant increase

in ileal bile acids compared to WT; CETP males showed no difference in ileal bile acid levels compared to WT littermates. These observations show that CETP expression increases ileal bile acid content in a sex-specific manner. This difference in bile content correlates with the observed increases in bile acid related signaling in the CETPexpressing females. Additionally, estrogen may augment the bile signal in female CETP mice, as both CETP and estrogen signaling through ER $\alpha$  increase bile secretion [202, 203]. We observed alterations in signaling pathways that were unique to the females, such as increased hepatic Erk phosphorylation and increased Shp gene expression, pathways that are shared between estrogen and bile-signaling pathways [14]. CETP has also been shown to augment estradiol delivery to tissues, enhancing estrogen signaling [204, 205]. We did not, however, observe an increase in ERa levels in liver or muscle of CETP-expressing mice, and CETP-expressing females had levels of circulating estradiol similar to WT. Since bile acids were increased in females but not males, I propose that the mechanism for the observed sex difference in insulin sensitivity lies in the alteration in gut bile acids observed in the CETP-expressing females. The ability of gut bile acids to signal to Dio2 in muscle through Gbpar1 leads to increased muscle glucose disposal, which is a known factor to promote whole-body insulin sensitivity [198].

We observed a trend towards improved insulin sensitivity in the male CETP mice. Hepatic *G6pc* gene expression was suppressed by insulin in the CETP-expressing male mice fed HFD, suggesting improved hepatic insulin sensitivity. This result is consistent with our tracer data that show suppression of hepatic glucose production during the clamp. We also observed a trend towards increased AKT phosphorylation in both liver

and muscle in the CETP expressing males. While these results are not significant, the studies may have been underpowered to detect the moderate changes caused by CETP expression in the males. For example, based on the mean and standard deviation for liver Akt phosphorylation, 9 animals would be required to achieve 80% power whereas the study group contained only 6 animals per group. The changes observed in the CETP expressing males are not likely caused by an effect of CETP on bile acids, as there was no difference in gut bile acids between CETP and WT males. While the size of the gut bile acid pool did not change in the CETP expressing males, it is possible that the bile acid species composition was altered by CETP expression. Changes in bile acid species independent of pool size have been shown to improve insulin sensitivity [18]. The trend towards improved insulin sensitivity in the CETP males may also relate to the intracellular function of CETP to promote storage of lipids in adipose tissue, which is a topic for future investigation.

Our finding that CETP expression promotes insulin sensitivity does not necessarily suggest that CETP inhibition would be harmful with regard to glucose homeostasis. CETP has an extracellular role in lipid transfer between lipoproteins but also functions intracellularly to promote CE uptake and direct partitioning of CE between subcellular compartments [206, 207]. If our effects were mediated by intracellular CETP, we would not expect CETP inhibition to adversely impact the phenotype [206]. Additionally, several CETP inhibitors promote RCT, culminating in increased CE delivery to the liver and bile secretion [157, 208]. The mechanism for this improvement of RCT appears to be improved lipidation of nascent HDL [157]. In contrast, CETP's role to promote RCT is dependent on flux of CE from HDL to LDL, which is then cleared by

LDLR in the liver [10, 11]. Mechanisms that promote RCT would be predicted to increase bile acid signaling and perhaps improve insulin sensitivity.

In humans, dietary weight-loss strategies are complicated by weight regain. Pharmacologic strategies to achieve weight loss often have significant side effects on the cardiovascular system or central nervous system. Strategies to improve insulin sensitivity in the setting of obesity would be an attractive alternative to weight loss. The idea of "metabolically healthy obesity" is an important goal in the prevention of diabetes and cardiovascular risk associated with obesity. We observe a metabolically-healthy obese phenotype in female CETP mice. The model shown here, though dissimilar to the human in some regards, demonstrates an important proof-of-principle that augmenting aspects of CETP function, such as bile acid signaling, may be a therapeutic approach to improve insulin sensitivity and lessen the negative metabolic impact of obesity.

### **CHAPTER IV**

# CETP EXPRESSION PROTECTS FEMALE MICE FROM OBESITY-INDUCED DECLINE IN EXERCISE CAPACITY

## Introduction

Obesity carries with it a significant increase in risk of diabetes and heart disease [22, 23]. Adherence to an exercise program can help obese patients to lose weight and reduce the risk of complications of obesity. In a study of patients who had lost weight, 89% reported using a combination of diet and increased physical activity to achieve weight loss, whereas only 10% achieved weight loss by diet alone [2]. Unfortunately, obesity leads to reduced exercise tolerance, making weight loss through exercise more difficult [4]. Beyond its role in weight loss, exercise capacity is critical to overall health, as impaired exercise capacity correlates with increased risk of death from all causes [184]. Additionally, impaired exercise capacity was identified as a stronger predictor than BMI of mortality among men with diabetes [185]. Therefore, it is important to identify novel factors that might help improve exercise tolerance in obese individuals.

A crucial factor for exercise capacity is the ability of the body to properly deliver oxygen to muscle and its ability to effectively perform oxidative metabolism. Exercise capacity is often measured by  $VO_{2max}$ , which is defined as the maximal rate that oxygen can be taken up and utilized during exercise [188]. Several factors play into oxygen utilization including the ability of lungs to extract oxygen, the ability of the heart to pump oxygen through the blood, the oxygen carrying capacity of the blood, and muscle and

mitochondrial function. Pulmonary function can become a limiting factor for  $VO_{2max}$  in highly trained athletes and is not usually a limiting factor for healthy untrained individuals [186]. Cardiac output is very important to  $VO_{2max}$ , and exercise training leads to an increase in maximal cardiac output that leads to improvement in  $VO_{2max}$  [187].

The ability of skeletal muscle to oxidize fuel substrates is crucial to exercise capacity. A study of patients with congestive heart failure showed that changes in muscle metabolism correlated with decreased exercise capacity [209]. Additionally, reduced muscle oxidation has been observed in impaired glucose tolerance and diabetes and may be linked to the age-related decline in exercise capacity [210]. Endurance training leads to increased TCA cycle flux in the mitochondria [189]. We have previously shown that female mice expressing CETP are protected against the effect of HFD on insulin sensitivity [211]. This improvement in insulin sensitivity was marked by increases in muscle glycolysis. At higher levels of exercise intensity, muscle is increasingly dependent on glycolysis as fuel, as opposed to lower intensity exercise, which is primarily dependent on fatty acid oxidation [212]. Because the CETP-expressing mice showed increased muscle glycolysis, we propose that CETP-expressing female mice might have improved oxidative capacity and increased exercise tolerance when fed HFD.

Increased HDL or ApoA1 has recently been demonstrated to improve exercise capacity. Specifically, mice overexpressing ApoA1 showed improved exercise capacity and were resistant to age-related decline in exercise capacity [213]. These results suggest that either RCT mediated by HDL or the HDL particle itself acts to improve exercise capacity. We were interested in defining exercise capacity in the CETP

transgenic mouse, a mouse model that has improved RCT and a lipid profile more similar to a human than a wild-type mouse. CETP is a lipid transfer protein that facilitates the movement of cholesteryl esters and triglycerides between lipoproteins. CETP activity results in a net flux of CE from HDL into the ApoB containing lipoproteins LDL and VLDL, which are then delivered to the liver via LDL receptor in a process termed reverse cholesterol transport. This flux allows for an SR-B1 independent method for CE to be cleared by the liver. CETP expression increases RCT in SR-B1 knockout mice but not LDL receptor knockout mice [11]. HDL cholesterol is reduced in the CETP mice, but the lipid flux between lipoproteins is more humanlike. CETP-expressing mice therefore provide a model of increased RCT with more humanlike levels of HDL.

To test the hypothesis that CETP activity can improve exercise capacity, we measured exercise capacity in CETP-expressing female mice. While there was no difference in exercise capacity on chow diet, HFD-fed CETP-expressing mice were protected from the obesity-related decline in exercise capacity. This improvement in exercise capacity corresponded with an increase in mitochondrial oxidation.

#### Results

### CETP expression does not alter exercise tolerance in chow-fed female mice

To test the effect of CETP expression on exercise tolerance in female mice, we performed an exercise study in CETP-expressing female mice and their non-transgenic female littermates. At the beginning of the study, mice were 12 weeks old, had been fed a standard chow diet, and were lean. Groups were matched by initial body weight and body composition (Fig. 4.1 A-B). Mice were subjected to an exercise tolerance test

consisting of a treadmill run with speed increasing every 3 minutes. The duration and distance run by the mice provide an index of exercise capacity. In the initial exercise tolerance test, we saw no difference in exercise capacity between lean, chow-fed CETP mice and their WT littermates. CETP mice ran for an average of  $22.9\pm2.3$  minutes (535.3 ± 89.5 meters) versus  $24.0\pm1.9$  minutes (586 ±169.8 meters) for the WT mice (Fig 4.1 C-D). These results show that there is no genotype effect of CETP expression on exercise capacity in the context of a low-fat chow diet.

# CETP expression protects female mice from high fat diet-induced decline in exercise capacity

Because obesity induces a decline in exercise capacity, we measured the changes in exercise capacity in CETP-expressing female mice and their non-transgenic littermates over a period of HFD feeding. Following the initial exercise test, mice were switched from a normal chow diet to a 60% HFD to induce obesity. Exercise capacity was measured every 2 weeks for 6 weeks using the same exercise tolerance test protocol used in the initial measurement. HFD feeding effectively induced weight gain and increased adiposity in the mice. By 4 weeks on HFD, both groups had gained over 15% of their initial weight and showed a significant increase in fat mass (Fig 4.1 A-B). This increase in weight and adiposity corresponded with a decrease in exercise capacity in exercise capacity compared to WT. The CETP mice decreased from 22.9 $\pm$ 2.3 minutes (535.3  $\pm$  89.5 meters) to 14.8  $\pm$  3.6 minutes (271.5  $\pm$  99.4 meters), while the WT mice decreased from 24.0 $\pm$ 1.9 minutes (586  $\pm$ 169.8 meters) to 10.4  $\pm$  1.8 minutes

(157.6  $\pm$  38.7 meters) (Fig. 4.1 C-E). While the CETP-expressing mice showed a 49% decrease in run distance over 6 weeks of HFD, the WT mice showed a much larger 73% decrease in run distance over the same 6 weeks of HFD feeding. These results indicate that the CETP-expressing mice are protected from the deleterious effect of obesity on exercise capacity.

### CETP-expressing mice show increased muscle oxidative capacity

To define muscle function after a matched exercise period, mice were kept on HFD for a total of 12 weeks, after which they were subjected to a single 15-minute bout of exercise at a constant speed of 16 m/min. Immediately following exercise, mice were sacrificed and tissues were collected. Muscle fibers from the red gastrocnemius muscle were isolated immediately following sacrifice, and mitochondrial oxidative capacity in these muscles was determined *ex-vivo* using an oxygraph-2k system. The muscle fibers were treated with either glutamate-malate or palmitoylcarnitine to measure the response to TCA cycle intermediates or ATP production from fatty acid oxidation. We observed a significant increase in oxygen consumption in the CETP-derived muscle fibers when treated with the glutamate/malate mixture but not the palmitoylcarnitine mixture (Fig 4.2). This result indicates that the CETP-expressing mice have higher oxidative capacity in muscle mitochondria but have a similar level of fatty acid oxidation. This is consistent with our prior observations that CETP-expressing female mice show increased glycolysis and TCA cycle intermediates. These results suggest that the mechanism for

the observed improvement in exercise capacity is an increased ability of muscle to oxidize carbohydrate in the CETP-expressing mice.



**Figure 4.1: CETP expression protects female mice against HFD-induced decline in exercise capacity.** A) Body weight over the course of HFD feeding. B) Body composition at baseline and 4-weeks post HFD. C) Run duration in each exercise test. D) Total distance run per mouse in the initial exercise test. E) Total distance run per mouse in the 6-week post HFD exercise study. Error bars represent mean ± SEM. n= 5-8 mice per group.



Figure 4.2: CETP expression increases mitochondrial oxidation in female mice. A) Oxygen consumption in isolated muscle fibers treated with glutamate/malate mixture to measure total substrate oxidation. B) Oxygen consumption in isolated muscle fibers treated with palmitoylcarnitine to measure fatty acid oxidation. Data represent mean  $\pm$  SEM. n = 8-14 muscle fibers per group.

### Discussion

A decline in exercise capacity with obesity creates a vicious cycle of worsened insulin resistance and further impairment in exercise capacity. I aimed to determine if CETP expression has an effect on exercise capacity in female mice. Overall, I observed that CETP-expressing female mice are relatively protected against HFD-induced exercise intolerance compared to WT. The improvement in exercise capacity on HFD corresponds with increased mitochondrial oxidative capacity in the CETP female mice compared to WT littermates. These results are consistent with our previous observation that CETP-expressing female mice have increased muscle glucose flux to the TCA cycle and a preferential oxidation of carbohydrate compared to fatty acid. These results suggest that mechanisms that improve RCT may help to improve mitochondrial function and exercise capacity in people with obesity.

We used CETP-expressing mice to test the hypothesis that increasing RCT independently of HDL would lead to improved exercise capacity. Recent studies have linked HDL levels and ApoA1 to improved exercise capacity, although the mechanism by which HDL improves exercise capacity has not been fully explored [213]. Our results suggest that high levels of HDL are not required for improved exercise capacity, but rather that increasing RCT leads to improved exercise capacity in the context of high-fat feeding. Overexpression of ApoA1 corresponded with improved exercise capacity and increased mitochondrial oxidation [213]. We also observe an increase in mitochondrial oxidative capacity has been observed with obesity and aging,

and is likely responsible for the impairments in exercise capacity observed in these conditions [214, 215].

A potential link between the lipid transfer activity of CETP and the observed improvement in mitochondrial oxidation is bile acid signaling to muscle through Gpbar1. CETP expression increases RCT and efflux of cholesterol to feces in the form of bile acids [11]. GPBAR1 signaling has been shown to increase energy expenditure in brown fat and skeletal muscle [16, 17]. We have observed increased gut bile acids in the CETP-expressing mice and increased transcription of *Dio2*, which is a target of GPBAR1 signaling [211]. Additionally, the fact that the CETP and WT mice did not show a difference in exercise capacity on the chow diet suggests that increased bile acids may be necessary for an effect on exercise capacity. Bile acids are known to be increased by high-fat diets, particularly those that contain high amounts of saturated fat [199, 200]. When placed on HFD, the CETP female mice display increased gut bile acids (Fig 3.1H). The changes in RCT that are mediated by CETP may therefore account for the improvement in exercise capacity observed in the CETP-expressing female mice. Alternatively, the lack of a difference in exercise capacity between chowfed CETP and WT mice may indicate that there is not an additive effect of CETP activity on exercise capacity in metabolically healthy animals but rather that CETP protects against the deleterious effect of obesity on exercise capacity.

Improving exercise capacity in the context of obesity represents an attractive target for treating obesity. Impaired exercise capacity has been correlated with increased risk of death from all causes, and obesity causes a reduction in exercise capacity. We identify a novel role for CETP to protect female mice against the obesity-

related decline in exercise capacity. This improvement in exercise capacity correlated with improved muscle glucose oxidation, which is indicative of bile acid signaling to muscle. Mechanisms that promote RCT may therefore promote healthy muscle function in the context of obesity.

### **CHAPTER V**

## SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

### Promoting metabolic heath in the context of obesity

Obesity has become a serious health issue throughout the world, being declared a global epidemic by the WHO. Obesity has a deleterious effect on human health by increasing risk of CHD and type-2 diabetes. The deleterious effects of obesity can sometimes be prevented by weight loss; however, maintaining weight loss is difficult, and recent studies have suggested that weight loss may not be enough to reverse the effects of obesity. In the Look AHEAD trial, obese people with type-2 diabetes were treated with an intensive lifestyle intervention based on reduced caloric intake and increased physical activity or a control treatment of diabetes education and support. The lifestyle intervention was successful, resulting in weight loss (8.6% of body weight), reduced waist circumference, reduced hemoglobin a1c, improved exercise capacity, and improvement in markers for cardiovascular risk such as reduced blood pressure and increased HDL cholesterol [216]. Surprisingly, despite the improvement in multiple risk factors for CHD, there was no difference in the incidence of cardiovascular events between the lifestyle intervention group and the control group [216]. These results suggest that weight loss may not be enough to reverse the effects of obesity on CHD in the context of type-2 diabetes. Therefore, mechanisms that can improve metabolic health in the context of obesity are attractive targets to study with the goal of treating the deleterious effects of obesity.

### A novel role for CETP expression to promote healthy obesity in mice

I have shown that CETP is a previously unrecognized factor that can promote healthy obesity. My studies have demonstrated that CETP-expressing female mice are protected against the deleterious effects of obesity on insulin sensitivity and exercise capacity. I propose that CETP's ability to promote RCT leads to an increase in bile acid signaling that ultimately results in improved muscle glucose disposal that improves systemic insulin sensitivity (Fig 5.1). I have observed increased activation of bile acid signaling pathways and physiological effects are reflective of bile acid signaling. These effects correspond with improved insulin sensitivity and increased insulin signaling in liver and muscle. While CETP was previously thought to have a negative effect on risk of CHD, my studies suggest that it promotes metabolic health in the context of obesity, particularly in females. The observed sexual dimorphism is also supported by studies of CETP in humans. Additionally, with the future of CETP inhibitor drugs in question, my research has provided additional insight into the role of CETP and may help contribute to a better understanding of the appropriate usage of CETP inhibitor drugs. On the whole, my research has demonstrated a novel role for CETP in protecting against the negative metabolic effects of obesity.

### Clinical Relevance: CETP expression increases bile acid signaling

Once thought to function mainly in digestion, recent studies have demonstrated that bile acids have significant signaling roles. I have demonstrated that CETP expression leads to a significant increase in bile acids in the gut. This increase in bile acids corresponds with increased *Dio2* transcription in gastrocnemius muscle, which is known to be upregulated by the activity of the bile acid receptor Gpbar1. This corresponds with improved muscle glucose disposal, resulting in improved insulin sensitivity. I also observed increased bile acid associated signaling in the liver through the Fxr and Fgf15/19 pathways, although these effects were only seen in the presence of insulin.

I propose that bile acid signaling, particularly the activation of Gpbar1 in muscle, is the mechanism by which CETP protects against diet-induced insulin resistance. Gpbar1 activity is known to increase energy expenditure and glucose oxidation in brown adipose tissue and muscle. I observed increased muscle glycolysis, TCA cycling, and glucose disposal in the CETP-expressing female mice, which is consistent with the effect of Gpbar1 signaling on muscle. A Gpbar1 agonist, INT777, is currently in development. Study of INT777 in mice has shown that activating Gpbar1 improves insulin sensitivity in mice fed HFD [16] and also reduces atherosclerotic lesions in a mouse model of atherosclerosis [217]. These results suggest that specifically targeting Gpbar1 signaling can lead to improved metabolic health.

Bile acids have shown promise in humans as a treatment for obesity-induced insulin resistance. A 4-week oral course of treatment with the bile acid tauroursodeoxycholic acid (TUDCA) in obese humans caused an increase in hepatic and muscle insulin sensitivity as determined by hyperinsulinemic clamp [183]. Additionally, muscle Akt phosphorylation was increased by treatment with the bile acid. Since the gut is easily accessible by oral treatment, these results suggest that bile acids could be a possible drug to treat the metabolic complications of obesity. The study of

TUDCA treatment showed an improvement in insulin sensitivity comparable to treatment with traditional anti-diabetes drugs such as thiazolinediones and metformin [218, 219]. Bile acid treatment could potentially provide an alternative anti-diabetic treatment, especially given the concerns regarding possible linkages between thiazolinediones and elevated risk of heart disease [220].

The composition of bile acids in the gut and serum may be more important than the total amount of bile acids. A study of the bile acid sequestrant colesevelam demonstrated that colesevelam treatment reduces the bile acid pool size but has the same effect on improving glucose tolerance, insulin sensitivity, and energy expenditure as treatment with bile acids [18]. Both the bile acid-treated mice and the colesevelamtreated mice were resistant to the effects of HFD on insulin sensitivity. While the bile acid-treated mice had 2.6-fold more bile acids in the gut and nearly twice in the serum, the treatments appeared to have the same effect on metabolism. Interestingly, both the bile acid-treated mice and the colesevelam-treated group showed a significant increase in the proportion of the bile acid pool consisting of taurocholic acid, which is known to be a strong agonist for Gpbar1 [221], so increasing the amount of a specific bile acid that activates Gpbar1 may be sufficient to promote insulin sensitivity.

Overall, my dissertation project has shown an important role for bile acid signaling in promoting insulin sensitivity in obese mice. Bile acids and their related signaling pathways are a strong drug target as the gut is easily accessible through oral delivery. Bile acids are also naturally occurring in the gut, which should likely reduce the possibility of side effects. I predict that bile acid signaling will become a pathway of great interest clinically as a method of promoting metabolic health in obesity.

### Clinical Relevance: Sexual dimorphism in the effect of CETP on metabolism

I observed a significant sexual dimorphism in insulin sensitivity in the CETPexpressing female mice. While there was a modest improvement in GIR and some evidence for improved insulin sensitivity in the male mice, the female CETP-expressing mice showed a large difference in insulin sensitivity. Therefore, I focused the exercise studies on female mice only. The mechanism by which this sexual dimorphism occurs is yet to be determined. Evidence from human and mouse studies, however, suggest that CETP has a beneficial role in RCT and glucose metabolism in females. CETP may have a significant effect on estrogen signaling due to its role in production and trafficking of esterified estrogens. Additionally, female sex hormones may interact with CETP to promote RCT and increase bile acid production through their effect on hepatic LDL receptor. Overall, I propose that the sexual dimorphism is most likely caused by increased RCT in CETP female mice that leads to increased bile acid production, increased muscle glucose disposal, and therefore improved insulin sensitivity.

The sexual dimorphism that I observed with regard to CETP is supported by recent findings from studies in humans. CETP has a stronger effect on RCT in women, as studies of *ex-vivo* RCT showed that serum from women with higher CETP activity was better able to promote efflux of cholesterol from macrophages to serum. Additionally, clinical studies of surgical weight loss by gastric bypass surgery have shown that CETP mass correlated with reduced glycemia at a 12-month follow-up [13]. These results, combined with the strong sexual dimorphism observed in my studies suggest an interaction between CETP and female sex hormones that promotes RCT and improves metabolic health in the context of obesity. Interestingly, I did not observe

a difference in circulating estrogen levels or estrogen signaling to ER $\alpha$  in either liver or muscle, suggesting that absolute levels of estrogen or signaling through ER $\alpha$  do not account for the observed phenotype.

CETP expression may increase the amount of esterified estrogen in the serum, which may have an effect on estrogen signaling. Because of their hydrophobicity, estrogen esters must be carried through the circulation in lipoproteins. Estrogens can be esterified by LCAT in HDL and then transferred into LDL though the activity of CETP [222]. Esterified estrogen has been demonstrated to prevent LDL oxidation. Since oxidized LDL can contribute to formation of atherogenic plaques, estrogen esters likely have an anti-atherogenic role. Additionally, estrogen esters, which reside in serum lipoproteins, may be able to target estrogen signaling to specific tissues. I propose that CETP may not only increase the levels of esterified estrogen in LDL but also increase delivery of estrogen esters to the liver. In the liver, estrogen is known to have important signaling roles in promoting insulin sensitivity. Hepatic knockout of ER $\alpha$ , one of the main targets of estrogen signaling, results in hepatic insulin resistance [36]. Therefore, CETP may have insulin sensitizing effect in females through its effect on estrogen ester formation and trafficking.

Alternatively, CETP may not change estrogen signaling, but estrogen may instead have an effect on hepatic cholesterol uptake that promotes CETP-mediated RCT. The ability of CETP to promote RCT is dependent on hepatic LDL receptor [11]. Interestingly, estrogen is one of the most potent activators of LDL receptor expression in the liver [223, 224]. In fact, treatment of men with estrogen also increases hepatic LDL receptor expression and increases the rate of LDL clearance from the serum [225].

Additionally, our lab has observed that LDLR protein level is reduced in the livers of obese mice that lack ovarian hormones in a model of surgical menopause [226]. Since bile acid signaling appears to be central to the insulin sensitivity and exercise tolerance phenotypes observed in the CETP female mice, the increase in LDL receptor by estrogen may allow for CETP to promote RCT and increase bile secretion. The increase in bile acids leads to increased activation of *Dio2* in muscle through the action of Gpbar1, resulting in increased muscle glucose oxidation. This hypothesis is supported by my observation that only female CETP mice showed increased gut bile acids. Therefore, induction of hepatic LDL receptor by estrogen signaling is likely central to both the sexual dimorphism and the overall protection of female CETP mice from the metabolic effects of HFD.

CETP likely has a positive effect on RCT and glucose metabolism in women. My results from CETP-expressing female mice further contribute evidence to this hypothesis. The mechanism by which female sex interacts with CETP has not been fully established, but I propose that estrogen regulation of LDL receptor is central to the observed phenotype. CETP's ability to promote RCT depends on LDLR. Therefore, increased LDLR expression by estrogen could help CETP promote RCT and increase gut bile acids. Additional study of this mechanism could contribute to a better understanding of lipoprotein metabolism in women.





# **Clinical Relevance: Future of CETP inhibition**

CETP inhibitor drugs have been controversial in the medical and pharmaceutical community because their failure to protect against CHD goes against well-established models of cardiovascular risk. Inhibition of CETP leads to a significant increase in HDL levels, which, according to the current model of cardiovascular risk, should lead to a significant reduction in incidence of cardiovascular events. Surprisingly, clinical trials of CETP inhibitor drugs have not demonstrated clinical efficacy in terms of reducing death from cardiovascular events. The CETP inhibitor Torcetrapib was associated with a higher incidence of death from cardiovascular causes, while the CETP inhibitor Dalcetrapib did not show a significant effect on reducing incidence of cardiovascular events. Clinical trials of Anacetrabpib, a third CETP inhibitor drug, are currently ongoing. While the CETP inhibitor class of drugs has not yet demonstrated clinical efficacy in reducing RCT.

My dissertation work on CETP suggests that improving RCT through the action of CETP overexpression improves insulin sensitivity. Interestingly, there is seemingly paradoxical evidence that inhibition of CETP leads to improved RCT. Treatment of model organisms with Torcetrapib [227], Dalcetrapib [157], and Anacetrapib [208] corresponds with improved RCT. If increased RCT promotes insulin sensitivity in the context of obesity, inhibition of CETP should cause improved insulin sensitivity. In a *post-hoc* study of the clinical trials of Torcetrapib, a correlation between CETP inhibition by Torcetrapib and a modest improvement in insulin sensitivity was observed [201]. This study, however, was performed mainly in men (approximately 70% of the study population), and the women in the study were post-menopausal, so effects of female

sex were likely not observed in this study. Studying CETP inhibition in younger women could help provide a further understanding of the intersection between CETP inhibition and female sex.

The ability of CETP inhibitor drugs to promote RCT depends on HDL-mediated flux of cholesterol to the liver, as CETP inhibition increases HDL cholesterol and reduces LDL cholesterol. CETP inhibitors are proposed to improve RCT by promoting lipidation of nascent HDL [157]. In contrast, CETP promotes RCT by increasing LDL cholesterol and its clearance by LDL receptor[10, 11]. The pathway by which HDL and LDL promote RCT may be central to the phenotype that I observed in the CETPexpressing female mice. Since LDLR is upregulated by the activity of estrogen signaling [223, 224], women may have a larger capacity for RCT by LDL. Also, a number of studies in humans have suggested a correlation between CETP activity and RCT in women [12, 131]. Considering these outcomes, it appears that CETP inhibition might have a deleterious effect on RCT in women.

Overall, these results suggest that improving RCT by CETP inhibition could improve insulin sensitivity by increasing HDL-mediated delivery of cholesterol to the liver. CETP promotes RCT through LDL. The significance of cholesterol delivery to the liver by LDLR versus SR-B1 has not been fully investigated. Since CETP inhibitor drugs increase RCT but do not have a large effect on insulin sensitivity, I speculate that RCT by LDLR may have a more significant effect than RCT mediated by HDL/SR-B1 on bile acid production and insulin sensitivity.
## Conclusions

Obesity is an increasingly prevalent health problem that increases the risk of developing diabetes and CHD. While weight loss can reverse the negative effects of obesity, long-term weight loss maintenance is difficult. Additionally, weight loss may not reverse the effects of obesity on CHD in people with type-2 diabetes. Therefore, methods to improve metabolic health in obesity must be identified. My dissertation project has identified CETP as a factor that protects females against the negative effects of obesity on insulin sensitivity and exercise capacity. I propose that this protection is mediated by the signaling effects of bile acids, which are increased in only female mice. These results both provide insight into the relative protection of women from CHD and suggest that targeting bile acid signaling is a potential therapeutic method for protecting against insulin resistance and exercise intolerance in obesity. These findings could help to lessen the burden of obesity on both individuals and healthcare systems by spurring the development of treatments that promote metabolically healthy obesity.

## CHAPTER VI

## **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

## Insulin sensitivity in CETP mice

## **Bile acid signaling**

My dissertation work has demonstrated that CETP protects against obesity induced insulin resistance in female mice. I propose that the ability of CETP to promote RCT leads to an increase in gut bile acids, which have been associated with improved insulin sensitivity in liver and muscle and increased energy expenditure in muscle and brown adipose tissue. Bile aids signal through three major pathways: 1) Fxr in the liver, 2) Fgf15 signaling to FGFR4 in liver, and 3) Gpbar1 in muscle. I propose the following future directions that will further investigate the relative contributions of each pathway to the observed phenotype of improved insulin sensitivity. The long-term goal of this work has been to define pathways that can convert obesity from an unhealthy state to a metabolically healthy state. These aims will define the relative contribution of three different bile acid signaling pathways to the metabolically healthy obesity phenotype observed in the CETP-expressing mice.

1: Evaluate insulin sensitivity in HFD-fed CETP-expressing mice treated with a Shp siRNA.

Bile acid signaling and estrogen signaling in the liver converge on the induction of Shp, a transcriptional co-repressor that downregulates genes the products of which

control gluconeogenesis. Shp is induced by both bile acid signaling through Fxr and estrogen signaling through ERa. Knocking down Shp with an anti-sense oligo (ASO) will allow for the assessment of the role of hepatic Fxr and ER $\alpha$  signaling to Shp in the observed improvement in insulin sensitivity mediated by transgenic expression of CETP in female mice. I propose assessing insulin sensitivity in HFD-fed CETP-expressing female mice treated with the Shp ASO or scrambled ASO. I expect that the knockdown of Shp will result in increased transcription of G6pc and Pck1 in the liver, as Shp is known to repress their transcription. I do not expect the Shp knockdown to have a significant effect on muscle, as the ASO will be localized to the liver. I expect that knockdown of Shp will not alter the insulin sensitivity phenotype observed in CETP expressing mice, as I predict that the phenotype of improved muscle glucose disposal will still promote insulin sensitivity in the context of Shp knockdown. The insulin signal to the liver will likely still be strong enough to suppress G6pc and Pck1 gene expression even in the context of Shp knockdown. Determining the relative contribution that hepatic bile and estrogen signaling to Shp makes towards the insulin sensitivity phenotype will help provide a better understanding of the mechanism by which CETP expression improves insulin sensitivity in HFD-fed female mice.

# 2: Evaluate insulin sensitivity in HFD-fed CETP-expressing mice crossed with a Fgf4r knockout mouse.

Bile acids in the gut promote the production of the enterokine Fgf15/19, which signals to the liver through Fgf4r. Fgf4r signaling leads to decreased bile acid production and suppression of genes the products of which control gluconeogenesis.

Knocking out Fgf4r will allow us to assess the role of Fgf15/19 signaling to the liver in promoting insulin sensitivity in the CETP-expressing female mice. I propose to evaluate insulin sensitivity in the in CETP-expressing female mice that have Fqf4r knocked out or control CETP-expressing female mice fed HFD. I expect that the knockout of Fgf4r will result in decreased ERK1/2 phosphorylation in the liver and a reversal of the effects of CETP on *G6pc* and *Pck1* signaling. I expect that the Fgf4r knockout mice will show reduced hepatic glycogen storage capacity and increased hepatic gluconeogenesis, as FGF15/19 signaling through Fgf4r is known to promote glycogen storage and suppress gluconeogenesis in the liver. I expect that the Fgf4r knockouts, therefore, will result in a relative reduction in the insulin sensitivity phenotype observed in the CETP-expressing females. I also expect that cyp7a1 will be increased in the Fgf4r knockout mice, as Fgf4r signaling downregulates cyp7a1. This effect may prove confounding, as increased cyp7a1 promotes bile acid signaling and may increase the effect of bile acid signaling on muscle [228]. This study will allow us to determine if Fgf4r signaling to the liver is required for the observed changes in insulin sensitivity in the CETP-expressing mice.

# *3: Evaluate insulin sensitivity in HFD-fed CETP transgenic mice that are deficient in Gpbar1.*

A portion of bile acids (approximately 5%) escape the entero-hepatic circulation and enter into the serum. These bile acids activate a third bile acid receptor known as gprotein coupled bile acid receptor (Gpbar1). Gpbar1 signaling increases glucose oxidation in brown fat and skeletal muscle and may have an important role in the improved insulin sensitivity in the CETP-expressing female mice. Gpbar1 also acts in

the gut to promote secretion of Glp1, which is known to promote insulin secretion and has a protective effect on pancreatic beta cells. Crossing the CETP transgenic mouse line into a mouse model that lacks Gpbar1 expression will define if bile acid signaling through Gpbar1 is necessary for the resistance to diet-induced insulin resistance observed in the CETP-expressing female mice. I propose to evaluate insulin sensitivity in the in CETP/Gpbar1ko mice or control CETP-expressing female mice fed HFD.

I expect that knocking out Gpbar1 will reverse the protective effects of CETP expression on insulin sensitivity in the context of HFD. In my previous studies, I observed changes in the muscle of the CETP-expressing mice that are consistent with Gpbar1 signaling such as increased glycolysis, increased TCA cycle intermediates, and increased expression of Dio2, which is a known target of Gpbar1. I therefore expect that the CETP/GPBAR1ko mice would not show increased glycolysis or increased muscle glucose disposal and would therefore have impaired whole-body insulin sensitivity compared to the CETP-expressing mice. This experiment is critical to understanding the involvement of bile acid signaling in the CETP-expressing mice, as our previous observations suggest that Gpbar1 signaling is central to the observed improvement in insulin sensitivity. If Gpbar1 knockout does not alter whole-body insulin sensitivity, I propose that effects of bile acids on hepatic signaling to Shp and Fgf4r might be the main link between bile acids and the observed improvement in insulin sensitivity in CETP female mice. Additionally, bile acids promote secretion of Glp1 in the gut, which has an insulin sensitizing effect. Overall, this study will determine the contribution of bile acid signaling to muscle through Gpbar1.

#### 4: Quantify the levels of bile acid species in the CETP-expressing female mice

Recent studies of the role of bile acid signaling in metabolism have suggested that the composition of bile acid species may be more important than the size of the bile acid pool itself. In fact, bile acid sequestrants that decrease the bile acid pool size had a similar effect on insulin sensitivity to bile acid treatment [18]. Increased levels of taurocholic acid, which is a strong ligand for Gpbar1, were correlated with improved insulin sensitivity. Different bile acid species have variable degrees of potency in activating bile acid signaling pathways. For example, chenodeoxycholic acid is the strongest natural agonist for Fxr [229], while lithocholic acid is the strongest Gpbar1 agonist [230]. In my studies I measured bile acid species in liver, gut, and serum using a metabolomic approach that was optimized for more hydrophilic biochemicals. By performing a more targeted measurement of bile acid species, we can determine the effect of CETP expression on bile acid species, which could potentially contribute to the improvement in insulin sensitivity observed in the CETP-expressing female mice by differential activation of different bile acid signaling pathways.

## Sexual dimorphism

I observed a significant sexual dimorphism in insulin sensitivity in the CETPexpressing mice, with CETP expression having a much greater effect on insulin sensitivity in the female mice compared to the males. I propose that this sexual dimorphism is related signaling by female sex hormones, particularly estrogen. Estrogen signaling interacts with multiple signaling pathways critical to insulin

sensitivity, especially AKT and ERK signaling in the liver. Additionally, estrogen signaling is known to increase expression of LDLR in the liver, which is likely critical to CETP's ability to promote RCT. Investigating the role of estrogen signaling in CETP-expressing mice will allow for greater understanding of the observed sexual dimorphism in insulin sensitivity. I propose the following aims to investigate the mechanism of the sexual dimorphism in insulin sensitivity observed in the CETP-expressing mice. Understanding mechanisms that contribute to sex differences in the effect of CETP could help to provide further insight into the sexual dimorphism observed in CETP function in humans. CETP appears to have a beneficial role to promote RCT and improve glycemic control in women [12, 13, 131]. Additionally, since women are relatively protected from the risk of CHD, CETP expression could potentially be contributing to the reduced relative risk in human women. Further understanding of the interaction between female sex and CETP could help provide insight into the role of CETP in CHD in women.

## 1: Assess insulin sensitivity in CETP mice that lack ovarian hormones

Since we observed a strong phenotype with regards to insulin sensitivity in the female CETP mice only, I propose that female sex hormone signaling contributed to the observed phenotype. To test the hypothesis that female sex hormones are required for insulin sensitivity in the CETP-expressing female mice, ovarian hormones will be eliminated by surgical removal of the ovaries by ovariectomy. Ovariectomy will globally remove the contribution of all ovarian hormones to metabolism. I propose measuring insulin sensitivity in HFD-fed CETP females and WT littermates that have been either

treated with ovariectomy or sham surgery. If the ovariectomized CETP mice have similar insulin sensitivity to the WT sham mice, it would suggest that ovarian hormones are required for the protection against HFD-induced insulin resistance observed in the CETP female mice. I expect that the ovariectomized CETP female mice will not be protected against HFD-induced insulin sensitivity, as this effect appeared to depend on the presence of female sex hormones. Additionally, I expect that the ovariectomized mice will show lower levels of hepatic LDLR, which will interfere with CETP's ability to promote RCT. This study will improve our understanding of the mechanism by which female sex influences insulin sensitivity in CETP mice.

#### 2: Assess insulin sensitivity in CETP-expressing mice that lack hepatic ERa expression

Estrogen signaling to ERα in the liver is known to promote insulin sensitivity, as mice lacking ERα exhibit insulin resistance. To test the hypothesis that hepatic estrogen signaling is required to improve insulin sensitivity in CETP-expressing female mice, CETP mice will be bred with mice that lack ERα in the liver (Liver ERα knockout or LERKO). ERα signaling is known to alter hepatic metabolism, and liver ERα knockout mice exhibit hepatic insulin resistance. I propose measuring insulin sensitivity in female CETP mice and CETP/LERKO mice fed a HFD as well as WT littermate controls. If the CETP/LERKO mice show impaired insulin sensitivity compared to the CETP females, it would then appear that hepatic estrogen signaling is required to protect against HFD-induced insulin resistance in CETP mice. I expect that hepatic knockout of ERα in the CETP mice will reverse the phenotype of improved insulin resistance observed in the female CETP-expressing mice. Since ERα promotes expression of LDLR in the liver, I

expect that ERα knockout will interfere with CETP's ability to promote RCT, which I hypothesize is the mechanism by which CETP improves insulin sensitivity. This study will allow us to understand the specific contribution of hepatic ERα signaling to the insulin sensitivity phenotype in CETP female mice.

#### 3: Assess insulin sensitivity in male CETP mice that have been treated with estrogen

Since the insulin sensitivity phenotype mediated by transgenic expression of CETP is only observed in females, I hypothesize that female sex hormones such as estrogen are responsible for the difference in insulin sensitivity. To test the hypothesis that elevated estrogen signaling is sufficient to protect CETP mice against HFD-induced insulin resistance, I propose treating male CETP mice and their WT littermates with estrogen. Males normally have low levels of estrogen signaling, and increasing estrogen in males by implanting an estrogen pellet will increase estrogen signaling throughout the body. There is evidence from estrogen-treated human males that pharmacological doses of estrogen in males increases hepatic LDL receptor and accelerates the clearance of LDL [225]. I propose measuring insulin sensitivity in male HFD-fed CETP mice and their WT littermates treated with either an estrogen pellet or sham surgery. If the estrogen-treated CETP-expressing males show improved insulin sensitivity on HFD compared to the control CETP mice and estrogen-treated WT mice, it would suggest that estrogen signaling interacts with CETP activity to protect against HFD-induced insulin resistance. I expect to see an increase in hepatic LDL receptor in the estrogen treated mice. Since the RCT activity of CETP is dependent on LDL receptor levels, I expect that the estrogen-treated CETP males would show improved insulin sensitivity

compared to the control CETP males. This result would suggest that estrogen signaling is sufficient to improve insulin sensitivity in HFD-fed CETP-expressing mice and would provide further insight into the observed sexual dimorphism in insulin sensitivity.

## **CETP** mouse model

I used a mouse model of CETP that constitutively expresses CETP. Human CETP expression is regulated by diet, insulin, and ovarian hormones. Therefore, the improvement in insulin sensitivity and exercise capacity observed in the CETP transgenic mice may be a result of constitutive CETP expression. A second mouse model is available that expresses CETP under control of the human promoter. Studying HFD-induced insulin resistance in a mouse model that expresses CETP under the control of the human CETP promoter would allow us to further investigate the role of CETP in insulin sensitivity. Human CETP expression is increased by obesity [165] and estrogen [166], and its activity is acutely suppressed by insulin [167]. I propose assessing insulin sensitivity in male and female human CETP transgenic mice and their non-transgenic littermates fed 4 weeks of HFD. If the mice that express human CETP do not show an improvement in insulin resistance on HFD compared to littermates, it suggests that acute insulin suppression of CETP activity may impair the ability of CETP to improve insulin sensitivity. I expect that the female HFD-fed human CETP-expressing mice will show resistance to diet-induced insulin resistance, as obesity and estrogen increase CETP levels. The sexual dimorphism may be more pronounced in the human CETP mice, as CETP expression will likely be lower in males. This study will allow for

further testing of our hypothesis that CETP protects against HFD-induced insulin resistance to a more human-like model.

## Exercise capacity in CETP mice

## Bile acid signaling

I observed that CETP prevents the decline in exercise capacity associated with obesity in female mice. This improvement in exercise capacity correlated with increased muscle glycolysis and TCA cycling. Additionally, mitochondrial oxidative capacity was increased in the CETP-expressing mice compared to WT littermates. These results suggest an increase in muscle Gpbar1 signaling, which has been associated with increased energy expenditure and mitochondrial oxidation. Additionally, increased expression of *Dio2*, a target of bile acid signaling through Gpbar1 was observed in the muscle of CETP-expressing female mice. I propose that bile acid signaling through Gpbar1 in muscle leads to the improvement in exercise capacity observed in the female CETP mice. I propose the following aims to test the hypothesis that muscle Gpbar1 signaling improves exercise capacity by promoting mitochondrial glucose oxidation.

1: Determine if Gpbar1 signaling is necessary for improved exercise capacity in CETPexpressing mice

Bile acid signaling to Gpbar1 increases glucose oxidation in brown adipose tissue and skeletal muscle. I observed changes in glycolysis, TCA cycling, and mitochondrial function in the CETP-expressing female mice that were consistent with Gpbar1 signaling. I hypothesize that CETP promotes bile acid production leading to increased activation of Gpbar1, which allows for improved exercise capacity. To test the hypothesis that bile acid signaling through Gpbar1 is the mechanism by which CETP expression improves exercise capacity in HFD fed mice, I propose performing exercise capacity tests in female HFD-fed CETP mice and CETP/GPBAR1ko mice. If the CETP/GPBAR1ko mice show reduced exercise capacity compared to the CETP mice, it would seem that bile acid signaling through Gpbar1 is required for the improvement in exercise capacity observed in the CETP female mice. Since I observed a number of effects that are consistent with Gpbar1 signaling in the muscle of CETP female mice, I expect that knocking out Gpbar1 will decrease the exercise capacity phenotype observed in the CETP female mice. This study will allow us to determine whether bile acid signaling to Gpbar1 leads to CETP improves exercise capacity and will help define pathways that may improve exercise capacity in obese people.

#### 2: Determine if Gpbar1 activity is sufficient to improve exercise capacity

Signaling through Gpbar1 leads to increased glucose oxidation in brown adipose tissue and skeletal muscle. Since exercise capacity depends on the ability of muscle to oxidize substrate, I hypothesize that increasing Gpbar1 signaling would lead to improved exercise capacity. To test this hypothesis, I propose assessing exercise capacity in male and female HFD-fed WT mice treated with the Gpbar1 agonist INT777 or vehicle. If the INT777 mice show improved exercise capacity compared to the vehicle-treated mice it would suggest that activation of Gpbar1 is sufficient to improve exercise capacity in the context of HFD. Investigating the specific role of Gpbar1 in exercise capacity will allow for a better understanding of the role of bile acid signaling in

the CETP-expressing female mice and will determine if Gpbar1 activation alone is sufficient to improve exercise capacity.

## Sexual dimorphism

Based on the strong sexual dimorphism observed in insulin sensitivity in the CETP mice, I focused the exercise studies on female mice only, as they showed significantly improved insulin resistance compared to the CETP male mice. It is possible, however, that CETP-expressing male mice might have a difference in exercise capacity despite not showing a large change in overall insulin sensitivity when fed HFD. Therefore, I propose that exercise capacity should be studied in CETP-expressing male mice. Male CETP-expressing mice and their WT littermates would be subjected to an exercise test every 2 weeks while being fed HFD. If the CETP-expressing male mice show improved exercise capacity during the course of HFD compared to the WT littermates, it would suggest that there is not a significant sexual dimorphism in CETPexpressing mice with regard to exercise capacity. Since we did not observe an improvement in insulin sensitivity or an increase in gut bile acids in the CETPexpressing male mice, I do not expect to observe an improvement in exercise capacity in the HFD-fed CETP-expressing male mice compared to WT. If the CETP-expressing males do show improved exercise capacity on HFD, it would suggest that the mechanism by which CETP improves exercise capacity is separate from the mechanism that leads to improved insulin sensitivity.

## Human studies

My studies have shown that CETP expression improves exercise capacity in female mice. We are interested in expanding on the results from mice by investigating the role of CETP in exercise capacity in human females. To test the hypothesis that CETP activity improves exercise capacity in female humans, we have established a collaboration with Dr. Peter Bovary at the University of Michigan, who has studied female endurance athletes. We are planning to measure CETP activity in blood samples from trained athletes and untrained, age and BMI matched controls. If we observe a higher level of CETP activity in the highly trained athletes compared to controls it would suggest that CETP has a role in improving exercise capacity in humans. This study, however, would only establish a correlation between CETP and exercise capacity in female endurance athletes. Additionally, since both the athletes and controls are lean, this study would not investigate the effects of CETP on protecting against the obesityinduced decline in exercise capacity. In the ideal human study, CETP mass and/or activity would be correlated against exercise capacity in obese human females. If CETP expression has the same effect on improving exercise capacity in humans, I would expect that the patients with higher CETP mass/activity would show improved exercise capacity. These experiments will allow for a better understanding of the role of CETP in human exercise capacity and could potentially establish CETP as a diagnostic marker for exercise capacity.

## Conclusions

My dissertation project has demonstrated a novel role for CETP to protect female mice against HFD-induced insulin resistance and exercise intolerance. I have identified multiple pathways that may promote metabolically healthy obesity and have provided insight into the mechanism of sex differences in the role of CETP. My findings have raised questions for ongoing study regarding the contributions of bile acid signaling through Fxr, Fgf15/19, and Gpbar1 to improved metabolic health with obesity. Determining which of these pathways has the strongest effect on improved metabolic health could help provide new drug targets with the goal of improving insulin sensitivity and exercise capacity in obese people. Additionally, further investigation into the mechanism behind the strong sexual dimorphism observed in the CETP-expressing mice could lead to an improved understanding of the sexual dimorphism observed in clinical studies of CETP function as well as potentially address the sex difference observed in CHD in women. Overall, my studies represent a significant contribution to the understanding of the role of CETP in metabolic health and have raised important questions for ongoing studies that could lead to better treatments for the chronic metabolic effects of obesity.

# References

[1] Wadden TA. Treatment of obesity by moderate and severe caloric restriction. Results of clinical research trials. Annals of internal medicine. 1993;119:688-93.

[2] Wing RR, Phelan S. Long-term weight loss maintenance. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2005;82:222S-5S.

[3] Hulens M, Vansant G, Lysens R, Claessens AL, Muls E. Exercise capacity in lean versus obese women. Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports. 2001;11:305-9.

[4] Ribisl PM, Lang W, Jaramillo SA, Jakicic JM, Stewart KJ, Bahnson J, et al. Exercise capacity and cardiovascular/metabolic characteristics of overweight and obese individuals with type 2 diabetes: the Look AHEAD clinical trial. Diabetes care. 2007;30:2679-84.

[5] Potter LK, Sprecher DL, Walker MC, Tobin FL. Mechanism of inhibition defines CETP activity: a mathematical model for CETP in vitro. Journal of lipid research. 2009;50:2222-34.

[6] Lewis GF, Rader DJ. New Insights Into the Regulation of HDL Metabolism and Reverse Cholesterol Transport. Circulation research. 2005;96:1221-32.

[7] Barter PJ, Brewer HB, Jr., Chapman MJ, Hennekens CH, Rader DJ, Tall AR. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein: a novel target for raising HDL and inhibiting atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;23:160-7.

[8] Nissen SE, Tardif JC, Nicholls SJ, Revkin JH, Shear CL, Duggan WT, et al. Effect of torcetrapib on the progression of coronary atherosclerosis. The New England journal of medicine. 2007;356:1304-16.

[9] Schwartz GG, Olsson AG, Abt M, Ballantyne CM, Barter PJ, Brumm J, et al. Effects of dalcetrapib in patients with a recent acute coronary syndrome. The New England journal of medicine. 2012;367:2089-99.

[10] El Bouhassani M, Gilibert S, Moreau M, Saint-Charles F, Treguier M, Poti F, et al. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein expression partially attenuates the adverse effects of SR-BI receptor deficiency on cholesterol metabolism and atherosclerosis. J Biol Chem. 2011;286:17227-38.

[11] Tanigawa H, Billheimer JT, Tohyama J, Zhang Y, Rothblat G, Rader DJ. Expression of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in mice promotes macrophage reverse cholesterol transport. Circulation. 2007;116:1267-73.

[12] Villard EF, El Khoury P, Duchene E, Bonnefont-Rousselot D, Clement K, Bruckert E, et al. Elevated CETP activity improves plasma cholesterol efflux capacity from human macrophages in women. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012;32:2341-9.

[13] Asztalos BF, Swarbrick MM, Schaefer EJ, Dallal GE, Horvath KV, Ai M, et al. Effects of weight loss, induced by gastric bypass surgery, on HDL remodeling in obese women. Journal of lipid research. 2010;51:2405-12.

[14] Kir S, Beddow SA, Samuel VT, Miller P, Previs SF, Suino-Powell K, et al. FGF19 as a postprandial, insulin-independent activator of hepatic protein and glycogen synthesis. Science. 2011;331:1621-4.

[15] Potthoff MJ, Boney-Montoya J, Choi M, He T, Sunny NE, Satapati S, et al. FGF15/19 regulates hepatic glucose metabolism by inhibiting the CREB-PGC-1alpha pathway. Cell metabolism. 2011;13:729-38.

[16] Thomas C, Gioiello A, Noriega L, Strehle A, Oury J, Rizzo G, et al. TGR5-mediated bile acid sensing controls glucose homeostasis. Cell metabolism. 2009;10:167-77.

[17] Watanabe M, Houten SM, Mataki C, Christoffolete MA, Kim BW, Sato H, et al. Bile acids induce energy expenditure by promoting intracellular thyroid hormone activation. Nature. 2006;439:484-9.

[18] Watanabe M, Morimoto K, Houten SM, Kaneko-Iwasaki N, Sugizaki T, Horai Y, et al. Bile acid binding resin improves metabolic control through the induction of energy expenditure. PloS one. 2012;7:e38286.

[19] Brooks GA. Mammalian fuel utilization during sustained exercise. Comparative biochemistry and physiology Part B, Biochemistry & molecular biology. 1998;120:89-107.

[20] Isomaa B, Almgren P, Tuomi T, Forsen B, Lahti K, Nissen M, et al. Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality associated with the metabolic syndrome. Diabetes care. 2001;24:683-9.

[21] Chan JM, Rimm EB, Colditz GA, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC. Obesity, fat distribution, and weight gain as risk factors for clinical diabetes in men. Diabetes care. 1994;17:961-9.

[22] Colditz GA, Willett WC, Rotnitzky A, Manson JE. Weight gain as a risk factor for clinical diabetes mellitus in women. Annals of internal medicine. 1995;122:481-6.

[23] Hubert HB, Feinleib M, McNamara PM, Castelli WP. Obesity as an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease: a 26-year follow-up of participants in the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation. 1983;67:968-77.

[24] Organization WH. Obesity: Preventing and managing the global epidemic. In: Obesity WCo, editor. WHO Technical Report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2000. p. 252.

[25] Finucane MM, Stevens GA, Cowan MJ, Danaei G, Lin JK, Paciorek CJ, et al. National, regional, and global trends in body-mass index since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 960 country-years and 9.1 million participants. Lancet. 2011;377:557-67.

[26] Ogden CL, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. Prevalence of obesity among adults: United States, 2011-2012. NCHS data brief. 2013:1-8.

[27] Cawley J, Meyerhoefer C. The medical care costs of obesity: an instrumental variables approach. Journal of health economics. 2012;31:219-30.

[28] Wang YC, McPherson K, Marsh T, Gortmaker SL, Brown M. Health and economic burden of the projected obesity trends in the USA and the UK. Lancet. 2011;378:815-25.

[29] Wing RR, Lang W, Wadden TA, Safford M, Knowler WC, Bertoni AG, et al. Benefits of modest weight loss in improving cardiovascular risk factors in overweight and obese individuals with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes care. 2011;34:1481-6.

[30] Kuhl J, Hilding A, Ostenson CG, Grill V, Efendic S, Bavenholm P. Characterisation of subjects with early abnormalities of glucose tolerance in the Stockholm Diabetes Prevention Programme: the impact of sex and type 2 diabetes heredity. Diabetologia. 2005;48:35-40.

[31] Macotela Y, Boucher J, Tran TT, Kahn CR. Sex and depot differences in adipocyte insulin sensitivity and glucose metabolism. Diabetes. 2009;58:803-12.

[32] Morishima A, Grumbach MM, Simpson ER, Fisher C, Qin K. Aromatase deficiency in male and female siblings caused by a novel mutation and the physiological role of estrogens. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1995;80:3689-98.

[33] Tchernof A, Calles-Escandon J, Sites CK, Poehlman ET. Menopause, central body fatness, and insulin resistance: effects of hormone-replacement therapy. Coronary artery disease. 1998;9:503-11.

[34] Tchernof A, Poehlman ET. Effects of the menopause transition on body fatness and

body fat distribution. Obes Res. 1998;6:246-54.

[35] Matthews J, Gustafsson JA. Estrogen signaling: a subtle balance between ER alpha and ER beta. Molecular interventions. 2003;3:281-92.

[36] Bryzgalova G, Gao H, Ahren B, Zierath JR, Galuska D, Steiler TL, et al. Evidence that oestrogen receptor-alpha plays an important role in the regulation of glucose homeostasis in mice: insulin sensitivity in the liver. Diabetologia. 2006;49:588-97.

[37] Bonadonna RC, Groop L, Kraemer N, Ferrannini E, Del Prato S, DeFronzo RA. Obesity and insulin resistance in humans: a dose-response study. Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 1990;39:452-9.

[38] Mosca L, Manson JE, Sutherland SE, Langer RD, Manolio T, Barrett-Connor E. Cardiovascular disease in women: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association. Writing Group. Circulation. 1997;96:2468-82.

[39] Mendis S PP, Norrving B. Global Atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control. In: Organization WH, editor. Geneva: World HEalth Organization; 2011.

[40] Kannel WB, Dawber TR, Thomas HE, Jr., McNamara PM. Comparison of Serum Lipids in the Prediction of Coronary Heart Disease. Framingham Study Indicates That Cholesterol Level and Blood Pressure Are Major Factors in Coronary Heart Disease; Effect of Obesity and Cigarette Smoking Also Noted. Rhode Island medical journal. 1965;48:243-50.

[41] Kannel WB, Dawber TR, Kagan A, Revotskie N, Stokes J, 3rd. Factors of risk in the development of coronary heart disease--six year follow-up experience. The Framingham Study. Annals of internal medicine. 1961;55:33-50.

[42] Kannel WB, Hjortland MC, McNamara PM, Gordon T. Menopause and risk of cardiovascular disease: the Framingham study. Annals of internal medicine. 1976;85:447-52.

[43] Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, Adams RJ, Berry JD, Brown TM, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2011 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2011;123:e18-e209.

[44] Madison LL. Role of insulin in the hepatic handling of glucose. Arch Intern Med. 1969;123:284-92.

[45] Exton JH, Mallette LE, Jefferson LS, Wong EH, Friedmann N, Miller TB, Jr., et al. The hormonal control of hepatic gluconeogenesis. Recent Prog Horm Res.

1970;26:411-61.

[46] Cherrington AD, Chiasson JL, Liljenquist JE, Lacy WW, Park CR. Control of hepatic glucose output by glucagon and insulin in the intact dog. Biochemical Society symposium. 1978:31-45.

[47] Assimacopoulos-Jeannet F, Karakash C, Le Marchand Y, Jeanrenaud B. Insulin effect upon lipogenesis of perfused mouse liver. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 1977;498:91-101.

[48] Sparks JD, Sparks CE. Insulin regulation of triacylglycerol-rich lipoprotein synthesis and secretion. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 1994;1215:9-32.

[49] Michael MD, Kulkarni RN, Postic C, Previs SF, Shulman GI, Magnuson MA, et al. Loss of insulin signaling in hepatocytes leads to severe insulin resistance and progressive hepatic dysfunction. Molecular cell. 2000;6:87-97.

[50] Morgan HE, Henderson MJ, Regen DM, Park CR. Regulation of glucose uptake in muscle. I. The effects of insulin and anoxia on glucose transport and phosphorylation in the isolated, perfused heart of normal rats. J Biol Chem. 1961;236:253-61.

[51] Crofford OB, Renold AE. Glucose Uptake by Incubated Rat Epididymal Adipose Tissue. Characteristics of the Glucose Transport System and Action of Insulin. J Biol Chem. 1965;240:3237-44.

[52] Kasuga M, Zick Y, Blithe DL, Crettaz M, Kahn CR. Insulin stimulates tyrosine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor in a cell-free system. Nature. 1982;298:667-9.

[53] Sun XJ, Rothenberg P, Kahn CR, Backer JM, Araki E, Wilden PA, et al. Structure of the insulin receptor substrate IRS-1 defines a unique signal transduction protein. Nature. 1991;352:73-7.

[54] Franke TF, Yang SI, Chan TO, Datta K, Kazlauskas A, Morrison DK, et al. The protein kinase encoded by the Akt proto-oncogene is a target of the PDGF-activated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. Cell. 1995;81:727-36.

[55] Alessi DR, Andjelkovic M, Caudwell B, Cron P, Morrice N, Cohen P, et al. Mechanism of activation of protein kinase B by insulin and IGF-1. The EMBO journal. 1996;15:6541-51.

[56] Alessi DR, James SR, Downes CP, Holmes AB, Gaffney PR, Reese CB, et al. Characterization of a 3-phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase which phosphorylates and activates protein kinase Balpha. Current biology : CB. 1997;7:261-9. [57] Bondeva T, Pirola L, Bulgarelli-Leva G, Rubio I, Wetzker R, Wymann MP. Bifurcation of lipid and protein kinase signals of PI3Kgamma to the protein kinases PKB and MAPK. Science. 1998;282:293-6.

[58] Guertin DA, Stevens DM, Thoreen CC, Burds AA, Kalaany NY, Moffat J, et al. Ablation in mice of the mTORC components raptor, rictor, or mLST8 reveals that mTORC2 is required for signaling to Akt-FOXO and PKCalpha, but not S6K1. Developmental cell. 2006;11:859-71.

[59] Puigserver P, Rhee J, Donovan J, Walkey CJ, Yoon JC, Oriente F, et al. Insulinregulated hepatic gluconeogenesis through FOXO1-PGC-1alpha interaction. Nature. 2003;423:550-5.

[60] Kamagate A, Qu S, Perdomo G, Su D, Kim DH, Slusher S, et al. FoxO1 mediates insulin-dependent regulation of hepatic VLDL production in mice. J Clin Invest. 2008;118:2347-64.

[61] Cross DA, Alessi DR, Cohen P, Andjelkovich M, Hemmings BA. Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. Nature. 1995;378:785-9.

[62] Rommel C, Bodine SC, Clarke BA, Rossman R, Nunez L, Stitt TN, et al. Mediation of IGF-1-induced skeletal myotube hypertrophy by PI(3)K/Akt/mTOR and PI(3)K/Akt/GSK3 pathways. Nature cell biology. 2001;3:1009-13.

[63] Skolnik EY, Batzer A, Li N, Lee CH, Lowenstein E, Mohammadi M, et al. The function of GRB2 in linking the insulin receptor to Ras signaling pathways. Science. 1993;260:1953-5.

[64] Skolnik EY, Lee CH, Batzer A, Vicentini LM, Zhou M, Daly R, et al. The SH2/SH3 domain-containing protein GRB2 interacts with tyrosine-phosphorylated IRS1 and Shc: implications for insulin control of ras signalling. The EMBO journal. 1993;12:1929-36.

[65] Zimmermann S MK. Phosphorylation and regulation of Raf by Akt (protein kinase B). Science. 1999;286:1741-4.

[66] Foretz M, Pacot C, Dugail I, Lemarchand P, Guichard C, Le Liepvre X, et al. ADD1/SREBP-1c is required in the activation of hepatic lipogenic gene expression by glucose. Molecular and cellular biology. 1999;19:3760-8.

[67] Hegarty BD, Bobard A, Hainault I, Ferre P, Bossard P, Foufelle F. Distinct roles of insulin and liver X receptor in the induction and cleavage of sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:791-6.

[68] Suzuki S, Karube I, Matsunaga T, Kuriyama S, Suzuki N, Shirogami T, et al. Biochemical energy conversion using immobilized whole cells of Clostridium butyricum. Biochimie. 1980;62:353-8.

[69] Marette A, Richardson JM, Ramlal T, Balon TW, Vranic M, Pessin JE, et al. Abundance, localization, and insulin-induced translocation of glucose transporters in red and white muscle. The American journal of physiology. 1992;263:C443-52.

[70] Kohn AD, Summers SA, Birnbaum MJ, Roth RA. Expression of a constitutively active Akt Ser/Thr kinase in 3T3-L1 adipocytes stimulates glucose uptake and glucose transporter 4 translocation. J Biol Chem. 1996;271:31372-8.

[71] Cong LN, Chen H, Li Y, Zhou L, McGibbon MA, Taylor SI, et al. Physiological role of Akt in insulin-stimulated translocation of GLUT4 in transfected rat adipose cells. Mol Endocrinol. 1997;11:1881-90.

[72] Wang Q, Somwar R, Bilan PJ, Liu Z, Jin J, Woodgett JR, et al. Protein kinase B/Akt participates in GLUT4 translocation by insulin in L6 myoblasts. Molecular and cellular biology. 1999;19:4008-18.

[73] Sano H, Kane S, Sano E, Miinea CP, Asara JM, Lane WS, et al. Insulin-stimulated phosphorylation of a Rab GTPase-activating protein regulates GLUT4 translocation. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:14599-602.

[74] Eguez L, Lee A, Chavez JA, Miinea CP, Kane S, Lienhard GE, et al. Full intracellular retention of GLUT4 requires AS160 Rab GTPase activating protein. Cell metabolism. 2005;2:263-72.

[75] Reaven GM. Banting lecture 1988. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes. 1988;37:1595-607.

[76] Hollenbeck C, Reaven GM. Variations in insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in healthy individuals with normal glucose tolerance. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1987;64:1169-73.

[77] Reaven GM. Insulin secretion and insulin action in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: which defect is primary? Diabetes care. 1984;7 Suppl 1:17-24.

[78] Polonsky KS, Sturis J, Bell GI. Seminars in Medicine of the Beth Israel Hospital, Boston. Non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus - a genetically programmed failure of the beta cell to compensate for insulin resistance. The New England journal of medicine. 1996;334:777-83. [79] DeFronzo RA, Ferrannini E. Insulin resistance. A multifaceted syndrome responsible for NIDDM, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. Diabetes care. 1991;14:173-94.

[80] Hamburg NM, McMackin CJ, Huang AL, Shenouda SM, Widlansky ME, Schulz E, et al. Physical inactivity rapidly induces insulin resistance and microvascular dysfunction in healthy volunteers. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2007;27:2650-6.

[81] Aguirre V, Werner ED, Giraud J, Lee YH, Shoelson SE, White MF. Phosphorylation of Ser307 in insulin receptor substrate-1 blocks interactions with the insulin receptor and inhibits insulin action. J Biol Chem. 2002;277:1531-7.

[82] Moeschel K, Beck A, Weigert C, Lammers R, Kalbacher H, Voelter W, et al. Protein kinase C-zeta-induced phosphorylation of Ser318 in insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1) attenuates the interaction with the insulin receptor and the tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:25157-63.

[83] Samuel VT, Liu ZX, Qu X, Elder BD, Bilz S, Befroy D, et al. Mechanism of hepatic insulin resistance in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:32345-53.

[84] Oakes ND, Bell KS, Furler SM, Camilleri S, Saha AK, Ruderman NB, et al. Dietinduced muscle insulin resistance in rats is ameliorated by acute dietary lipid withdrawal or a single bout of exercise: parallel relationship between insulin stimulation of glucose uptake and suppression of long-chain fatty acyl-CoA. Diabetes. 1997;46:2022-8.

[85] Oakes ND, Cooney GJ, Camilleri S, Chisholm DJ, Kraegen EW. Mechanisms of liver and muscle insulin resistance induced by chronic high-fat feeding. Diabetes. 1997;46:1768-74.

[86] Weir GC, Bonner-Weir S. Five stages of evolving beta-cell dysfunction during progression to diabetes. Diabetes. 2004;53 Suppl 3:S16-21.

[87] Leibowitz G, Uckaya G, Oprescu AI, Cerasi E, Gross DJ, Kaiser N. Glucoseregulated proinsulin gene expression is required for adequate insulin production during chronic glucose exposure. Endocrinology. 2002;143:3214-20.

[88] Ward WK, Bolgiano DC, McKnight B, Halter JB, Porte D, Jr. Diminished B cell secretory capacity in patients with noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest. 1984;74:1318-28.

[89] Butler AE, Janson J, Soeller WC, Butler PC. Increased beta-cell apoptosis prevents adaptive increase in beta-cell mass in mouse model of type 2 diabetes: evidence for role of islet amyloid formation rather than direct action of amyloid. Diabetes.

2003;52:2304-14.

[90] Butler AE, Janson J, Bonner-Weir S, Ritzel R, Rizza RA, Butler PC. Beta-cell deficit and increased beta-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2003;52:102-10.

[91] Orskov C. Glucagon-like peptide-1, a new hormone of the entero-insular axis. Diabetologia. 1992;35:701-11.

[92] Nauck MA, Bartels E, Orskov C, Ebert R, Creutzfeldt W. Additive insulinotropic effects of exogenous synthetic human gastric inhibitory polypeptide and glucagon-like peptide-1-(7-36) amide infused at near-physiological insulinotropic hormone and glucose concentrations. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1993;76:912-7.

[93] Nauck MA, Heimesaat MM, Orskov C, Holst JJ, Ebert R, Creutzfeldt W. Preserved incretin activity of glucagon-like peptide 1 [7-36 amide] but not of synthetic human gastric inhibitory polypeptide in patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Invest. 1993;91:301-7.

[94] Edvell A, Lindstrom P. Initiation of increased pancreatic islet growth in young normoglycemic mice (Umea +/?). Endocrinology. 1999;140:778-83.

[95] Buteau J, Roduit R, Susini S, Prentki M. Glucagon-like peptide-1 promotes DNA synthesis, activates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and increases transcription factor pancreatic and duodenal homeobox gene 1 (PDX-1) DNA binding activity in beta (INS-1)-cells. Diabetologia. 1999;42:856-64.

[96] Stoffers DA, Kieffer TJ, Hussain MA, Drucker DJ, Bonner-Weir S, Habener JF, et al. Insulinotropic glucagon-like peptide 1 agonists stimulate expression of homeodomain protein IDX-1 and increase islet size in mouse pancreas. Diabetes. 2000;49:741-8.

[97] Preis SR, Pencina MJ, Hwang SJ, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Savage PJ, Levy D, et al. Trends in cardiovascular disease risk factors in individuals with and without diabetes mellitus in the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation. 2009;120:212-20.

[98] Knott TJ, Pease RJ, Powell LM, Wallis SC, Rall SC, Jr., Innerarity TL, et al. Complete protein sequence and identification of structural domains of human apolipoprotein B. Nature. 1986;323:734-8.

[99] Boren J, Graham L, Wettesten M, Scott J, White A, Olofsson SO. The assembly and secretion of ApoB 100-containing lipoproteins in Hep G2 cells. ApoB 100 is cotranslationally integrated into lipoproteins. J Biol Chem. 1992;267:9858-67. [100] Bostrom K, Boren J, Wettesten M, Sjoberg A, Bondjers G, Wiklund O, et al. Studies on the assembly of apo B-100-containing lipoproteins in HepG2 cells. J Biol Chem. 1988;263:4434-42.

[101] Stillemark-Billton P, Beck C, Boren J, Olofsson SO. Relation of the size and intracellular sorting of apoB to the formation of VLDL 1 and VLDL 2. Journal of lipid research. 2005;46:104-14.

[102] Eckel RH. Lipoprotein lipase. A multifunctional enzyme relevant to common metabolic diseases. The New England journal of medicine. 1989;320:1060-8.

[103] Campos H, Dreon DM, Krauss RM. Associations of hepatic and lipoprotein lipase activities with changes in dietary composition and low density lipoprotein subclasses. Journal of lipid research. 1995;36:462-72.

[104] Wu K, Cappel D, Martinez M, Stafford JM. Impaired-inactivation of FoxO1 contributes to glucose-mediated increases in serum very low-density lipoprotein. Endocrinology. 2010;151:3566-76.

[105] Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Selective versus total insulin resistance: a pathogenic paradox. Cell metabolism. 2008;7:95-6.

[106] Kuchinskiene Z, Carlson LA. Composition, concentration, and size of low density lipoproteins and of subfractions of very low density lipoproteins from serum of normal men and women. Journal of lipid research. 1982;23:762-9.

[107] Christie W. Plasma Lipoproteins: Composition, Structure and Biochemistry. In: Harwood J, editor. The AOCS Lipid Library. Urbana, IL: The American Oil Chemists' Society; 2014.

[108] Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Receptor-mediated endocytosis: insights from the lipoprotein receptor system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1979;76:3330-7.

[109] Goldstein JL, Brown MS. Binding and degradation of low density lipoproteins by cultured human fibroblasts. Comparison of cells from a normal subject and from a patient with homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. J Biol Chem. 1974;249:5153-62.

[110] Goldstein JL, Basu SK, Brunschede GY, Brown MS. Release of low density lipoprotein from its cell surface receptor by sulfated glycosaminoglycans. Cell. 1976;7:85-95.

[111] Ishibashi S, Brown MS, Goldstein JL, Gerard RD, Hammer RE, Herz J. Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery. J Clin Invest. 1993;92:883-93.

[112] Hobbs HH, Brown MS, Russell DW, Davignon J, Goldstein JL. Deletion in the gene for the low-density-lipoprotein receptor in a majority of French Canadians with familial hypercholesterolemia. The New England journal of medicine. 1987;317:734-7.

[113] Lamarche B, Tchernof A, Moorjani S, Cantin B, Dagenais GR, Lupien PJ, et al. Small, dense low-density lipoprotein particles as a predictor of the risk of ischemic heart disease in men. Prospective results from the Quebec Cardiovascular Study. Circulation. 1997;95:69-75.

[114] Brouillette CG, Anantharamaiah GM, Engler JA, Borhani DW. Structural models of human apolipoprotein A-I: a critical analysis and review. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2001;1531:4-46.

[115] Segrest JP, Jones MK, De Loof H, Brouillette CG, Venkatachalapathi YV, Anantharamaiah GM. The amphipathic helix in the exchangeable apolipoproteins: a review of secondary structure and function. Journal of lipid research. 1992;33:141-66.

[116] Saito H, Dhanasekaran P, Nguyen D, Deridder E, Holvoet P, Lund-Katz S, et al. Alpha-helix formation is required for high affinity binding of human apolipoprotein A-I to lipids. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:20974-81.

[117] Saito H, Dhanasekaran P, Nguyen D, Holvoet P, Lund-Katz S, Phillips MC. Domain structure and lipid interaction in human apolipoproteins A-I and E, a general model. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:23227-32.

[118] Segrest JP, Jones MK, Dashti N. N-terminal domain of apolipoprotein B has structural homology to lipovitellin and microsomal triglyceride transfer protein: a "lipid pocket" model for self-assembly of apob-containing lipoprotein particles. Journal of lipid research. 1999;40:1401-16.

[119] Silva RA, Huang R, Morris J, Fang J, Gracheva EO, Ren G, et al. Structure of apolipoprotein A-I in spherical high density lipoproteins of different sizes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:12176-81.

[120] Santamarina-Fojo S, Lambert G, Hoeg JM, Brewer HB, Jr. Lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase: role in lipoprotein metabolism, reverse cholesterol transport and atherosclerosis. Current opinion in lipidology. 2000;11:267-75.

[121] Fielding CJ, Fielding PE. Molecular physiology of reverse cholesterol transport. Journal of lipid research. 1995;36:211-28.

[122] Lawn RM, Wade DP, Garvin MR, Wang X, Schwartz K, Porter JG, et al. The Tangier disease gene product ABC1 controls the cellular apolipoprotein-mediated lipid removal pathway. J Clin Invest. 1999;104:R25-31.

[123] Acton S, Rigotti A, Landschulz KT, Xu S, Hobbs HH, Krieger M. Identification of scavenger receptor SR-BI as a high density lipoprotein receptor. Science. 1996;271:518-20.

[124] Rodrigueza WV, Thuahnai ST, Temel RE, Lund-Katz S, Phillips MC, Williams DL. Mechanism of scavenger receptor class B type I-mediated selective uptake of cholesteryl esters from high density lipoprotein to adrenal cells. J Biol Chem. 1999;274:20344-50.

[125] Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Lipoprotein metabolism in the macrophage: implications for cholesterol deposition in atherosclerosis. Annual review of biochemistry. 1983;52:223-61.

[126] Lamarche B, Despres JP, Pouliot MC, Prud'homme D, Moorjani S, Lupien PJ, et al. Metabolic heterogeneity associated with high plasma triglyceride or low HDL cholesterol levels in men. Arteriosclerosis and thrombosis : a journal of vascular biology / American Heart Association. 1993;13:33-40.

[127] Tall AR. Plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein and high-density lipoproteins: new insights from molecular genetic studies. Journal of internal medicine. 1995;237:5-12.

[128] Olivecrona G, Olivecrona T. Triglyceride lipases and atherosclerosis. Current opinion in lipidology. 1995;6:291-305.

[129] Horowitz BS, Goldberg IJ, Merab J, Vanni TM, Ramakrishnan R, Ginsberg HN. Increased plasma and renal clearance of an exchangeable pool of apolipoprotein A-I in subjects with low levels of high density lipoprotein cholesterol. J Clin Invest. 1993;91:1743-52.

[130] Lamarche B, Uffelman KD, Carpentier A, Cohn JS, Steiner G, Barrett PH, et al. Triglyceride enrichment of HDL enhances in vivo metabolic clearance of HDL apo A-I in healthy men. J Clin Invest. 1999;103:1191-9.

[131] Villard EF, Khoury PE, Frisdal E, Bruckert E, Clement K, Bonnefont-Rousselot D, et al. Genetic Determination of Plasma Cholesterol Efflux Capacity Is Gender-Specific and Independent of HDL-Cholesterol Levels. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2013.

[132] Zhang L, Yan F, Zhang S, Lei D, Charles MA, Cavigiolio G, et al. Structural basis

of transfer between lipoproteins by cholesteryl ester transfer protein. Nature chemical biology. 2012;8:342-9.

[133] Qiu X, Mistry A, Ammirati MJ, Chrunyk BA, Clark RW, Cong Y, et al. Crystal structure of cholesteryl ester transfer protein reveals a long tunnel and four bound lipid molecules. Nature structural & molecular biology. 2007;14:106-13.

[134] Hall J, Qiu X. Structural and biophysical insight into cholesteryl ester-transfer protein. Biochemical Society transactions. 2011;39:1000-5.

[135] Wang S, Deng LP, Brown ML, Agellon LB, Tall AR. Structure-function studies of human cholesteryl ester transfer protein by linker insertion scanning mutagenesis. Biochemistry. 1991;30:3484-90.

[136] Charles MA, Kane JP. New molecular insights into CETP structure and function: a review. Journal of lipid research. 2012;53:1451-8.

[137] Serdyuk AP, Morton RE. Lipid transfer inhibitor protein defines the participation of lipoproteins in lipid transfer reactions: CETP has no preference for cholesteryl esters in HDL versus LDL. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1999;19:718-26.

[138] Barter PJ, Jones ME. Kinetic studies of the transfer of esterified cholesterol between human plasma low and high density lipoproteins. Journal of lipid research. 1980;21:238-49.

[139] Ihm J, Quinn DM, Busch SJ, Chataing B, Harmony JA. Kinetics of plasma proteincatalyzed exchange of phosphatidylcholine and cholesteryl ester between plasma lipoproteins. Journal of lipid research. 1982;23:1328-41.

[140] Zhang Z, Yamashita S, Hirano K, Nakagawa-Toyama Y, Matsuyama A, Nishida M, et al. Expression of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in human atherosclerotic lesions and its implication in reverse cholesterol transport. Atherosclerosis. 2001;159:67-75.

[141] Izem L, Morton RE. Possible role for intracellular cholesteryl ester transfer protein in adipocyte lipid metabolism and storage. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:21856-65.

[142] Tchoua U, D'Souza W, Mukhamedova N, Blum D, Niesor E, Mizrahi J, et al. The effect of cholesteryl ester transfer protein overexpression and inhibition on reverse cholesterol transport. Cardiovascular research. 2008;77:732-9.

[143] Bernard S, Moulin P, Lagrost L, Picard S, Elchebly M, Ponsin G, et al. Association between plasma HDL-cholesterol concentration and Taq1B CETP gene polymorphism in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Journal of lipid research. 1998;39:59-65.

[144] Ordovas JM, Cupples LA, Corella D, Otvos JD, Osgood D, Martinez A, et al. Association of cholesteryl ester transfer protein-TaqIB polymorphism with variations in lipoprotein subclasses and coronary heart disease risk: the Framingham study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000;20:1323-9.

[145] Kashani Farid MA, Azizi F, Hedayati M, Daneshpour MS, Shamshiri AR, Siassi F. Association between CETP Taq1B and LIPC -514C/T polymorphisms with the serum lipid levels in a group of Tehran's population: a cross sectional study. Lipids in health and disease. 2010;9:96.

[146] Yu Q, Liu EQ, Zhao SH, Li YF, Wang YL, Chen YL, et al. Association between TaqIB polymorphism of cholesteryl ester transfer protein and coronary artery disease in the Chinese population. Journal of Zhejiang University Science B. 2012;13:342-7.

[147] Rejeb J, Omezzine A, Boumaiza I, Rebhi L, Rejeb NB, Nabli N, et al. Four polymorphisms of cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene and coronary stenosis in a Tunisian population. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown). 2012;13:546-53.

[148] Rahimi Z, Nourozi-Rad R, Vaisi-Raygani A, Saidi MR, Rahimi Z, Ahmadi R, et al. Association between cholesteryl ester transfer protein TaqIB variants and risk of coronary artery disease and diabetes mellitus in the population of western Iran. Genetic testing and molecular biomarkers. 2011;15:813-9.

[149] Carlquist JF, Muhlestein JB, Horne BD, Hart NI, Bair TL, Molhuizen HO, et al. The cholesteryl ester transfer protein Taq1B gene polymorphism predicts clinical benefit of statin therapy in patients with significant coronary artery disease. American heart journal. 2003;146:1007-14.

[150] Porchay-Balderelli I, Pean F, Bellili N, Jaziri R, Marre M, Fumeron F. The CETP TaqIB polymorphism is associated with the risk of sudden death in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes care. 2007;30:2863-7.

[151] Lu Y, Tayebi N, Li H, Saha N, Yang H, Heng CK. Association of CETP Taq1B and -629C > A polymorphisms with coronary artery disease and lipid levels in the multiethnic Singaporean population. Lipids in health and disease. 2013;12:85.

[152] Padmaja N, Kumar RM, Balachander J, Adithan C. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein TaqIB, -629C>A and I405V polymorphisms and risk of coronary heart disease in an Indian population. Clinica chimica acta; international journal of clinical chemistry. 2009;402:139-45.

[153] Barter PJ, Caulfield M, Eriksson M, Grundy SM, Kastelein JJ, Komajda M, et al. Effects of torcetrapib in patients at high risk for coronary events. The New England journal of medicine. 2007;357:2109-22.

[154] Clark RW, Ruggeri RB, Cunningham D, Bamberger MJ. Description of the torcetrapib series of cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitors, including mechanism of action. Journal of lipid research. 2006;47:537-52.

[155] Forrest MJ, Bloomfield D, Briscoe RJ, Brown PN, Cumiskey AM, Ehrhart J, et al. Torcetrapib-induced blood pressure elevation is independent of CETP inhibition and is accompanied by increased circulating levels of aldosterone. British journal of pharmacology. 2008;154:1465-73.

[156] Ranalletta M, Bierilo KK, Chen Y, Milot D, Chen Q, Tung E, et al. Biochemical characterization of cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitors. Journal of lipid research. 2010;51:2739-52.

[157] Niesor EJ, Magg C, Ogawa N, Okamoto H, von der Mark E, Matile H, et al. Modulating cholesteryl ester transfer protein activity maintains efficient pre-beta-HDL formation and increases reverse cholesterol transport. Journal of lipid research. 2010;51:3443-54.

[158] Brousseau ME, Diffenderfer MR, Millar JS, Nartsupha C, Asztalos BF, Welty FK, et al. Effects of cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibition on high-density lipoprotein subspecies, apolipoprotein A-I metabolism, and fecal sterol excretion. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005;25:1057-64.

[159] Fayad ZA, Mani V, Woodward M, Kallend D, Abt M, Burgess T, et al. Safety and efficacy of dalcetrapib on atherosclerotic disease using novel non-invasive multimodality imaging (dal-PLAQUE): a randomised clinical trial. Lancet. 2011;378:1547-59.

[160] Dullaart RP, Sluiter WJ, Dikkeschei LD, Hoogenberg K, Van Tol A. Effect of adiposity on plasma lipid transfer protein activities: a possible link between insulin resistance and high density lipoprotein metabolism. Eur J Clin Invest. 1994;24:188-94.

[161] Maclean PS, Tanner CJ, Houmard JA, Barakat HA. Plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein activity is not linked to insulin sensitivity. Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 2001;50:783-8.

[162] Agerholm-Larsen B, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, Schnohr P, Steffensen R, Nordestgaard BG. Common cholesteryl ester transfer protein mutations, decreased HDL cholesterol, and possible decreased risk of ischemic heart disease: The Copenhagen City Heart Study. Circulation. 2000;102:2197-203.

[163] Purnell JQ, Kahn SE, Albers JJ, Nevin DN, Brunzell JD, Schwartz RS. Effect of weight loss with reduction of intra-abdominal fat on lipid metabolism in older men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85:977-82.

[164] Yoshida A, Kodama M, Nomura H, Kobayashi N, Sumida K, Naito M. Variability in cholesteryl ester transfer protein in healthy Japanese hyper-HDL-cholesterolemic subjects. Intern Med. 2002;41:357-9.

[165] Arai T, Yamashita S, Hirano K, Sakai N, Kotani K, Fujioka S, et al. Increased plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein in obese subjects. A possible mechanism for the reduction of serum HDL cholesterol levels in obesity. Arteriosclerosis and thrombosis : a journal of vascular biology / American Heart Association. 1994;14:1129-36.

[166] Zhang C, Zhuang Y, Qiang H, Liu X, Xu R, Wu Y. Relationship between endogenous estrogen concentrations and serum cholesteryl ester transfer protein concentrations in Chinese women. Clinica chimica acta; international journal of clinical chemistry. 2001;314:77-83.

[167] Arii K, Suehiro T, Yamamoto M, Ito H, Hashimoto K. Suppression of plasma cholesteryl ester transfer protein activity in acute hyperinsulinemia and effect of plasma nonesterified fatty acid. Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 1997;46:1166-70.

[168] McPherson R, Grundy SM, Guerra R, Cohen JC. Allelic variation in the gene encoding the cholesteryl ester transfer protein is associated with variation in the plasma concentrations of cholesteryl ester transfer protein. Journal of lipid research. 1996;37:1743-8.

[169] Radeau T, Robb M, Lau P, Borthwick J, McPherson R. Relationship of adipose tissue cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) mRNA to plasma concentrations of CETP in man. Atherosclerosis. 1998;139:369-76.

[170] Gauthier B, Robb M, Gaudet F, Ginsburg GS, McPherson R. Characterization of a cholesterol response element (CRE) in the promoter of the cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene: functional role of the transcription factors SREBP-1a, -2, and YY1. Journal of lipid research. 1999;40:1284-93.

[171] Luo Y, Tall AR. Sterol upregulation of human CETP expression in vitro and in transgenic mice by an LXR element. J Clin Invest. 2000;105:513-20.

[172] Luo Y, Liang CP, Tall AR. The orphan nuclear receptor LRH-1 potentiates the sterol-mediated induction of the human CETP gene by liver X receptor. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:24767-73.

[173] Norata GD, Ongari M, Uboldi P, Pellegatta F, Catapano AL. Liver X receptor and retinoic X receptor agonists modulate the expression of genes involved in lipid metabolism in human endothelial cells. International journal of molecular medicine. 2005;16:717-22.

[174] Jiang XC, Agellon LB, Walsh A, Breslow JL, Tall A. Dietary cholesterol increases transcription of the human cholesteryl ester transfer protein gene in transgenic mice. Dependence on natural flanking sequences. J Clin Invest. 1992;90:1290-5.

[175] Lopez D, Sanchez MD, Shea-Eaton W, McLean MP. Estrogen activates the highdensity lipoprotein receptor gene via binding to estrogen response elements and interaction with sterol regulatory element binding protein-1A. Endocrinology. 2002;143:2155-68.

[176] Marotti KR, Castle CK, Murray RW, Rehberg EF, Polites HG, Melchior GW. The role of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in primate apolipoprotein A-I metabolism. Insights from studies with transgenic mice. Arteriosclerosis and thrombosis : a journal of vascular biology / American Heart Association. 1992;12:736-44.

[177] Marotti KR, Castle CK, Boyle TP, Lin AH, Murray RW, Melchior GW. Severe atherosclerosis in transgenic mice expressing simian cholesteryl ester transfer protein. Nature. 1993;364:73-5.

[178] Inagaki T, Choi M, Moschetta A, Peng L, Cummins CL, McDonald JG, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 15 functions as an enterohepatic signal to regulate bile acid homeostasis. Cell metabolism. 2005;2:217-25.

[179] Kurosu H, Choi M, Ogawa Y, Dickson AS, Goetz R, Eliseenkova AV, et al. Tissuespecific expression of betaKlotho and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptor isoforms determines metabolic activity of FGF19 and FGF21. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:26687-95.

[180] Parks DJ, Blanchard SG, Bledsoe RK, Chandra G, Consler TG, Kliewer SA, et al. Bile acids: natural ligands for an orphan nuclear receptor. Science. 1999;284:1365-8.

[181] Sinal CJ, Tohkin M, Miyata M, Ward JM, Lambert G, Gonzalez FJ. Targeted disruption of the nuclear receptor FXR/BAR impairs bile acid and lipid homeostasis. Cell. 2000;102:731-44.

[182] Ma K, Saha PK, Chan L, Moore DD. Farnesoid X receptor is essential for normal glucose homeostasis. J Clin Invest. 2006;116:1102-9.

[183] Kars M, Yang L, Gregor MF, Mohammed BS, Pietka TA, Finck BN, et al. Tauroursodeoxycholic Acid may improve liver and muscle but not adipose tissue insulin sensitivity in obese men and women. Diabetes.59:1899-905.

[184] Myers J, Prakash M, Froelicher V, Do D, Partington S, Atwood JE. Exercise capacity and mortality among men referred for exercise testing. The New England journal of medicine. 2002;346:793-801.

[185] Church TS, Cheng YJ, Earnest CP, Barlow CE, Gibbons LW, Priest EL, et al. Exercise capacity and body composition as predictors of mortality among men with diabetes. Diabetes care. 2004;27:83-8.

[186] Powers SK, Lawler J, Dempsey JA, Dodd S, Landry G. Effects of incomplete pulmonary gas exchange on VO2 max. J Appl Physiol (1985). 1989;66:2491-5.

[187] Saltin B, Blomqvist G, Mitchell JH, Johnson RL, Jr., Wildenthal K, Chapman CB. Response to exercise after bed rest and after training. Circulation. 1968;38:VII1-78.

[188] Bassett DR, Jr., Howley ET. Limiting factors for maximum oxygen uptake and determinants of endurance performance. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 2000;32:70-84.

[189] Befroy DE, Petersen KF, Dufour S, Mason GF, Rothman DL, Shulman GI. Increased substrate oxidation and mitochondrial uncoupling in skeletal muscle of endurance-trained individuals. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:16701-6.

[190] O'Brien MJ, Viguie CA, Mazzeo RS, Brooks GA. Carbohydrate dependence during marathon running. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 1993;25:1009-17.

[191] Ayala JE, Bracy DP, Julien BM, Rottman JN, Fueger PT, Wasserman DH. Chronic treatment with sildenafil improves energy balance and insulin action in high fat-fed conscious mice. Diabetes. 2007;56:1025-33.

[192] Rader DJ, Alexander ET, Weibel GL, Billheimer J, Rothblat GH. The role of reverse cholesterol transport in animals and humans and relationship to atherosclerosis. Journal of lipid research. 2009;50:S189-S94.

[193] Khera AV, Cuchel M, de la Llera-Moya M, Rodrigues A, Burke MF, Jafri K, et al. Cholesterol efflux capacity, high-density lipoprotein function, and atherosclerosis. The New England journal of medicine. 2011;364:127-35.

[194] Bavner A, Sanyal S, Gustafsson JA, Treuter E. Transcriptional corepression by SHP: molecular mechanisms and physiological consequences. Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM. 2005;16:478-88.

[195] Schwartz CC, VandenBroek JM, Cooper PS. Lipoprotein cholesteryl ester production, transfer, and output in vivo in humans. Journal of lipid research. 2004;45:1594-607.

[196] Ji Y, Wang N, Ramakrishnan R, Sehayek E, Huszar D, Breslow JL, et al. Hepatic scavenger receptor BI promotes rapid clearance of high density lipoprotein free

cholesterol and its transport into bile. J Biol Chem. 1999;274:33398-402.

[197] Filardo EJ, Quinn JA, Bland KI, Frackelton AR, Jr. Estrogen-induced activation of Erk-1 and Erk-2 requires the G protein-coupled receptor homolog, GPR30, and occurs via trans-activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor through release of HB-EGF. Mol Endocrinol. 2000;14:1649-60.

[198] DeFronzo RA, Tripathy D. Skeletal muscle insulin resistance is the primary defect in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes care. 2009;32 Suppl 2:S157-63.

[199] Hostmark AT, Lystad E, Haug A, Eilertsen E. Plasma lipids, lipoproteins, and fecal excretion of neutral sterols and bile acids in rats fed various high fat diets or a low fat/high sucrose diet. The Journal of nutrition. 1989;119:356-63.

[200] Reddy BS. Diet and excretion of bile acids. Cancer research. 1981;41:3766-8.

[201] Barter PJ, Rye KA, Tardif JC, Waters DD, Boekholdt SM, Breazna A, et al. Effect of torcetrapib on glucose, insulin, and hemoglobin A1c in subjects in the Investigation of Lipid Level Management to Understand its Impact in Atherosclerotic Events (ILLUMINATE) trial. Circulation. 2011;124:555-62.

[202] Wang HH, Afdhal NH, Wang DQ. Overexpression of estrogen receptor alpha increases hepatic cholesterogenesis, leading to biliary hypersecretion in mice. Journal of lipid research. 2006;47:778-86.

[203] Hayek T, Azrolan N, Verdery RB, Walsh A, Chajek-Shaul T, Agellon LB, et al. Hypertriglyceridemia and cholesteryl ester transfer protein interact to dramatically alter high density lipoprotein levels, particle sizes, and metabolism. Studies in transgenic mice. J Clin Invest. 1993;92:1143-52.

[204] Gong M, Wilson M, Kelly T, Su W, Dressman J, Kincer J, et al. HDL-associated estradiol stimulates endothelial NO synthase and vasodilation in an SR-BI-dependent manner. J Clin Invest. 2003;111:1579-87.

[205] Provost PR, Lavallee B, Belanger A. Transfer of dehydroepiandrosterone- and pregnenolone-fatty acid esters between human lipoproteins. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82:182-7.

[206] Gauthier A, Lau P, Zha X, Milne R, McPherson R. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein directly mediates selective uptake of high density lipoprotein cholesteryl esters by the liver. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005;25:2177-84.

[207] Vassiliou G, McPherson R. Role of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in selective

uptake of high density lipoprotein cholesteryl esters by adipocytes. Journal of lipid research. 2004;45:1683-93.

[208] Castro-Perez J, Briand F, Gagen K, Wang SP, Chen Y, McLaren DG, et al. Anacetrapib promotes reverse cholesterol transport and bulk cholesterol excretion in Syrian golden hamsters. Journal of lipid research. 2011;52:1965-73.

[209] Okita K, Yonezawa K, Nishijima H, Hanada A, Ohtsubo M, Kohya T, et al. Skeletal muscle metabolism limits exercise capacity in patients with chronic heart failure. Circulation. 1998;98:1886-91.

[210] Simoneau JA, Colberg SR, Thaete FL, Kelley DE. Skeletal muscle glycolytic and oxidative enzyme capacities are determinants of insulin sensitivity and muscle composition in obese women. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 1995;9:273-8.

[211] Cappel DA, Palmisano BT, Emfinger CH, Martinez MN, McGuinness OP, Stafford JM. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein protects against insulin resistance in obese female mice. Molecular metabolism. 2013;2:457-67.

[212] Romijn JA, Coyle EF, Sidossis LS, Gastaldelli A, Horowitz JF, Endert E, et al. Regulation of endogenous fat and carbohydrate metabolism in relation to exercise intensity and duration. The American journal of physiology. 1993;265:E380-91.

[213] Lehti M, Donelan E, Abplanalp W, Al-Massadi O, Habegger KM, Weber J, et al. High-density lipoprotein maintains skeletal muscle function by modulating cellular respiration in mice. Circulation. 2013;128:2364-71.

[214] Short KR, Bigelow ML, Kahl J, Singh R, Coenen-Schimke J, Raghavakaimal S, et al. Decline in skeletal muscle mitochondrial function with aging in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2005;102:5618-23.

[215] Boudina S, Sena S, O'Neill BT, Tathireddy P, Young ME, Abel ED. Reduced mitochondrial oxidative capacity and increased mitochondrial uncoupling impair myocardial energetics in obesity. Circulation. 2005;112:2686-95.

[216] Wing RR, Bolin P, Brancati FL, Bray GA, Clark JM, Coday M, et al. Cardiovascular effects of intensive lifestyle intervention in type 2 diabetes. The New England journal of medicine. 2013;369:145-54.

[217] Pols TW, Nomura M, Harach T, Lo Sasso G, Oosterveer MH, Thomas C, et al. TGR5 activation inhibits atherosclerosis by reducing macrophage inflammation and lipid loading. Cell metabolism. 2011;14:747-57.

[218] Nolan JJ, Ludvik B, Beerdsen P, Joyce M, Olefsky J. Improvement in glucose tolerance and insulin resistance in obese subjects treated with troglitazone. The New England journal of medicine. 1994;331:1188-93.

[219] Giugliano D, Quatraro A, Consoli G, Minei A, Ceriello A, De Rosa N, et al. Metformin for obese, insulin-treated diabetic patients: improvement in glycaemic control and reduction of metabolic risk factors. European journal of clinical pharmacology. 1993;44:107-12.

[220] Nissen SE, Wolski K. Effect of rosiglitazone on the risk of myocardial infarction and death from cardiovascular causes. The New England journal of medicine. 2007;356:2457-71.

[221] Sato H, Macchiarulo A, Thomas C, Gioiello A, Une M, Hofmann AF, et al. Novel potent and selective bile acid derivatives as TGR5 agonists: biological screening, structure-activity relationships, and molecular modeling studies. Journal of medicinal chemistry. 2008;51:1831-41.

[222] Helisten H, Hockerstedt A, Wahala K, Tiitinen A, Adlercreutz H, Jauhiainen M, et al. Accumulation of high-density lipoprotein-derived estradiol-17beta fatty acid esters in low-density lipoprotein particles. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86:1294-300.

[223] Kovanen PT, Brown MS, Goldstein JL. Increased binding of low density lipoprotein to liver membranes from rats treated with 17 alpha-ethinyl estradiol. J Biol Chem. 1979;254:11367-73.

[224] Parini P, Angelin B, Rudling M. Importance of estrogen receptors in hepatic LDL receptor regulation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1997;17:1800-5.

[225] Angelin B, Olivecrona H, Reihner E, Rudling M, Stahlberg D, Eriksson M, et al. Hepatic cholesterol metabolism in estrogen-treated men. Gastroenterology. 1992;103:1657-63.

[226] Martinez MN, Emfinger CH, Overton MH, Hill S, Ramaswamy TS, Cappel DA, et al. Obesity and altered glucose metabolism impact HDL composition in CETP transgenic mice: A role for ovarian hormones. Journal of lipid research. 2012;53.

[227] Briand F, Thieblemont Q, Andre A, Ouguerram K, Sulpice T. CETP inhibitor torcetrapib promotes reverse cholesterol transport in obese insulin-resistant CETP-ApoB100 transgenic mice. Clinical and translational science. 2011;4:414-20.

[228] Li T, Matozel M, Boehme S, Kong B, Nilsson LM, Guo G, et al. Overexpression of cholesterol 7alpha-hydroxylase promotes hepatic bile acid synthesis and secretion and
maintains cholesterol homeostasis. Hepatology. 2011;53:996-1006.

[229] Makishima M, Okamoto AY, Repa JJ, Tu H, Learned RM, Luk A, et al. Identification of a nuclear receptor for bile acids. Science. 1999;284:1362-5.

[230] Thomas C, Auwerx J, Schoonjans K. Bile acids and the membrane bile acid receptor TGR5--connecting nutrition and metabolism. Thyroid : official journal of the American Thyroid Association. 2008;18:167-74.